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We acknowledge the deep contribution that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and 
culture make to Australian cultural knowledge and our shared story; AGWA celebrates their cultural 

vibrancy and artistic expression as the First Peoples of Australia.

Kedela wer kalyakoorl ngalak Wadjak boodjak yaak.

Today and always, we stand on the traditional land of the Whadjuk Noongar people.

Next page |  Katjarra Butler Ara Katjarraku, 2018 (detail). Synthetic polymer paint on canvas, 121.9 x 91.4 cm (each) (16 parts). 
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: TomorrowFund, 2022.





Location

Perth Cultural Centre, Western Australia

Postal Address

PO Box 8363
Perth Business Centre
PERTH WESTERN AUSTRALIA 6849

Contact

Telephone 9492 6600
Email admin@artgallery.wa.gov.au
Website artgallery.wa.gov.au

Opening Hours

Wednesday to Monday 10am to 5pm
Closed Tuesdays, Good Friday and Christmas Day.

Admission

General admission to the State Collection is free, 
although donations are encouraged. Admission fees 
apply for some exhibitions.

The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation

For information on becoming involved with the Gallery, 
including membership and bequests, please telephone 
9492 6761 or email foundation@artgallery.wa.gov.au

Gifts to the Foundation of $2 or more are tax deductible.

Donations and Cultural Gifts

Information on donations to the Gallery, including 
the Cultural Gifts Program and the Cultural Bequest 
Program, is available on request from The Art Gallery of 
Western Australia Foundation. 

Sponsorship

For information on becoming a Gallery partner please 
contact the Partnership Manager by telephoning +61 8 
9492 6683 or email foundation@artgallery.wa.gov.au

About this Annual Report

In line with the State Government requirements, this 
Annual Report is published in an electronic format. The 
Gallery encourages people to use recycled paper if they 
print a copy of this report or sections of it.

This work is copyright. With the exception of any use as 
permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be 
reproduced by any process without written permission 
from The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Requests and 
enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be 
addressed to the Registrar of Collections, The Art Gallery 
of Western Australia, PO Box 8363, Perth Business 
Centre, WA 6849or by email 
admin@artgallery.wa.gov.au

This report is available in alternative formats on request.

The Art Gallery of Western Australia acknowledges that 
this annual report and the business contained therein has 
been undertaken on unceded Whadjuk Noongar land, 
for which Traditional Owners retain custodianship.

While Noongar is identified as a single language, there 
are multiple different dialects, which reflect the diversity 
of the fourteen Noongar nations in the south-west of WA. 
Noongar can also be spelt Nyoonga, Nyungar, Nyoongar, 
Noonga, Yungar and Nyungah. Similarly Whudjuk can 
be spelt in multiple ways. Throughout this document, 
spelling may vary based on the preference of artist or 
author of a particular section.

The Art Gallery of Western Australia
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Who we are 

The Art Gallery of Western Australia (AGWA) was founded and acquired its first work 
of art in 1895. Today it is established by the Art Gallery Act 1959 and is part of the 
Culture and Arts portfolio, within the Department of Local Government, Sport and 
Cultural Industries (DLGSC).

The Gallery, the oldest visual arts organisation in the State, is housed in three heritage 
buildings located in the Perth Cultural Centre. The main building was completed in 
1979, and in 1995 the adjoining Centenary Galleries, which were originally the Perth 
Police Courts, were opened. The historic Barracks building houses the administration 
offices, the theatrette and the Voluntary Gallery Guides areas.

The Gallery collects and maintains the State Art Collection which currently comprises 
18,461 works (valued in excess of $340 million) by Western Australian, Australian 
and International artists, and includes many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
(Indigenous) works. AGWA is committed to providing access to the visual arts and 
delivering programs that connect, stimulate, involve, educate and entertain.

The State Art Collection is developed, preserved and displayed to ensure that AGWA 
maintains the finest public art collection in the State. Through the Collection displays 
and programs, the Gallery continues to support access to art, heritage and ideas 
locally, nationally and internationally now and for future generations.

Overview
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Chairman 
Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia
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Member
Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia
29 September 2022

Hon David Templeman MLA

Minister for Culture and the Arts

In accordance with section 28 of the Art Gallery Act 1959 and section 63 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of The Art Gallery of Western Australia 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the 
particulars included in the report misleading or inaccurate.

Overview
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Our Vision 

To be a place for great art

Overview

Our Goals 
• To support and drive artistic ambition through the creation of bold and adventurous

exhibitions, experiences and programs, produced in collaboration with our artists,
artistic communities and audiences.

• To build audiences through engaging, welcoming and involving the broadest
possible extent of our Western Australian community and visitors in our programs.

• To develop, exhibit, maintain and care for the State Art Collection to ensure that
it remains the pre-eminent public art collection in Western Australia. To deepen
holdings of Western Australian art and to more fully represent the community of
artists and arts of our region.

• To become a laboratory for arts learning, academic inquiry, experimentation and
creative research in partnership with the education sector, academic institutions,
Aboriginal cultural authorities and multi-generational audiences.

• Through acknowledging and working in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples as the First Peoples of Australia, enhance our exploration of
historical and contemporary Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander art and cultures.

• To engage our neighbours in Asia and across the Indian Ocean Rim in mutually
bene§cial creative projects.

• To improve our economic and environmental sustainability.

• To ensure artist-led lifelong learning, creative and social programs have maximum
impact in socio-economic areas where they will bene§t most.

• To increase our expertise and improve our working environment.

• To improve our capital infrastructure and site plan in order to become a major
attraction for visitors in the Perth Cultural Centre and the State.

Previous page |  Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Photo by Louise Coghill.
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Overview

Janet Holmes à Court AC
Chairman

This has been a transformational year for The Art Gallery of Western Australia as we 
delivered on our major commitments to Government and the community.

In November 2021, the Premier of Western Australia opened our new rooftop development 
at a spectacular opening event. This remarkable space delivered a beautiful walk amongst 
some giants of our State Art Collection. A new external lift and skywalk, complementary to 
the main Gallery’s unique architecture, led our visitors to the largest commercially available 
rooftop in the State with stunning views across the city and hills. The project also delivered 
a new bar, rooftop Gallery space, new conservation laboratories for our vital work in caring 
for the State Art Collection and our largest ever art commission, Christopher Pease’s 
stunning 34-metre rooftop mural (Targets, 2020-2021, depicted on the cover of this report).

As I foreshadowed in last year’s Annual Report, the State Government extended the 
original ELEVATE project by an additional $1.8 million, allowing the redevelopment of 
the Gallery entrance and foyer, a new design store and café, as well as new lighting and 
external signage. These new entry statements returned the building to its originally intended 
architectural layout and was marked by a new commission Overgrown by Tyrown Waigana, 
a Wardandi and Saibai Islander multidisciplinary artist and graphic designer. To achieve this 
during COVID-19 was a phenomenal achievement by the whole AGWA team and
our partners.

To accompany the launch of the rooftop, I was delighted that we provided to the 
community a celebration of Western Australian art through the gallery wide event The View 
From Here. This was the Gallery’s largest-ever exhibition of West Australian art featuring 
over 230 artists, 361 artworks, with 111 new works commissioned. A centrepiece was 
Collective Ground, created from the AGWA Foundation’s $1.5 million artist stimulus package 
provided in response to COVID-19. The exhibition presented some 60 works from over 120 
acquired from Aboriginal Art Centres and Aboriginal artists across Western Australia. 

I was also delighted that this year saw the State Government’s investment in regional access 
to our work through its Regional Exhibition Touring Boost. This included the conclusion 
of the regional tour of State Collection artworks in the exhibition There Were Moments 
of Transformation and showcased in Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara, 
developed and curated by FORM. This was a landmark exhibition for us to present the art 
of that region and demonstrated further the extent of artistic brilliance we have right across 
this State and that we will continue to champion.

Chairman’s Foreword
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Tracks We Share coincided with a significant statement and moment for AGWA when 
we delivered BlakLight, another whole of Gallery experience when all artworks in the 
Gallery were by an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander artist, the first such initiative by a 
State or National Gallery in Australia. With works from right across Australia thanks to 
the National Gallery of Australia and Wesfarmers exhibition Ever Present: First Peoples
Art of Australia and from our own collection in a new ground floor Gallery dedicated to 
our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collection, it was a memorable event.

Work to secure the sustainability of the Gallery and the State Art Collection continued 
with major announcements from the State Government. The 2022–23 State Budget 
announced $500,000 for the development of a Project Definition Plan (PDP) for a 
long-term storage solution for the State Art Collection. This was followed by the 
announcement of funding by the State and Australian Government through the Perth 
City Deal for the rejuvenation of the Perth Cultural Centre (PCC). 

This investment will deliver a redevelopment of the AGWA car park into a multi-arts 
space that will connect Beaufort Street to the PCC, ensuring that the quality that is 
presented inside AGWA is reflected throughout the public realm creating a whole new 
artist-led experience of AGWA and the PCC. 

It also delivered $2 million to AGWA to commission a contemporary work of art that 
responds to, engages with, and complements the main Gallery building. The work 
is intended to become a key part of AGWA’s continuing revitalisation and will be 
an instant landmark attracting visitors to the Gallery and the Perth Cultural Centre. 
Responses to an international Expression of Interest closed in March, and shortlisted 
artists were briefed in May, and we look forward to reviewing their submissions in 
2022/23. Combined, these initiatives will attract new commercial opportunities and 
audiences to AGWA all through the creativity of our artists.

AGWA also completed a high-level business case with DLGSC and PwC aimed at 
giving West Australians and tourists access to world-class art experiences across 
a redeveloped AGWA precinct. The business case was developed as a staged 
approach, and if supported, AGWA and the PCC will become one of the country’s most 
significant art and culture employment centres and tourist destinations. The business 
case complements the Perth Cultural Centre masterplan and incorporates revitalised 
heritage buildings and a major new Contemporary Art Gallery on the Urban Orchard site.

A key goal of AGWA’s strategic plan is to improve financial sustainability and this year 
we established important mechanisms to achieve this. We completed the tender 
process to enable the investment of the capital held by the AGWA Foundation to 
be invested into the markets, with the first tranche of funds to enter the markets in 
August 2022. A new Foundation investment sub-committee was formed to oversee 
the performance of the agreement, and the Board approved the Foundation to take 
on the active investing role.

We further looked to secure our short- and long-term finances, and introduced new 
annual giving and bequest programs which provided instant results.

I am thrilled that this year, through the AGWA Foundation, AGWA has again received 
some outstanding gifts of works of art, and through the generosity of members of the 
Western Australian community recorded a significant increase in cash gifts received. 
I sincerely thank all these donors for their support of the Gallery.

This year has seen the appointment to the Board of Michael Bohn, and the departure 
of Jason Ricketts and Geoffrey London in September 2021 and June 2022, respectively. 
I take this opportunity to thank Jason and Geoffrey for their contribution to AGWA and 
the Board, and to thank all my Board colleagues for their commitment and wise counsel.

As always, I acknowledge AGWA’s volunteers and Voluntary Gallery Guides. Without 
these people giving so generously of their time it would be impossible for the Gallery 
to function the way it does. I thank them all sincerely.

Finally, I would like to thank Gallery Director Colin Walker and his staff for all their hard 
work and another remarkable year in the history of AGWA.

Janet Holmes à Court AC
Chairman

Chairman’s Foreword
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This year we embarked on the delivery of what I described last year as “a transformational next five years for the Gallery”
and worked on putting important reforms in place to secure the financial and cultural sustainability of the Gallery. 

In terms of delivery, the successful reopening of the Gallery alongside the completion and launch of ELEVATE, the new 
foyer, design store and café/bar were key to delivering on our promises to Government and the community to offer
a revitalised Gallery.

The opening whole of gallery program The View From Here was a celebration of the creativity within this State. 
This wasn’t just demonstrated by the showcasing of our largest-ever exhibition of West Australian art, featuring 
over 230 artists, but through all the talent that produced our new brand, new website, new digital channels, the 
AGWA Paper, our new mini-documentary films, our campaigns, merchandise, performances, animations, and 
store collaborations, as we turned the Gallery into one giant artistic hub with WA creatives at its heart.

We undertook significant change because we’re determined to deliver change to make the Gallery relevant 
and exciting for everyone.

On reflection of a momentous year, it is quite hard to pick the high point. Was it the utterly awesome, 
solemn, beautiful and subversive Targets, 2020-21, one of the most important pieces of public art in the 
country on our new rooftop and the largest single commission the Gallery has undertaken?

Was it walking amongst the giants of our State Art Collection on the rooftop – the largest commercially 
available rooftop venue in the State and home to the bar with the best views of Perth? 

Was it our new own brand AGWA beer brought to you by officially the best beermakers in WA, 
Otherside Brewing Co.?

Or was it the lift and skybridge? The architectural details in the rooftop from the reflection of the 
former roof pavers in the decking to the angles of the bar that honeycomb throughout the Gallery. 

Maybe it was the new roof level internal gallery that we built into the project that opens the 
Gallery to the city; or the new conservation labs built to better protect the State’s Collection.

Director’s Report  |  The Year in Review

AGWA Director, Colin Walker at a Simon Lee 
Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art
event, 2021. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Maybe it was any one of the new commissions we delivered, from Telstra Award 
-winning Mr (Ngarralja Tommy) May's first sculptural work to Sarah Bahbah’s work
attracting over 1.4 million Instagram followers, to Bruno Booth’s cheeky Adidas-clad
cats that held a mirror to how our architecture – physical and philosophical – is not as
inclusive as it should be. For many it was the evocative Collective Ground or the way
we’ve brought back into play the internal architecture of the main Gallery building, to
realise the architect’s original vision with a vast new, welcoming foyer with its beautiful,
apportioned steel desk.

I could list the new Design Store showcasing exclusive collaborations with our WA 
artists and mixing these with the best products from across the world; the largest 
exhibition ever of the art of the Pilbara thanks to FORM and the State Government’s 
Regional Exhibition Touring Boost or our collaboration with the National Gallery of 
Australia and Wesfarmers in the wonderful Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia 
now touring the world.

For many it was BlakLight – the first time a State or National Gallery had given every 
wall over to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander art, and for others it was the launch of 
the Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art, which will ensure that 
we find new talent in Asia and survey notable artists that have yet to have really been 
examined in Australia.

Our new programs for people living with dementia and those suffering from PTSD, 
and opening the main Gallery for live multi-generational education work in a revamped 
Gallery 09 were a highlight for many, as were our new research projects developed as 
part of a global network concerned with addressing climate change. 

What I find most heartening is that I don’t think our highlight has yet arrived. As much as 
this was a year for delivery it was also a year for preparation.

The major reform we achieved this year, to enable AGWA to invest its capital into 
the markets, will benefit the Gallery for decades to come. The new commercial 
opportunities we have created, with the redevelopment of the car park to come, thanks 
to the State and Australian Governments through the Perth City Deal, will mean that 
we will be able to curate multi-arts experiences right across our precinct and introduce 
more and more people to art. Coupled with a major new commission for the Gallery’s 
façade that we sought artist teams for this year, we will preface entrance to the Gallery 

with a taste of the ambitious excellence inside and around.

Ambition is something that my team and I are not afraid to promote. The completion 
of a high-level business case showing the potential of what a newly redeveloped 
Gallery precinct and new contemporary Gallery could deliver shows that we don’t 
just have ambition, but the skills and foresight to deliver something truly remarkable 
for the State. 

Collection

During the year, 43 new works have been added to the Collection, including those by 
established and emerging Western Australian artists Abdul-Rahman Abdullah, Sarah 
Bahbah, Merrick Belyea, Olga Cironis and John Teschendorff. The work of three artists, 
Farah Al Qasimi (photography), Wong Ping (video) and Yu Ji (sculpture), entered the 
collection under the auspices of the Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary 
Asian Art.

The Gallery received gifts of five works in total, including the gift of a rare and 
outstanding 1940s watercolour by Australian artist Arthur Boyd. I thank these donors 
sincerely for their generosity in making their works accessible to a wider public.

We were able to finalise the exhibition program for There Were Moments of 
Transformation (the second of the exhibitions funded under the Regional Exhibition 
Touring Boost – with the last three exhibitions being shown at the Albany Town Hall 
and the Geraldton and Bunbury Regional Art Galleries. 

The Conservation team have this year focussed on maintaining and developing 
the Gallery’s preventative conservation protocols and measures, which ensure the 
continued preservation of the State Art Collection and artworks held in trust on loan. 
Highlights of the Conservation program can be found on page 26.

Director’s Report  |  The Year in Review

I live in Paris and this is the first time I have been able to get 
back to Perth in a while. The last time I was here the entrance 
was closed up and now you have an absolutely wonderful 
entrance. The shop is much better than the old one with the 
natural sunlight making it bright. Congratulations.
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Director’s Report  |  The Year in Review 

Exhibitions

This was a year of significant highlights in our exhibition program. The ambitious The
View From Here was followed by the opening of Ever Present: First Peoples Art of 
Australia, an exhibition developed in partnership with the National Gallery of Australia 
in Canberra and Wesfarmers Arts. Its showing at AGWA was the only one in Australia, 
before touring internationally. 

In an Australian major Gallery first, the BlakLight program, where every exhibition 
space in the main Gallery building, for a four-week period from March, saw the Gallery 
completely immersed in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander objects, artworks and 
cultural materials. 

During BlakLight, we displayed the largest ever survey of contemporary art from 
the Pilbara thanks to the State Government’s Regional Exhibition Touring Boost. The 
collaboration between AGWA, FORM, and Aboriginal art centres Cheeditha Art 
Group, Juluwarlu Art Group, Martumili Artists, Spinifex Hill Studio, Yinjaa-Barni Art 
and independent artists Katie West, Curtis Taylor and Jill Churnside, resulted in the 
exhibition Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara which was launched at 
AGWA in March, bringing together 57 artists and over 200 works of art.

AGWA’s annual exhibition of art by the previous year’s Year 12 art and art and design 
students celebrated its 30th anniversary in 2022 and saw The West Australian 
newspaper coming on board as the major sponsor with the exhibition renamed The 
West Australian Pulse, and we showcased all previous winners of the Tom Malone Prize 
in a 20th year celebration of this great prize.

A full list of our 2021–22 exhibition program can be found on page 58 of this report, and 
a full summary is available on the Gallery’s website. 

Programs

The AGWA Learning and Visitor Experience team has again provided a variety of public 
programs to support visitation to our exhibitions. A major initiative this year, which 
coincided with the reopening in November, has been designating Gallery 09 on the first 
floor as a dedicated space for interactive artist-led exhibitions, establishing a visible, 
accessible, artist-designed creative learning environment for children and families, and 
audiences of all ages, in alignment with our Strategic Vision. 

The partnership with Mind the Change to develop and deliver workshops and guided 
tours to people living with dementia, is a longstanding program. AGWA has continued 
the Quiet Tuesdays program begun last year in partnership with the Autism Association 
of Western Australia, and has expanded the concept by working with PTSD WA. These 
partnerships have allowed AGWA to provide appropriate programs and workshops (at a 
time when the Gallery is generally closed to the public), tailored for children with autism 
and their families, and for people suffering from trauma.

The new rooftop and foyer redevelopment offered new spaces for programming with 
events such as Rooftop Yoga, ‘Cultural Renegades’ street dancing competitors, live 
drawing workshops with Andy Quilty and regular scheduled DJs bringing in varied 
audiences and reinforced the venue’s status as a community centred space.

The Voluntary Gallery Guides, on whom we rely so heavily for their support in providing 
guided tours of the Collection and special exhibitions, continued the work begun 
last year with the Affiliate Guide category, which links with other guiding groups to 
share knowledge and training as part of AGWA's commitment to continued service of 
regional areas. Also now in its second year, the Adjunct Guide program provides an 
opportunity for younger volunteers to undertake a concentrated training course and 
work with a Guide Mentor.
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Operations and Management

During the year we have taken the opportunity to update our policies and procedures, 
including our procurement processes. As part of the implementation of the new 
procedures, staff have received additional training in this area.

With the building being closed for long periods due to the renovation works, and 
the general impact of COVID-19, this year has seen our staff working under some 
very trying conditions, and I have appreciated their enormous commitment and 
professionalism. Many thanks to you all.

Acknowledgements

I must also make mention of some exceptional philanthropic gifts this year – Michela 
and Adrian Fini, John and Linda Bond, Graeme and Lorraine Rowley, The Spinifex Trust, 
the Simon Lee Foundation, Janet Holmes à Court AC, Sheryl Grimwood, Dr Michael 
Martin and Elizabeth Popovski and the major anonymous donors. My heartfelt thanks to 
you all.

The Gallery relies heavily on the generosity of an enthusiastic group of volunteers, who 
make an inestimable contribution to our operations. To them, the Foundation, and our 
sponsors, I acknowledge and thank you sincerely for your invaluable contribution. 

I am also thankful to the Board, Foundation Council, the Premier, the Minister for 
Culture and the Arts, and the Director General of the Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries who have provided exceptional support. With my 
involvement with the ongoing work of the Perth Cultural Centre Taskforce, my team 
and I will do all we can to continue to contribute to the cultural life of this State, and 
provide access for all to truly great art.

Colin Walker
Director

Overview

Director’s Report  |  The Year in Review 

Arthur Boyd Head in a cup, 1944. Watercolour on paper, 36.2 x 46.1 cm. The State Art Collection, 
The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Gift of John Cruthers through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program, 2022, in memory of Sir James and Lady Sheila Cruthers.
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Performance Highlights

AGWA Rooftop Opening and Relaunch 
A key component of AGWA’s renewal was the completion of the McGowan 
Government's $10 million ELEVATE project to transform AGWA’s rooftop. 
The Rooftop was opened by the Premier on 4 November 2022 at a glittering event
held on the rooftop.

This redevelopment delivered a 500-capacity multipurpose arts space – the State’s 
largest commercially available rooftop venue, open-air sculpture walk, and stunning 
360-degree views from the heart of the Perth Cultural Centre to the Perth skyline,
Northbridge, Matagarup Bridge and the Perth Hills.

Christopher Pease’s Targets, 2020-2021

The Gallery presented its largest ever commission with the unveiling of Targets, 2020-
2021 by Minang/Wardandi/Bibbulmun artist Christopher Pease. The 34 metre by five 
metre piece reworks Frederick Garling’s 1827 colonial work Swan River – View from 
Fraser’s Point and celebrates the ongoing importance of the Derbarl Yerrigan (the 
Noongar name for the Swan River) to Perth’s identity and its ecosystem. 

AGWA Relaunch

After a period of closure during completion of the AGWA Rooftop, the Gallery was 
officially reopened on 6 November with the largest ever exhibition of West Australian 
Art, The View From Here, showcasing over 230 artists, 361 artworks, with 111 new works 
commissioned. Accompanying the relaunch was a new brand, new website, new digital 
channels, and a series of mini documentaries.

L to R: Minister for Culture and the Arts, Hon. David Templeman, AGWA Board Chairman Janet Holmes à 
Court AC, Premier of Western Australia, Hon. Mark McGowan, AGWA Director, Colin Walker, officially 
open the AGWA Rooftop, The View From Here Launch, 2021. Photo by Jessica Wyld.
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Performance Highlights

Gallery 09 
To coincide with the relaunch, AGWA dedicated Gallery 09 on the first floor to 
interactive artist-led exhibitions, establishing a visible, accessible, artist-designed 
creative learning space for children and families, and audiences of all ages. 
The reaction from visitors to the space has been overwhelmingly positive.

Collective Ground 
This exhibition was the culmination of the AGWA Foundation’s COVID-19 stimulus 
package of $1.5 million, which had been launched by the Minister for Culture and Arts 
in May 2020. The package offered support, at the start of the pandemic, for every living 
Western Australian artist represented in the State Art Collection, and every Aboriginal 
art centre across the State, to assist their practice.

The West Australian Pulse
Celebrating 30 years in 2022, on 25 February AGWA announced a new 
partnership between The West Australian newspaper and Pulse Perspectives,  
at a joint event on AGWA’s rooftop. A new brand and look were developed for 
the exhibition’s new name The West Australian Pulse, which was rolled out for 
the 2022 exhibition campaign.

The West Australian Pulse, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Minister for Culture and the Arts, Hon. 
David Templeman and artist Juliet Caliva with her artwork Capgras Delusion 2021. Synthetic polymer 
paint on canvas, 76 x 61 cm. Lesmurdie Senior High School. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia, AGWA Installation View, 2021. Photo by Rift Photography.

Performance Highlights

Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara 
This collaboration between AGWA, FORM, and Aboriginal art centres Cheeditha Art 
Group, Juluwarlu Art Group, Martumili Artists, Spinifex Hill Studio, Yinjaa-Barni Art 
and independent artists Katie West, Curtis Taylor and Jill Churnside, resulted in the 
exhibition Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara. This exhibition is the 
largest contemporary survey of the Pilbara; bringing together 57 artists and over 200 
works of art.

Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia
In December, the Gallery exhibited the only Australian showing of Ever Present: First 
Peoples Art of Australia, an exhibition developed in partnership with the National 
Gallery of Australia in Canberra and Wesfarmers Arts. From AGWA it went on 
tour internationally.

Major Capital Works Announcements 
The State Budget confirmed funding for the redevelopment of the AGWA car park as 
part of the Perth Cultural Centre rejuvenation, to create a multi-arts experience right 
across the AGWA precinct. This was coupled with a major new art commission for the 
Gallery’s façade, for which an international call out for artist teams was issued. AGWA 
also completed a high-level business case showing the potential of what a newly 
redeveloped Gallery precinct and new contemporary Gallery could deliver for the State.

AGWA Foundation 
AGWA completed the tender process for a fund manager to manage the investment of 
capital held by the AGWA Foundation into the markets. This initiative will help build the 
sustainability of the Gallery for decades to come. 

Next page |  BlakLight, Concourse View, The Art Gallery of Western Australia, 2022. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Overview of Financial Results against Budget Paper Targets

AGWA receives revenue from a variety of sources. The State Government provides the 
majority of revenue as an appropriation to fund core services. The Gallery generates 
a proportion of its own revenue through commercial activities, including food and 
beverage sales, venue hire, and retail sales. 

An important additional source of revenue comes from grants, sponsorships, donations 
and bequests raised by the Foundation. This revenue funds a diverse range of activities, 
including the majority of the acquisitions as well as engagement and education 
activities, and without which AGWA could not continue to deliver its current level
of services.

Total revenue of more than $14,964 million was received in 2021–22 of which $2,293 
million was generated from commercial activity, and from public, private and charitable 
sources. The Gallery continues to manage savings in expenditure.

Full details of AGWA’s financial performance are presented in the financial statements 
section of this report. The following table summarises actual financial performance 
against targets for 2021–2022.

Financial Targets
2021–22 
Target(a)

2021–22 
Actual

Variation

$’000 $’000 $’000

Total Cost of Services 
(as per Income Statement) 11,228 13,567 2,339

Net Cost of Services 
(as per Income Statement) 2,656 11,274 8,618

Total Equity 
(as per Statement of Financial Position) 386,335 391,801 5,466

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 
(from Statement of Cash Flows) -906 -322 584

Approved salary expense level 5,357 5,389 -32

Working Cash Targets
2021–22 
Agreed 
Limit(a)

2021–22 
Target/
Actual

Variation

$’000 $’000 $’000

Agreed working cash limit (at Budget) 557 557

Agreed working cash limit (at Actuals) 628 -306 -934(b)

The following table summarises actual working cash results against targets 
for 2021–2022.

(a) As specified in the 2021-22 agency resource agreement.

(b)  Due to invoicing in late June 2022 by a number of suppliers and the active
reduction of leave liability balances during the year, cash balances on hand were
significantly reduced during the year.

Performance Management
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Summary of Performance Indicators against Budget Paper Targets

Outcome 1: Western Australia’s State 
Art Collection asset is developed, 
appropriately managed and preserved 

2021–22 
Target(1)

2021–22 
Actual 

Variation(2)

Key Effectiveness Indicator:

Percentage of time the collection stored 
to the required standard

99% 98% 1%

Key Efficiency Indicator:

The average cost of managing the 
Collection per Art Gallery object

$55.88 $60.90 $5.02 

Outcome 2: Western Australia’s State 
Art Collection and works of art on loan 
are accessible

2021–22 
Target(1)

2021–22 
Actual 

Variation(2)

Key Effectiveness Indicators:

Total number of visitors 211,000 172,769 38,231

Total number of online visitors
to website

160,000 200,803 40,803

Percentage of visitors satisfied with visit 
overall

93% 87% 6%

Key Efficiency Indicator:

The average cost of Gallery services per 
Gallery access

$27.44 $28.43 $0.99 

Full details of the Gallery’s Key Performance Indicators are presented in the Key 
Performance Indicators section of this report. The following table summarises 
actual indicator performance against targets for 2021–2022.

1 As specified in the Budget Statements.
2 Explanation for the variations between targets and actual results 
   are presented in ‘Key Performance Indicator’ section.

Performance Management
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Agency Performance

The Gallery’s performance for 2021–22 is in line with the annual priorities and objectives 
set out in The Art Gallery of Western Australia Operating Plan and Budget for 2021–22.

COLLECTING AND SHARING

Strategic Objectives:
• To develop, exhibit, maintain and care for the State Art Collection to ensure that 

it remains the pre-eminent public art collection in Western Australia. To deepen 
holdings of Western Australian art and to more fully represent the community 
of artists and arts of our region.

• To support and drive artistic ambition through the creation of bold and 
adventurous exhibitions, experiences and programs, produced in collaboration 
with artists, artistic communities and audiences.

• To become a laboratory for arts learning, academic inquiry, experimentation 
and creative research in partnership with the education sector, academic 
institutions, Aboriginal cultural authorities and multi-generational audiences.

• Through acknowledging and working in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples as the First Peoples of Australia, enhance our exploration 
of historical and contemporary Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander art 
and cultures.

• To engage our neighbours in Asia and across the Indian Ocean Rim in mutually 
bene§cial creative projects

Collecting and Sharing 

Farah Al Qasimi Signature Hookah Lounge, 2019 (detail). Archival inkjet print, 76.2 x 53.3 cm. The State 
Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia Foundation: TomorrowFund, 2022. © Farah Al Qasimi, 2019. Courtesy of the artist; Helena 
Anrather, New York; and The Third Line, Dubai.
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Agency Performance

OUTCOMES

OVERVIEW 
AGWA has the finest public collection of art in the State. At 30 June 2022, the State Art Collection comprised 18,461 works.

In 2021–2022, AGWA acquired 38 works of art through regular acquisition activity, at 
a cost of $611,874. The acquisition of the major ELEVATE commission was completed 
at a total spend of $397,265, and the Gallery was gifted an additional five works for an 
estimated value of ca. $329,200. The total value of this activity was $1,338,339.

A feature of the acquisitions this year was the introduction of the work of 11 artists (out 
of a total of 22) who were not previously represented in the Collection, ranging from the 
senior Australian artist Helen Maudsley through to emerging Western Australian painter 
Wade Taylor, alongside four international artists. The acquisition of an important early 
work on paper by Maudsley was supported through the Foundation’s annual giving 
appeal to increase the representation of works by women in the Collection.

Generally this year, works by established and emerging Western Australian artists 
continued to be acquired, including Abdul-Rahman Abdullah, Sarah Bahbah, 
Merrick Belyea, Olga Cironis and John Teschendorff. A study for the major ELEVATE 
commission by Christopher Pease was acquired, as were major works by senior 
Western Australian Aboriginal artists Katjarra Butler and Mr (Ngarralja Tommy) May. 
Groups of works by Australian artists Jon Campbell and Nadia Hernández were 
purchased, an early work by Anne Wallace was added, as was the Tom Malone Prize-
winning work by Tim Edwards.

Works by five international artists were also added, including 10 wearable items by New 
Zealand maker Lisa Walker. The work of three artists, Farah Al Qasimi (photography), 
Wong Ping (video) and Yu Ji (sculpture), entered the collection under the auspices of 
the Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art.

The Gallery received gifts of five works in total, including the gift of a rare and 
outstanding 1940s watercolour by Australian artist Arthur Boyd.

During the year 43 works of art were introduced into the Collection:

• 35% (15 works) were by ten Western Australian artists, at a value of $721,610; 

• 25% (11 works) were by seven Australian artists, at a value of $466,591;

• 40% (17 works) were by five International artists, at a value of $150,138

See full list of acquisitions at Appendix C

Registration

The ongoing administration and population of data by the Registration team in the 
AGWA Collection Management System [Vernon], including acquisition documentation 
for the State Art Collection (SAC), along with the physical artist records and the 
continuous uploading of photographic documentation of works to AGWA’s Digital 
Asset Management System [Canto], is vital for the online access to the most important 
public collection of visual arts in the State. Importantly, in response to the pandemic, 
Registration facilitated remote access capability permitting staff to use AGWA core 
collection management systems offsite.

Collecting and Sharing
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Agency Performance

The increased need by the Gallery to produce digital content and the management of 
copyright in relation to the reproduction of works in the State Art Collection (SAC) and 
on inward loans, has driven a major project for the Registration department working 
with an arts legal advisor reviewing AGWA’s loan agreements and copyright licenses. 

AGWA’s onsite storage facilities continue to be at capacity with the necessity to utilise 
offsite climate-controlled storage with a commercial provider. The Registration team 
is involved with a project control group who have been tasked with working towards 
the intended relocation of a significant proportion of the SAC into an offsite purpose-
built Government owned storage facility. Ultimately this would enable the Collection 
to be stored in appropriate storage systems that would allow the works of art in the 
Collection to be fully accessible through supervised visits to students and researchers. 
A major focus for this project has been working towards improving the public value of 
the Collection by re-introducing over 700m2 of closed AGWA exhibition spaces for 
display which will enable better access to the SAC by the public, while enabling artists 
to better engage with the Collection.

Highlights of SAC agreed loans to Australian institutions include, William Robinson’s 
majestic painting, The Creation series (series of 5 paintings), 1985 for inclusion in the 
Lyrical Landscapes: the Art of William Robinson exhibition at the new HOTA (Home 
of the Arts) in Surfers Paradise, Gold Coast. The exhibition received excellent press 
coverage and public attention, along with the extensive musical program inspired by 
the exhibition which resulted in the exhibition period being extended.

Following display at the National Gallery of Victoria, the iconic Frederick McCubbin’s 
Down on his luck travelled to Geelong Gallery for inclusion in the exhibition Frederick 
McCubbin: Whispering in wattle boughs. Continuing pandemic lockdowns meant the 
loan period had to be extended.

AGWA’s beautiful Circularity necklace, 2017 was loaned to the Geelong Gallery for the 
exhibition tour Blanche Tilden – ripple effect: a 25 Year Survey, which has been heavily 
impacted by the pandemic. After the launch in May 2021 in Geelong, the exhibition has 
only been displayed in Wagga Wagga and Adelaide, and is still to travel to Brisbane, 
Canberra and Sydney.

Elizabeth Pulie’s textile work #42, 2014 was an important inclusion in a comprehensive 
survey of the artist’s work at UNSW Galleries, Sydney, which highlighted a new 
commission as part of the University’s Commissioner’s Circle program. 

Two Jeffrey Smart paintings, namely The Directors, 1977 and Portrait of David Malouf, 
1980, arrived at the National Gallery of Australia in Canberra in August 2021 but due to 
pandemic lockdowns the exhibition was delayed, finally opening in December 2021. 

AGWA’s paintings by Vivienne Binns, Mrs Cook’s waistcoat, 1977 and In memory of the 
unknown artist: woven plastic cloth, gift from Ruth Waller, 1996 are included in a major 
survey exhibition at Monash University Museum of Art and Museum of Contemporary 
Art in Sydney and feature in an excellent educational film and monograph, Vivienne 
Binns: On and through the Surface.

Nalda Searle’s Earthbound boots, 1999 was an important feature in the Mundaring Arts 
Centre’s exhibition Nalda Searles: Finders Keepers, where the artist held several sold-
out public talks.

Howard Taylor has been a major influence on the art of Western Australian artist, 
Monique Tippett. Her My Darling-Forest Souls survey exhibition, featuring her most 
recent works, included three Howard Taylor paintings lent by AGWA.

Sonia Kurarra’s two-part painting, Martuwarra, 2020 was an important inclusion in the 
first solo exhibition for this Western Australian artist, Sonia Kurarra – Portals of Love 
and Loss at the Lawrence Wilson Art Gallery, The University of Western Australia, as 
part of the Perth Festival 2022.

Fifteen historical collection objects continue to be on long term loan to WA Museum 
Boola Bardip in the Origins and Stan Perron Treasures of WA galleries. 

Ten photographs that were included in the tour of the first Regional Exhibitions Touring 
Boost exhibition, How Did I Get Here? had a final display at Parliament House. Wingu 
Tingima’s painting Kapi Winki, 2006 continues to be on display in the Speaker’s 
Corridor at Parliament House.

Collecting and Sharing
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Fifteen works (all by Western Australian artists) have been installed in the Premier’s new 
offices in Dumas House. Fourteen replacement SAC works have also been recently 
installed at Hale House, which is also used by the Department of Premier and Cabinet. 
This is in line with the State Art Collection loans policy, which states that works may 
occasionally be made available for display in designated State Government offices 
or official residences, within normal security and conservation constraints, in order to 
display State Government commitment to the visual arts and to promote the SAC to 
visiting VIPs and dignitaries.

Thirty-three long term loans to AGWA were made from 11 private and public collections.

Collecting and Sharing

Anne Wallace In retrospect, 1994 (detail). Oil on canvas, 198 x 122 cm.
The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased 
through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: TomorrowFund, 
2022. © Anne Wallace, 1994.
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Conservation 
With a loan-heavy exhibition program since reopening in late 2021 and extensive 
development of the Gallery’s corporate enterprises (Rooftop Bar, café, design store, 
venue hire), much of the Conservation team’s outcomes for the year have been drawn 
towards maintaining and developing the Gallery’s preventative conservation protocols 
and measures, which ensure the continued preservation of the State Art Collection and 
artworks held in trust on loan.

Some highlight artwork specific outcomes from the conservation team for the year 
include:

• The preparation for display and development of installation protocols for Yolngu 
Retjangura (People in the Jungle), 2014 – a monumental artwork and recent 
acquisition by N. Yunupingu, which comprises 80 individual sheets of paper.

• The structural stabilisation, cleaning and re-establishment of aesthetic integrity of 
The Rainbow, 1914 by Hans Heysen, which has not been on display for over 50 years.

• The creation of a complete period-correct carved and gilded frame for Frederick 
McCubbin’s The Old Garden. 

• The construction of custom stillages and development of logistical methodologies 
for the safe transport and storage of Shadow Quartet, 2003-4 by William Kentridge, 
which are taking a well-deserved respite after over a decade on display in the 
Gallery’s main concourse.

• Conservation as part of the broader Collections team has worked and trained over 
the last twelve months to adapt to COVID-19 challenges, particularly in relation to 
the transport of artworks and restrictions on couriering. 

The travelling exhibition Ever Present, developed by the National Gallery of Australia 
and Wesfarmers Arts, provided an opportunity to implement new methodologies for 
the receipting and installing of loan artworks/exhibitions. 

In the midst of the pandemic in early December 2021, the team conducted the 
receipting, unpacking, condition assessment and installation of all artworks in the 
exhibition while liaising with their counterparts in Canberra entirely through virtual 
platforms. The viability of these methodologies provides, when appropriate, a more 
economical alternative for the delivery and receipt of loan artworks/exhibitions into 
the future. 

The growth of virtual platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic has also meant that 
training and professional development programs are now accessible remotely and are 
often recorded. Despite travel restrictions, Conservation team members have been able 
to more readily access industry conferences and seminars across the globe, maintaining 
and developing skills and knowledge.

An integration of an upgrade to the conservation laboratory environmental control 
system, will allow for greater diversity to the artwork specific treatment outcomes that 
can be delivered throughout the next twelve months.

Agency Performance

Collecting and Sharing

Frederick McCubbin The old garden, c1910. Oil on canvas, 56.2 x 92 cm. The State Art Collection, 
The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased with funds from the Great Australian Paintings Appeal, 1978.
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Strategic Objectives:

• To support and drive artistic ambition through the creation of bold 
and adventurous exhibitions, experiences and programs, produced in 
collaboration with artists, artistic communities and audiences.

• To build audiences through engaging, welcoming and involving the 
broadest possible extent of our Western Australian community and 
visitors in our programs.

• To become a laboratory for arts learning, academic inquiry, 
experimentation, and creative research in partnership with the education 
sector, academic institutions, Aboriginal cultural authorities and multi-
generational audiences.

• To ensure artist-led lifelong learning, creative and social programs have 
maximum impact in socio-economic areas where they will bene§t most.

OVERVIEW 
In 2021–22, The Art Gallery of Western Australia worked within the uncertain COVID-19 
landscape and emerged as a refreshed destination on 6 November 2022, reopening 
with the expansive The View From Here all of gallery experience and completion of the 
rooftop redevelopment project.

The View From Here was the Gallery’s largest-ever exhibition of West Australian art 
and featured over 230 artists, 361 artworks, with 111 new works commissioned for this 
reopening moment. Some of the artists included in this all of Gallery experience were 
Sarah Bahbah, the WA-raised, LA-based artist with over 1.4 million Instagram followers; 
Tim Meakins, whose giant 3D-printed sculptures of weightlifters, posers and grinning 
weights, offered a playful interpretation of modern fitness culture; Bruno Booth’s 
Adidas-wearing cats appearing in unexpected places, and recent works by Abdul 
Abdullah, Mr (Ngarralja Tommy) May, Yok & Sheryo, Danielle Freakley, Tyrown Waigana 
and Tarryn Gill. Every gallery space was transformed into a celebration of Western 
Australian art, culture, and creativity.

A key component of AGWA’s renewal was the completion of the McGowan 
Government's $10 million project to transform AGWA’s rooftop. This redevelopment 
delivered a 500-capacity multipurpose arts space – Perth’s biggest commercially 
available rooftop venue, open-air sculpture walk, new rooftop level internal gallery and 
stunning 360-degree views from the heart of the Perth Cultural Centre to the Perth 
skyline, Northbridge, Matagarup Bridge and the Perth Hills.

The rooftop’s centrepiece is the 34-metre long, five-metre-high, light-based artwork 
Targets, 2020-2021, by Minang/Wardandi/Bibbulmun artist Christopher Pease, which 
wraps the rooftop exterior. The largest artwork the Gallery has ever commissioned; at 
night it illuminates the rooftop space. 

The AGWA Rooftop became home to one of Perth’s most popular new spaces, with a 
bar operating Friday to Sunday – the perfect place for a sunset drink after a Gallery or 
Northbridge visit.

As part of the redevelopment, Gallery conservation labs were moved and upgraded, 
which made way for the new roof-level internal gallery. The ground floor was revitalised 
with a new foyer and entry space and the AGWA Design Store, which officially opened 
on 30 June 2022.

Agency Performance

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences
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Agency Performance

OVERVIEW 

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences

Accompanying the reopening was the introduction of a new visual identity for the 
institution designed to position the Gallery firmly amongst its peers. The View From 
Here exhibition introduced this new brand and further development work continues
to fully embed the brand into the Gallery experience. 

Following on from The View From Here, AGWA opened Ever Present: First Peoples Art 
of Australia – an expansive exhibition of First Nations work from the collections of the 
National Gallery Australia and Wesfarmers. This exhibition was supported by learning 
resources, an opening program of artist talks, a family day hosted in partnership with 
Perth Festival and national online educator sessions. The exhibition then travelled
to Singapore. 

This national look at work by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists also sat against 
the immersive Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara exhibition which 
opened in March 2022. Set over four galleries and with more than 200 works from 
Aboriginal artists and art centres in the Pilbara region, this landmark exhibition featured 
the most exciting contemporary art coming out of the region while paying homage 
to the legacy that has informed it, offering a rare and broad-reaching insight into the 
region’s artistic output over the years.

The exhibition was a collaboration between Western Australian non-profit arts and 
cultural organisation FORM; The Art Gallery of Western Australia; Aboriginal art centres 
Cheeditha Art Group, Juluwarlu Art Group, Martumili Artists, Spinifex Hill Studio, and 
Yinjaa-Barni Art; and independent artists Katie West, Curtis Taylor, and Jill Churnside.

In the last month of Ever Present, the Gallery launched its BlakLight initiative. In a first 
for an Australian State Gallery, the entire gallery spaces of AGWA were dedicated to 

displaying First Nations work. In fact, every floor, every wall, and every channel was 
committed to amplifying the voice and art of First Nations artists.

It was also a year of celebrating milestones with Pulse Perspectives celebrating 30 years 
and the Tom Malone Prize celebrating 20 years. The West Australian came on board 
as naming rights partner of Pulse Perspectives in 2022, with a new name, fresh look 
and increased visibility. The West Australian Pulse was another highlight exhibition of 
the year and the support invested by The West through a comprehensive retrospective 
series on past artists and an insightful series of meet-the-artist videos ensured the 
voices of WA’s young artists were heard around Western Australia. Exciting plans to 
expand Pulse for 2023 are already underway. 

2022 culminated with the launch of the AGWA Design Store on 30 June. Fusing 
eclectic art with contemporary fashion and homewares through exclusive products 
and design collaborations from local and globally renowned brands, the AGWA Design 
Store is a new commercial offer for AGWA.

With product curation led by Perth design and fashion retail aficionados Leith Groves 
and Rob Marshall, the AGWA Design Store offers customers an always surprising mix 
of playful and beautiful pieces, including exclusive designer collaborations, international 
streetwear, accessories, ceramics, homewares, books, children’s clothing and
AGWA merchandise.

Sharing a commercial footprint with the AGWA Cafe and Bar, the AGWA Design Store 
is in a new central location accessible directly from the Perth Cultural Centre, standing 
as a retail destination in its own right with a distinct art and design focus.
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OUTCOMES

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences

The year 12 exhibit downstairs has really touched me. So many amazing 
artworks, where beautiful vulnerability, self reflection and consideration of 
social and spiritual topics have been expressed in original and outstanding 
displays. I would like to applaud every of these entries and hope the young 
people know that the creative process is for nurturing oneself, if done so 
soulfully it moves the viewer in many way. I’ve observed others and myself in 
the exhibition stopping for much longer than in other places. Well done! 

A total of 172,769 people visited the Gallery during the financial year. The website 
attracted 200,803 unique visitors during the year.

The figures reflect a combination of closures for capital works, the impact of COVID-19 
entering WA, the extension of border restrictions and the resulting influence on 
people’s routines, and the continued reduction in tourism. 

AGWA continued to activate its digital channels in 2021–22 with more than 30 short 
films produced for The View From Here and subsequent exhibitions. 

New social presences were introduced for the AGWA Rooftop Bar and AGWA Design 
Store. Across the main channels, Facebook following increased to 34,840, Instagram 
to 27,788 and LinkedIn to 6,488 followers. Twitter remained static. The Gallery’s regular 
electronic newsletter, AGWA Artmail, continued its editorially-focused approach. 

Public relations and editorial support continued as a key channel for AGWA 
communications, raising awareness of the Gallery’s exhibitions and programs.  
This year, unpaid media coverage across news and editorial platforms with Western 
Australian, national and international media outlets totalled 1360 items, reaching a total 
audience of 78,618,423. An equivalent amount of advertising space is calculated to 

cost $13,760,946. (These figures are based on clippings and information provided by 
iSentia media monitoring services, as well as those collected by AGWA.)

An incredible media moment for AGWA was that for the first time ever, The West 
Australian newspaper ran dual covers on its STM magazine, to highlight The West 
Australian Pulse. At the time of the Gallery’s reopening, the newspaper’s PLAY 
magazine also featured artist Tim Meakins on the cover, and inside ran an interview 
with AGWA Director, Colin Walker about the Gallery’s bold new vision. Other media 
highlights included radio interviews with Minister Templeman and Colin Walker 
about the opening of the rooftop and revamped gallery spaces. Tina Baum, curator of 
Ever Present was interviewed by Noongar Radio, Perth, and NITV News. ABC Radio 
National’s The Art Show did a feature on Christopher Pease’s Targets, 2020-21 work on 
the AGWA Rooftop. In June 2022, Channel 10 featured the Tom Malone Prize during its 
weather report, with a live cross to AGWA.

Following on from Sarah Bahbah’s booked-out artist talk at AGWA, and interaction 
with her more than 1.4 million social media followers, AGWA continued to share user-
generated content on its social platforms and noted a rise in TikTok content from 
visitors. TikTok will be considered as a future channel for AGWA.
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Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences  |  AGWA Learning

OVERVIEW 
AGWA Learning cultivates engagement with visual arts, creative practice and arts 
learning through workshops, guided tours, professional learning, public programs, 
research partnerships and participatory multigenerational exhibitions. 

Through meaningful engagement and partnership with children and families, students, 
educators, artists and community AGWA Learning is committed to incorporating the 
values of generosity, transparency, care, empathy and trust into the Gallery’s working 
practices and programs. 

In November 2021, AGWA dedicated Gallery 09 to interactive artist-led exhibitions, 
establishing a visible, accessible, artist-designed creative learning space for children 
and families, and audiences of all ages, in alignment with its Strategic Vision. 

Due to Gallery renovations in late 2021 and the continued impact of COVID-19 on 
school visits, a reduced numbers of schools visited AGWA in 2021, with an enthusiastic 
return from April 2022. 

In maintaining AGWA’s commitment to becoming an accessible laboratory for arts 
learning and creativity research, AGWA Learning has this year worked with: Aboriginal 
Art Centre Hub Western Australia (AACHWA), FORM, National Gallery of Australia, 
DADAA, Curtin University Autism Research Group, John Curtin Gallery, Autism 
Association of Western Australia, UWA Centre for Social Impact, Boorloo Aboriginal 
Cultural Experiences, PTSD WA, Mind the Change, Dementia Australia, TransFolk of 
WA, Propel Youth Arts, Telethon Kids Institute, and Edith Cowan University School of 
Education. AGWA Learning has also had the pleasure of engaging artists Eveline Kotai, 
Bori Benko, Sharyn Egan, Olman Walley, Geri Hayden, Julianne Wade, Bruno Booth, 
Rory Charles, Andy Quilty, and Trevor Bly.

School visit, The Art Gallery of Western Australia, 2021. Photo by Rebecca Mansell.
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SCHOOLS 
Despite interruptions to school visits due to redevelopment works, as well as the 
continued COVID-19 impact, over 3,000 students visited AGWA during the 2021–2022 
period. During the closure of the main Gallery building, more than 300 secondary 
students undertook self-guided tours of Pulse Perspectives 2021 and were able to 
access a range of downloadable Meet the Artist resources which gave further insight 
into this exhibition. 

School visits fully resumed with the reopening of the main Gallery building in November 
2021, with more than 70 studio workshops and visual analysis sessions facilitated by 
Artist Educators Lilly Blue and Assunta Meleca, along with guest educators. A number 
of school workshops have been held in the Gallery 09 activation space since it opened 
in November 2021, allowing educators and participants to engage deeply with themes 
and principles initiated by artists Eveline Kotai and Sharyn Egan in their respective 
projects, Looking Out/Back/In and Boorongur | Totem. Some 120 schools took part in 
guided tours led by Voluntary Gallery Guides; these continue to be received
very positively.

PROFESSIONAL LEARNING 
AGWA presented a series of Professional Learning workshops for Early Learning, 
Primary and Secondary Educators, engaging teachers and artists in practical studio 
experiences as well as visual analysis and cultural education. Workshops included: 
Cultural Awareness Training with Olman Walley; Drawing Breath with Lilly Blue and 
Assunta Meleca; Trans101: Trans Awareness Training with TransFolk of WA and Screen 
Printing for Artists and Educators with Trevor Bly. AGWA collaborated with the National 
Gallery of Australia to deliver an online Professional Learning workshop for educators 
on 24 February, with a phenomenal presentation by Julie Gough, as well as a workshop 
for students on 17 March with over 100 students participating. AGWA Learning also 
collaborated with FORM to develop a Tracks We Share online Learning Resource for 
students and teachers.

Agency Performance

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences  |  AGWA Learning

School workshop, AGWA Learning Studio, The Art Gallery of Western Australia, 2021. 
Photo by Rebecca Mansell.



Case 
Study

Children and Families
Gallery 09 Artist Activations | AGWA Learning Gallery 09 Looking Out/Back/In in collaboration with Eveline Kotai. Photo top by Rebecca Mansell. 

Photo bottom by AGWA.
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Gallery 09 is dedicated to interactive, accessible, all ages, artist-led projects that 
support creative learning, arts practice and wellbeing outcomes. Lilly Blue, Head of 
Learning and Creativity Research, curates and collaborates with artists and children 
to design participatory experiences where slow-learning pedagogies are deeply 
embedded in projects that support experiential opportunities for learning through 
elements and principles of art and design, material practices, and arts-based techniques. 

Gallery 09 Artist Activations are immersive learning experiences developed in response 
to a fluid methodology drawn from arts learning research and designed to impact 
mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and families. The methodology is 
activated by trained staff, teaching artists and volunteers who are skilled at engaging 
participants of all ages. Since its opening, the Gallery has recruited and trained 5 staff 
members and 20 new Learning Volunteers who activate the philosophy of the space 
through engagement, and with ongoing opportunities to support the evolution of each 
exhibition throughout the year. 

In November 2021, AGWA launched the space with Looking Out/Back/In in 
collaboration with Eveline Kotai, as part of The View From Here. The exhibition and 
slow-play space was filled with modular geometric shapes made from a light multi-
sensory material and audiences were invited take off their shoes, rest, experiment, 
and build sculptural forms that doubled as cubbyhouses. Looking Out/Back/In also 
included a large monochromatic multimedia drawing by Eveline Kotai, Skyline/Timeline, 
created in response to a photograph taken out the same window in 1979 illustrating the 
passage of time. Over 10,000 participants of all-ages engaged with Looking Out/Back/
In between November and February. 

“Not often we get to do such interactive play/art as adults! Limitless opportunities 
were possible today. Very therapeutic as well. If only we could have a space like this 
everywhere!” Kristy & Jill “never too old”

In February 2022, Boorongur | Totem was opened in collaboration with Noongar 
artist Sharyn Egan as part of BlakLight. Boorongur | Totem provides a shared space 
for audiences to consider a personal plant or animal totem and contribute to the 
accumulation of small raffia and wool creatures. Sharyn Egan invites children and 
families to think about multi-species relationships and care for environments where 
human and non-human species cohabit. Also exhibited in the space is Elaino Megalania 
by Sharyn Egan, a sculpture made from natural materials of a megafauna skeleton 
belonging to an animal alive at the time of the First Australians on the continent. In 
celebration of NAIDOC Week 2022 a Boorongur | Totem Reading Nook was installed, 
with children’s picture books by First Nations authors/illustrators, many of them 
Noongar. Boorongur | Totem is designed to inspire quiet conversation, rest, reflection 
and imagination while offering an opportunity for audiences of all ages to engage with 
Noongar culture and contribute to ethical climate futures. Over 12,000 participants of 
all ages have engaged with Boorongur | Totem since February.

“Wonderful idea! It provided us with the opportunity to pause for a few moments, relax 
and tune into our creativity. Thank you for advocating connection to Country. As non-
Indigenous creative people, we appreciate the learning experience.” Gaia and Sam

Gallery 09 Artist Activations are generously supported by Healthway promoting the 
Act Belong Commit message, and align with AGWA’s commitment to developing 
meaningful, multi-sensory, long term engagement projects that have social, emotional 
and community impact.

“I don’t want to leave this room” 

“I loved it so much I wanted to come back the next
day I made three things. It was so much fun.”
Mia, age 7

Saskia, age 9
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Youth Advisory Panel (YAP) 
The Youth Advisory Panel is a voluntary committee that meets once a month and 
contributes to ideas, programming, and events for young people at the Gallery. 
Established in 2018, the panel is open to all Western Australians aged 15 to 21 years 
who are interested in volunteering and local arts and culture. The panel includes young 
people from culturally diverse backgrounds, LGBTQIA+ communities, and those with 
specific access needs. 

The Youth Advisory Panel comprises 16 members, 12 of whom returned from 2021 due 
to their experience being disrupted by COVID-19 and Gallery closures that year. Over 
2021–2022, Youth Advisory Panel members made important contributions to Gallery 
programming including the closing celebration of Pulse Perspectives in August and 
public events for the Lester Prize. Several panel members also contributed blog posts to 
the online AGWA Reading Room on artists featured in Pulse Perspectives 2021.

Agency Performance
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Pulse Youth Advisory Panel Members, 2022. AGWA Rooftop, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. 
Photo by AGWA.
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Pulse Perspectives 2021 and 
The West Australian Pulse 2022 
AGWA Learning celebrated Pulse Perspectives 2021 and its artists with a special event 
on Tuesday 25 August, followed by an Educator Briefing on Friday 3 September. In 
September, a new online submission portal was launched; this allows broader access 
and diversity for schools from across Western Australia, which are now able to submit 
their students’ works from more regional and remote locations.

On 25 February, AGWA announced a new partnership between The West Australian 
newspaper and Pulse, at a joint event on AGWA’s rooftop. A new brand and look were 
developed for the exhibition’s new name The West Australian Pulse, which was rolled 
out for the 2022 exhibition campaign. 

The West Australian supported the exhibition with a comprehensive editorial and 
marketing campaign with editorial retrospective pieces appearing in the paper from
26 March. 

A new prize, The Editor's Choice Prize was introduced in 2022. The prize pool of 
the existing Pulse Peer Prize and People’s Choice Award have been increased to sit 
alongside the new Prize.
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The West Australian Pulse, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Eloise Pavlinovich with her artwork Buzz Guaranteed, 
2021 (detail). Inkjet prints on paper, wood, fabric and metal fasteners, two parts: (wall hanging)
147 x 61 cm and (book) 43.3 x 60.8 x 2.8 cm. Applecross Senior High School. Photo by Rift Photography.
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SOCIAL IMPACT 

Art and Dementia 
The Creative Encounters: Arts and Dementia at AGWA program supported by Graeme 
and Lorraine Rowley with additional funding through the AGWA Foundation’s Annual 
Appeal for an expanded program, comprising monthly guided tours and hands-on 
studio workshops for people living with dementia and their carers, has continued in 
partnership with Mind the Change. 

Although impacted by COVID-19, the program delivered seven workshops and four 
tours in 2021–22. Participants engaged in guided tours and studio workshops designed 
to offer creative experiences, social support, encourage communication and
enhance community.

On 15 September, the Gallery hosted a research framework development workshop 
with the Centre for Social Impact to begin articulating parameters for Art and Dementia 
research projects. This included AGWA and Mind the Change staff, and researchers 
from the Centre for Social Impact, exploring how AGWA Learning programs can 
support wellbeing for communities impacted by dementia to illuminate the shared 
experiences of people living with dementia and their families and carers, as well as 
associated staff and guides at AGWA. 

Digital Arts for Life 
AGWA’s Digital Arts for Life partnership with DADAA, John Curtin Gallery, and Curtin 
Autism Research Group continued in 2021–22. Aimed at supporting 30 teenagers with 
autism over 12 months to explore their creative practice, with links to collections and 
exhibitions at AGWA and John Curtin Gallery, the workshop program launched at DADAA 
in October, with on-site sessions at AGWA from December 2021. Participants have shared 
positive feedback about the program and guided tours, aligning well with its objective to 
support participants’ wellbeing, social skills, and emotional confidence. Several sessions 
have been held in the G09 Artist Activation space, and engagement with Eveline Kotai’s 
and Sharyn Egan’s projects has proven to be a valuable aspect of the program.
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Art and Dementia workshop, The Art Gallery of Western Australia, 2022. Photo by Suresh Manievannan.



37

SOCIAL IMPACT 

TransFolk WA 
Fifteen AGWA staff took part in a Transgender Awareness training session held in 
August, with Misty Farquhar of Transfolk of WA introducing participants to the lived 
experiences of Trans and non-binary people along with ideas on how to create more 
inclusive environments at the Gallery.

Sixty-two AGWA Guides participated in a presentation from Colleen Harris (TAFE 
lecturer and Guide) regarding gender issues and how to be more understanding when 
relating to our visitors with diverse gender backgrounds.

Weather Studios 
AGWA has continued its partnership with Forrest Fellow Dr Jo Pollitt and Edith 
Cowan University School of Education, together with ECU’s Centre for People, Place 
and Planet, in developing the next stage of Conversations with Rain (CwR). The first 
creative development for the next phase of research and engagement was hosted in 
Nannup, May 3, by choreographer Chrissie Parrott, together with multi-disciplinary 
arts, science and education practitioners, furthering the work of CwR in a new iteration 
titled Weather Studios. The team participated in an interview with ABC about the next 
phase of the project and a redevelopment of the Conversations with Rain Journal as an 
Arts/Weather Kit in partnership with ECU School of Education, with a vision to engage 
Primary Schools in regional and remote areas. 

Agency Performance
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Weather Studios Creative Development, Nannup.
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Boorongur | Totem, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Photo by Rift Photography.

Ever Present Family Day
The Ever Present Family Day was presented in partnership with Propel Youth Arts as 
part of the Perth Festival. It was a full day offering of a wide range of activations by local 
Perth artists, performers and creatives who led workshops and held live performances, 
including weaving with Sharyn Egan, storytelling with Olman Walley, bush food and 
medicine with Dale Tilbrook, native toy making with Geri Hayden, community canvas 
with Julianne Wade, First Nations DJ Workshops on the AGWA Rooftop, and
guided tours.

The View From Here 
Collection works by Western Australian artists were made visible throughout all 
gallery spaces, demonstrating the depth and reach of the state’s creative spirit and the 
role of the Gallery in securing its longevity and accessibility. The exhibition opening 
coincided with the rooftop venue opening which hosted a series of activations. Public 
programming included artist talks by Bruno Booth, Christopher Pease, Sarah Bahbah 
and more as well as after-hour activations such as curator talk and tour of Collective 
Ground and live drawing in the Lucian Freud exhibition.

In January, the Gallery welcomed Sarah Bahbah to Perth for a booked-out artist 
talk which was broadcast live on YouTube. Although less known in WA, Bahbah is 
internationally recognised for her work and has more than 1.4 million social followers. 
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BlakLight 
The April school holidays fell under the BlakLight banner allowing us to extend 
conversations and First Nations experiences and learning to AGWA’s younger 
audiences through inter-generational exchange. BlakLight invited shared pride in 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander heritage and history during a six-week program 
celebrating the diversity of First Nations culture in Australia. The program sought to 
spark conversation about cultural identities and explore the notion of community 
through visual art, music, talks and events, marking the first time an Australian State 
Gallery had dedicated all programming to First Nations arts. School holiday programs 
included Boorongur | Totem with artist Sharyn Egan, Yarning Together Across 
Generations with Trish Hill, Doll Making with Geri Hayden and BlakLight Family 
Guided Tours.

Rooftop Activations 
The rooftop has hosted corporate functions, internal events, parties, and workshops. 
Events such as Rooftop Yoga, ‘Cultural Renegades’ street dancing competitors, live 
drawing workshops with Andy Quilty and regular scheduled DJs have brought in 
varied audiences and reinforced the venue’s status as a community centred space. 
Community engagement is forecast to increase with greater marketing and activation 
offerings in the new financial year. This will include free and paid events which will be 
focused on food, wine and art, and will cater to a diverse audience. Programming will 
feature music, poetry and dance activations, food and wine festivals, art classes and 
workshops, yoga, and dance classes. AGWA’s focus is to create an inclusive hub for 
activity and experience within the Perth Cultural Centre.
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EVENTS, PUBLIC PROGRAMS AND AUDIENCE ENGAGEMENT

Saw Collective Ground. The best layout, 
lighting of this art that I have ever seen! 
Incredible. My partner agrees!



Case 
Study

Social Impact
First Nations DJ Workshops Deadly DJs, AGWA Rooftop, 2022. Photo by Ross Swanborough. © West Australian Newspapers Limited.
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The First Nations DJ workshops for youth took place in January over four weeks in the 
AGWA education studio, facilitated by Sepsi M and Kev Wilson. Kev is an experienced 
First Nations artist whose mediums range from visual and graphic art, music production 
and performance. Facilitators engaged on a volunteer basis, sharing time, expertise, 
resources, and equipment.

The aim of the workshops was to share the art of DJing with First Nations youth and 
facilitate skill sharing in music between First Nations artists of all ages. The aim was 
to increase First Nations involvement in the arts and music scene in Western Australia 
allowing for freedom of expression and greater representation of youth in the scene. It 
is worth noting that a majority of participants are emerging artists working in different 
mediums, and DJing is an additional pathway they sought to explore.

By capitalising on the accessibility of the AGWA rooftop venue, AGWA was able 
to grant a platform to emerging artists following the completion of the workshops. 
Participants debuted at the Ever Present Family Day at the Rooftop Bar with a full line 
up of six new artists supported by two First Nations drag performers. In doing this, the 
Gallery has been able to promote a more diverse and engaging social outreach network 
through music, movement and dance. 

Since the workshops, all the DJs have gone on to perform at a wide range of events 
around Boorloo (Perth) supporting prominent First Nations artists on tour from 
interstate. They have gained notoriety and support from the music community in 
Boorloo who have embraced them, shared their mixes online, hosted them on different 
radio shows on RTRFM and Triple J which has allowed them to hone their craft through 
the performance of their preferred musical genres.

This pilot will allow AGWA to expand and develop social impact programming to 
cater for various minority groups; people with disabilities, queer and gender diverse 
folk, women and immigrant communities. In addition to this, AGWA seeks to expand 
the workshops to facilitate skill sharing and conversations around music production, 
graphic design, and navigating the arts world as an emerging artist. 

“This pilot will allow us to expand and 
develop social impact programming 
to cater for various minority groups...”
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VOLUNTEERS
AGWA is committed to working with, supporting and recognising the value of 
volunteers who contribute their time and expertise to supporting the Gallery. In 2021–
2022 AGWA had l  lun ee s  is includes 42 Front of House 
(AGWA Ambassadors) volunteers who contributed 4,959.5 hours to daily operations at 
Reception, 21 Learning Volunteers who contributed 1,302 hours, 92 Guides who have 
guided 4,425 adults and children through the collection, as well as others who have 
assisted with administration tasks in various departments, and the facilitation of school 
holiday programs. The Gallery also offers internships to tertiary students who are 
required to undertake such training as part of their course requirements. The combined 
total of hours contributed by these valued members of the community is in excess of 
12,000 hours.

The current AGWA Volunteers pool is made up of a diverse group, ranging from fine
arts and arts management students wishing to gain real world experience, retirees, 
international students, and those who are looking to contribute to the Perth arts scene. 
The volunteers’ friendly and informative service is greatly appreciated by visitors, as 
demonstrated by the high level of positive feedback received regarding how they have 
enhanced visitors’ Gallery experience.

To mark Thank a Volunteer Day (5 December 2021) AGWA’s Director sent a letter to 
each volunteer together with a certificate of appreciation signed by the Minister for 
Volunteers, the Hon Reece Whitby MLA. AGWA also held a Thank You event in May to 
mark National Volunteers Week, recognising the invaluable contribution that all
volunteers make to the Gallery. 

AGWA Annual Report 2021-22
Boorongur | Totem, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Photo by Rift Photography.
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VOLUNTARY GALLERY GUIDES 
AGWA recognises the contribution of 92 active Voluntary Gallery Guides (VGGs) who 
dedicated hundreds of hours to touring groups of children and adults through the State 
Collection. These volunteers are deeply committed to research and are passionate 
about sharing their insights and love of art with students of all ages, interested adults 
joining Wesfarmers Arts Walk-in Tours, and special interest audiences including people 
living with dementia, autism or trauma. 

Active VGGs make a commitment to deliver 28 tours per year as a minimum. Eighteen 
enthusiastic Trainee Guides began the year-long training program in February 2022.
The training program includes visual literacy, public speaking, researching, constructing 
a tour and techniques for engaging audiences.

Between 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022, and despite COVID-19 restrictions during 
certain parts of the year, the VGGs presented Wesfarmers Walk-in Tours to 1,185 
people, and School Visits and Tailored Tours, with 3,240 visitors. 

Twelve Associate Guides support the active guides with Life Membership being 
presented after 20 years of service. There are currently 30 Life Members. 

Now in its second year, the Adjunct Guides category, designed to engage young 
people, provides an opportunity for younger volunteers to undertake a concentrated 
training course and work with a Guide Mentor on conducting a shared tour. There are 
currently two trained Adjunct Guides. 

The Affiliate Guide category creates a link with other guiding groups around the state
to share knowledge and training and is part of AGWA's commitment to continued 
service of regional areas. 

In 2022, the Guides conducted an Engagement Course for interested Guides in the 
Bunbury Region. Ten participants took part in a 16-week course with dedicated AGWA 
VGGs donating their time and expertise in delivering the course. There are plans to 
replicate this course in other regional galleries in the coming years as requested. 

Participants in Bunbury workshop Molly Werner, BRAG Education Officer; Maria Craddock, BRAG newly graduated volunteer 
gallery guide; Sheree Dohnt, BRAG staff member; Stacey Jane Willis, AGWA VGG Guide mentor; Kath Pederick, AGWA VGG  
Guide mentor; Robyn Scott, AGWA VGG Co-Trainer; Helen Wildy, AGWA VGG Co-Trainer; Debra Matjeles, AGWA VGG Guide 
mentor; Sally Wilson, BRAG trainee guide; Ann McLeod, newly graduated BRAG volunteer guide.

“The course was great: I especially liked the emphasis 
on slow looking and listening - engaging with the 
audience - rather than having to know everything 
about the artwork”

Bunbury Regional Art Gallery (BRAG) Representative
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VOLUNTARY GALLERY GUIDES 
The Picture Club continued to provide very well attended monthly tours of current 
exhibitions for AGWA Foundation Members. 

Touch tours for the blind and low vision visitors continue to be offered, as well as tours 
for the deaf and hard of hearing.

Language tours have been expanded. In addition to the monthly Japan Picture Club 
and tours for the Russian community, VGGs now offer tours for the French diaspora, 
along with tours for German, Dutch and Afrikaans communities planned for later in 
2022. 

Two VGGs – Life Members Tony Fowler and Judith Hugo – were awarded OAMs in 
the recent honours list for their longstanding commitment to their communities which 
included their guiding at AGWA.

VGGs have initiated a project collecting oral histories of long serving Guides which will 
be published in the coming years. This is an important project to document not only the 
history of guiding at AGWA, but also as an important part of the history of AGWA itself. 

With support from the Gallery, the University of the Third Age has continued their Art 
Appreciation lecture series at AGWA, featuring a wide range of topics and lectures by 
VGGs and invited lecturers.
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AGWA LEARNING VOLUNTEERS 
In November 2021, the AGWA Learning Volunteers program was launched, and over 
the past eight months the Gallery has welcomed 21 new volunteers from diverse 
backgrounds and with a wide range of skills. AGWA Learning Volunteers support 
Gallery 09 Artist Activations, engaging children and families, and audiences of all ages, 
to play, experiment, collaborate and create. Most Learning Volunteers commit to one to 
two morning or afternoon shifts per week. The Learning Volunteers have worked with 
two artist engagement projects, Looking Out/Back/In and Boorongur | Totem.

AGWA AMBASSADORS 
Ambassadors are the first point of contact for many visitors. They commit to a minimum 
of one morning or afternoon shift per fortnight, and their passionate support allows 
the Gallery to be brought to life for visitors through events, exhibitions, and public 
programs. They inspire creativity and stimulate conversations, and proactively greet 
visitors in a friendly and engaging manner, promote the Gallery’s exhibitions, cloak 
bags or parcels, respond to enquiries from visitors about AGWA’s displays, facilities, 
programs and the surrounding area, and encourage and advocate participation in
public programs.

Due to the redevelopment of the foyer, café and Design Store, June 2021 saw entry 
to the Gallery through the Beaufort Street entrance. During this time, due to limited 
space, the number of Ambassadors able to help was reduced to two volunteers. The 
volunteers’ roster was adjusted to meet this requirement. They adjusted to this change 
easily with some volunteers reducing their shifts from weekly to fortnightly, and some 
having a well-earned break.

On 6 November, the redevelopment was completed, and the Gallery had the opening 
of the main entrance. After this date the Ambassadors returned to normal rostering. 

Looking Out/Back/In. Photo by Rebecca Mansell.

“We had our visit to WA Art Gallery on Wednesday 
having a tour and discussion on the amazing 
Aboriginal artwork in your exhibit. We can’t thank you 
and your team enough for having us there, we hope to 
come again sometime. Thank you”

Steve, SEDA College 
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BlakLight 
BlakLight was a suite of exhibition featuring works by Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander artists in all gallery spaces across the entire Gallery, including the rooftop, 
as well as a series of programmed events and workshops for both Gallery staff and 
the wider Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal community. The aim was to have the Gallery 
completely immersed in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander objects, works of art 
and cultural materials for a four-week period, with no works of art from other cultural 
groups on display during this time. 

There was also a focus on offering free workshops to the Noongar community, in order 
to educate local artists about the business of art production, presentation, marketing 
and arts law, and AGWA also hosted weekly Noongar language lessons for staff. These 
lessons were aimed at supporting the growth of knowledge in language competency 
for staff members which in turn supported the development of cultural competency of 
AGWA staff working at all levels in the organisation. 

Agency Performance
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BlakLight goals fell under multiple AGWA strategic categories and included:

• Supporting and driving artistic ambition through the creation of bold and
adventurous exhibitions, experiences and programs, produced in collaboration
with artists, artistic communities and audiences.

• Becoming a laboratory for arts learning, academic inquiry and experimentation in
partnership with academic institutions, Aboriginal cultural authorities, and multi-
generational audiences.

• Enhancing the understanding of historical and contemporary Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander art and cultures, by means of acknowledging and working in
partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the First Peoples
of Australia.

• Ensuring artist-led lifelong learning, creative and social programs have maximum
impact in socio-economic areas where they have the most bene§t.

• Increasing expertise and con§dence working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander artists and communities to improve AGWA’s working environment.
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During BlakLight, the following exhibitions were on display:

Balancing Act 
Featured the work of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists living and working 
across the State and Australia. Works of art by local Noongar artists such as Revel 
Cooper (dec.), Sandra Hill, Dianne Jones and Shane Pickett (dec.) sit among those by 
Richard Bell, Karla Dickens, Julie Dowling and Brian Robinson, amongst others. The 
exhibition explores culture, place and identity, and other aspects of the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander experience. 

Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia
Drawn from the renowned collections of the National Gallery Australia and the 
Wesfarmers Collection, this exhibition surveys historical and contemporary works 
by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists from across Australia. Featuring more 
than 100 works by 80 artists, it considers seven overarching and interlinked themes: 
Ancestors + Creators; Country + Constellations; Community + Family; Culture + 
Ceremony; Trade + Influence; Resistance + Colonisation; and Innovation + Identity.

Together the works underlined the ever-present existence of the First Peoples of 
Australia, and celebrated the creativity, diversity, strength, resilience and pride of early 
and contemporary Indigenous artists. 

An Ever Present Family Day was presented in partnership with Propel Youth Arts as part 
of the Perth Festival. It was a full day offering of a wide range of activations by local 
Perth artists, performers and creatives who led workshops and live performances. A 
dinner was also held in honour of the opening of the exhibition in which a number of key 
Indigenous staff from Wesfarmers, the NGA and AGWA were present, and for which 
Indigenous food researcher and Wardandi/Bibbulmun woman Dale Tilbrook curated 
the food and beverages offerings.

Michael Jalaru Torres  |  Jurru
A small, curated selection of work by this photographer and media professional from 
Broome, Western Australia offered a vignette of portraiture from an early career artist 
from the Kimberley region of Western Australia. The artist was present to offer talks 
to the general public about his practice. Regional and remote artist representation is 
viewed as critical to AGWA, and the artist offered the public an opportunity to view 
remote community life through an Indigenous lens.

Bábbarra Women’s Centre
The Bábbarra Women’s Centre exhibition gave AGWA the opportunity to present the 
work of women-led creative practice and relay stories associated with the imagery of 
western Arnhem Land to a Western Australian audience. Textile work from the centre 
was purchased and shown with information about each narrative as given by the artist. 
Bábbarra had been closed to tourism traffic during the last couple of years of the 
pandemic, and as such the Centre was selected to be supported given the livelihood 
and economic sustainability for the women was at stake.

The Centre has a proud history of positive social impact. From the early days, they 
have supported the lives of Aboriginal women in the community of Maningrida and on 
surrounding homelands, enabling local women to develop and run women-centred 
enterprises that support healthy and sustainable livelihoods. The textiles they produce 
on multiple types of material give an insight into what is important to the women and 
are supremely wearable. A plan was formed by the AGWA Design Store and Perth TAFE 
to transform the textiles into wearable designs, in partnership with the local Noongar 
community. This will culminate in the next financial year with wearable designs that can 
be sold in the Design Store. 



48

Agency Performance

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences  |  First Nations Initiatives

Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara
As part of the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost, Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art 
of the Pilbara project has brought together 57 artists and over 200 works of art. It is 
a collaboration between Western Australian non-profit arts and cultural organisation 
FORM, AGWA and Aboriginal art centres Cheeditha Art Group, Juluwarlu Art Group, 
Martumili Artists, Spinifex Hill Studio, Yinjaa-Barni Art and independent artists Katie 
West, Curtis Taylor and Jill Churnside. 

Gallery 09 Artist Activation
Gallery 09 is dedicated to interactive, accessible, all ages, artist-led projects that 
support creative learning, arts practice and wellbeing outcomes. 

As part of BlakLight, in February 2022 Boorongur | Totem was opened, in collaboration 
with Noongar artist Sharyn Egan, and with the combined curatorial and developmental 
efforts of Lilly Blue and Clothilde Bullen. Boorongur | Totem provides a shared space 
for audiences to consider a personal plant or animal totem and contribute to the 
accumulation of small raffia and wool creatures. Also exhibited in the space is Elaino 
Megalania by Sharyn Egan, a sculpture made from natural materials of a megafauna 
skeleton belonging to an animal alive at the time of the First Australians on the 
continent. In celebration of NAIDOC Week 2022 the Boorongur | Totem Reading Nook 
was set up, and the Indigenous team led storytelling along with volunteers in the space.

April School Holiday Activities
These holidays fell under the BlakLight banner allowing AGWA to extend conversations 
and First Nations experiences and learning to younger audiences through inter-
generational exchange. School holiday programs included Boorongur | Totem with artist 
Sharyn Egan, Yarning Together Across Generations with Trish Hill, Doll Making with Geri 
Hayden and BlakLight Family Guided Tours.

First Nations DJ Workshops
A series of First Nations DJ workshops for youth took place in January over four 
weeks in the AGWA education studio, facilitated by Sepsi M and Kev Wilson. Kev is 
an experienced First Nations artist whose mediums range from visual and graphic art, 
music production and performance. Facilitators engaged on a volunteer basis, sharing 
time, expertise, resources and equipment.

DJs Marli and Agapantha, AGWA Rooftop, 2022. Photo by Anthony Tran Photography.
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AGWA Learning Professional Learning Workshops 
Engaging teachers and artists in practical studio experiences as well as visual analysis 
and cultural education. One of the workshops offered included Cultural Awareness 
Training with Olman Walley.

AGWA Internal Noongar Language Workshops
Noongar educator Sharon Gregory was invited to deliver a five week Noongar language 
package to all staff at the Gallery, as a team and cultural competency-building exercise. 
Sharon was an excellent tutor, who scaffolded each weekly session to reflect the 
learnings from the week prior, but also allowed for people who weren’t able to attend 
to catch up. Sharon also offered cultural and historical context for the language classes 
and a free lunch was provided to all who attended. The language classes took place on 
the rooftop and in Gallery 10.

Tracks We Share Catalogue and Learning Resource
FORM and AGWA collaborated to produce a 229 page full colour catalogue to support 
the exhibition. 

A Learning Resource, designed by FORM and AGWA complements the exhibition, 
with the intention of helping to guide further engagement and investigation, and spark 
research and inquiry processes. 

The message behind the  making experience is one 
that should be spread throughout the world! The totems we 
make ourselves remind us of our connection with the land and 
how important it is to look after it.
There are a lot of serious issues shown in the gallery and to be 
able to sit down and talk with someone while making something 
so simple yet meaningful was a phenomenal experience.

Aboriginal Artist Workshops Series 
In June 2022, AGWA hosted a three-day series of free workshops for Aboriginal artists 
in conjunction with Arts Law and Artsource, the series being the first of its kind at 
AGWA. The workshops were made possible by AGWA’s Next Collective, AGWA’s 
dedicated group of young and emerging philanthropists. 

The workshops focused on copyrights and intellectual property, contracts, Indigenous 
Cultural and Intellectual Property, how to market and present work and a host of other 
topics. The workshops garnered overwhelmingly positive feedback and, as a result, 
AGWA is already looking into the possibility of hosting a second series.

Workshop participants came from all walks of life and roles within the arts industry. 
Around half of the attendees had never been inside the Gallery before. Getting local 
Aboriginal artists and arts workers through the Gallery doors and letting them know that 
AGWA is a safe and welcoming place was an important objective of the workshops. It 
was also a useful exercise for AGWA in promoting affiliation with the Gallery, and out 
of the workshops two attendees have since expressed an interest in becoming Guides 
– part of the Gallery’s long-term goal of increasing the level of Indigenous staffing and
volunteer capacity.
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Tyrown Waigana 
Tyrown Waigana is a Wardandi Noongar and Ait Koedhal Torres Strait Islander man. 
He runs the graphic design and branding business Crawlin Crocodile, and his artistic 
practice sees him working across many artforms. His work is a platform for his own 
brand of storytelling, drawing upon his cultural heritage, the world around him and 
online, and historical art influences such as Surrealism. 

AGWA commissioned Waigana to create a major mural, the first in the location of the 
entry foyer wall, which speaks to differences in cultural values, cultural renewal and 
natural regeneration. In it the artist placed a grey figure, which represented the static, 
formal quality of high culture, almost elevated out of relevance. In contrast, the artist 
painted a “green figure clutching the head of the grey figure, representing unstoppable 
growth, for example tree roots that will tear up an asphalt road.” The artist stated that, 
“some of the most stunning, culturally significant art is made on the ground.” 
For Waigana, the work was also, “a testament to the resurgence of Indigenous culture, 
knowledge and teaching throughout Australia.”

The mural was a bold and optimistic statement that welcomed new and returning 
audiences to the Gallery, and presented the viewer with the challenge to embrace 
change, to honour new visions, and to grow in sensitive relationship to those around us. 
The foyer wall is programmed to feature the work of a Simon Lee Foundation Institute of 
Contemporary Asian Art artist for six months of the year, and an Indigenous artist for the 
other half of the year.

Agency Performance
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Next page |  Tyrown Waigana Overgrown, 2021, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Synthetic polymer paint, 500 x 680 cm. 
Commissioned through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation 2021, with support from The Next Collective and Minderoo Foundation. Photo by Bo Wong.





Case 
Study

Social Impact
Rooftop Artwork by Christopher Pease Christopher Pease with his artwork Targets, 2020-2021, and top, the work Swan River - View from Fraser's Point, 1827  

by Frederick Garling on which it is based.
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Wardandi/Bibbulmun/Minang artist Christopher Pease has created the monumental 
work Targets, 2020-21 (depicted on the front cover of this report), which wraps around 
the upper rooftop, creating site-lines to multiple locations across Boorloo (Perth). It 
is based upon a small watercolour painting in the State Art Collection by Frederick 
Garling Jnr, which was produced in 1827, and depicts the view looking east from 
present-day Fraser’s Point, located near the current day causeway.

This area on the bank of the Derbarl Yerrigan (Swan River) is not far from the current site 
of AGWA and the watercolour presents a visual snapshot of the region at the time of 
European exploration when the land remained undisturbed by European colonisation. 
The use of this colonial image embedded within Pease’s personal iconographic 
language reflects the unbroken connection of Noongar culture to the region and is 
within the conceptual parameters of the artist’s practice.

In Targets Pease has expanded and reimagined Garling’s landscape into a panorama, 
which is based on historic maps and Pease’s own knowledge of the Perth region. He 
has introduced signs of both colonial and Indigenous habitation and Noongar camps 
are evident in the foreground while cattle graze at one end and rabbits congregate 
at the other. The selection of rabbits – an introduced species that has invaded and 
supplanted many native animal species in Australia – is a subtle reminder of the 
violence of colonisation. Pease’s choice of this Garling image also underscores the 
significance of the river as the lifeblood of Noongar people as well as its importance 
for the colonisers. Lighting within the work has been programmed to create an image 
of the river ‘flowing’ from left to right which is visible during the day and at night, and 
helps to make a geometric design to signify body markings – which has been overlaid 
on the landscape – more visible at night.

Pease’s visual language is at once deeply embedded within the Western history 
of figurative oil painting and embraces the concept of storytelling. His research, 
referenced below, is used to create works which, like Targets, reframe colonial history 
within contemporary narratives; act as inspiration for accounts about Noongar history; 
or to offer comment on contemporary environmental, social and political issues relevant 
to Noongar culture.

“The original drawing shows a small section of the river with two central 
figures. I have expanded this small landscape into a vast panorama of 
the area, based on my knowledge, historical documents and reference 
material uncovered during my research. Embedded in the foreground 
are new objects, including a vacant camp with mia mia (shelter), as well 
as colony of white rabbits. These interventions mark the land as the 
ancestral country of the Nyoongar and show the impact of colonisation. 
Hovering over the river landscape I have placed a repeating motif of 
concentric circles, the meaning of which changes according to context. 
Concentric rings can indicate a waterhole or campfire site. They reflect 
the influence of Jasper Johns on my practice, in particular his ‘Target’ 
series painted in the mid-1950s. The rings also identify an object or site of 
attention or attack. The work is further layered with another repeating 
hexagonal pattern which symbolises the markings of Nyoongar body 
paint. The hexagon was also a major influence on the 1979 architectural 
design of the AGWA building, clearly evident in its floorplan. While during 
the day, Frederick Garling’s English vision of the landscape is visually 
dominant, LED lighting illuminates certain parts of the work in the 
evening, bringing to life the Nyoongar connection to the Derbarl Yerrigan, 
land and country.”

Christopher Pease
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Regional Exhibition Touring Boost (RETB) 
Launched in 2019, in partnership with Art on the Move (AOTM), the Regional Exhibition 
Touring Boost continues to provide support, advice and professional development 
opportunities for regional galleries, arts workers and volunteers. 

A McGowan Government commitment, RETB also provides access to the State Art 
Collection and to new works created in partnership with key partners including FORM 
and Spaced (formerly International Art Space).

Freighting Ideas 
This concept is the premise on which RETB has been built and recognises the 
importance of grass roots engagement. Freighting Ideas challenges traditional 
exhibition touring by making artists, audiences, and creativity central to engagement 
with galleries. The model values the development of genuine relationships, meaningful 
encounters, community connections and the contribution of various diverse voices.

Touring Exhibitions
Following on from the successful tours across the State of How Did I Get Here? which 
had concluded in 2020, the highly anticipated exhibition There Were Moments of 
Transformation continued to tour during 2021–2022, with exhibitions held in the newly 
refurbished Albany Town Hall (3 July – 15 August 2021), Geraldton Regional Art Gallery 
(27 August – 8 October 2021) then concluding at the Bunbury Regional Art Gallery
(27 November 2021 – 6 March 2022). 

As reported in last year’s Annual Report, this exhibition continued to support the 
development of Gallery Activators from the local community who were appointed in 
each regional venue for security purposes and to engage gallery visitors, operate gallery 
talks and facilitate workshops. Educational opportunities were also provided by way of 
the AGWA/ECU initiative Conversations with Rain that engaged audiences in new and 
dynamic ways.

Visitation 
The two exhibitions, How Did I Get Here? and There Were Moments of Transformation 
attracted a total of 17,620 visitors while on tour through regional WA. 

Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara
The exhibition Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara was launched at 
AGWA on 10 March. It is a collaboration between Western Australian non-profit arts 
and cultural organisation FORM, The Art Gallery of Western Australia and Aboriginal 
art centres Cheeditha Art Group, Juluwarlu Art Group, Martumili Artists, Spinifex Hill 
Studio, Yinjaa-Barni Art and independent artists Katie West, Curtis Taylor and
Jill Churnside. 

This landmark project brings together 57 artists and over 200 works of art. 
This extraordinary body of work features the most exciting contemporary art coming 
out of the region while paying homage to the legacy that has informed it, offering a rare 
and broad-reaching insight into the region’s artistic output over the years.

With concerns that artists travelling to Perth for the opening might contract COVID-19, 
and its subsequent possible spread through their communities, a live link was created, 
allowing artists to “virtually attend” the opening, and funds were made available to allow 
each participating Pilbara-based art centre to host a small opening event. 

Next page |  Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara, AGWA Installation View, 2022. 
Jakayu Biljabu Pitu (Separation Well), 2016; Ngamaru Ngamayu BIDU Pitu (Separation Well), 2017; 
Dadda Simpson (Untitled), 2017; Gladys Kuru Bidu Wantili (Warntili, Canning Stock Route Well 25), 2021; 
Jakayu Biljabu Nyilangkurr, 2016; Dadda Samson and Judith Anya Samson Untitled, 2014. 
Photography by Sundae Studio, image courtesy of FORM.





56

Agency Performance

Engaging With and Inspiring Audiences  |  Regional Initiatives

Tracks We Share Learning Resource
A FORM and AGWA collaboration, this Learning Resource complements the exhibition 
and has been designed by FORM and AGWA.

The intention of the resource is to help guide further engagement and investigation, and 
spark research and inquiry processes that can be adapted as appropriate. For guidance 
and support on how to engage appropriately and sensitively with Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander histories and cultures, FORM and AGWA encourage teachers to consult 
and talk with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisers at, or connected with, their 
school. Accordingly, this resource contains discussion prompts for teachers to consider 
in preparing for Gallery visits, while at the Gallery, and when engaging with online 
material from the project website tracksweshare.com.au

Rural Utopias
AGWA in partnership with Spaced (Formerly International Art Space)

Rural Utopias is a Spaced (formerly International Art Space) project being developed 
in partnership with the AGWA over 2022 to 2024. The program will consist of a two-
year long cycle of residency-based projects and exhibitions aiming to develop an 
experimental, process-focused engagement with each geographic location and the 
AGWA Collection. 

Working with the State Art Collection will provide the opportunity for AGWA staff and 
artists to develop innovative projects based on a dialogue between new and existing 
works around the theme of “rural utopias”.

The artistic outcome of this process will be presented in the host communities, in a 
series of one or two-person exhibitions, commencing at AGWA in late 2022, to be held 
over the course of two years culminating in a regional touring exhibition to be organised 
at the end of the cycle.

Participants enjoying Georgie Mattingly’s workshop that formed part of the Rural Utopias project held in the 
Goldfields Art Centre Kalgoorlie in September 2021. Photo by Owen Hinton.
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Public Regional Gallery Improvement Fund (PRGIF)
In June 2021, ART ON THE MOVE opened the second round of $405,000 funding,
allowing WA’s public regional galleries to apply for funding from $2,500 to $50,000 for
minor or major scale upgrades. Unlike the previous round, this program was not limited
to those regional public galleries hosting RETB exhibitions, so more regional public
galleries had the opportunity to build capacity and stay viable during the pandemic.  

i een applications were received totalling $480,000. The panel assessment took 
place on 31 August 2021 and included representation from AGWA. 

Capacity Building Conservation and Management of
Collections – ConservatorTraining
This project has been delayed due to a shortage of suitably trained and approved
conservators. The aim of the project is for a suitably qualified conservator to visit
regional venues involved in RETB to assess local collections, identify good practice,
and outline areas of improvements in accordance with museum standards and best
practice for management and conservation of collections. The project will be reviewed
during 2022–23.

Care of Inside Australia
The Art Gallery of Western Australia continues its role in managing Antony Gormley’s
Inside Australia, situated at Lake Ballard in the Shire of Menzies.

The plan to rebase each of the individual sculptures with new bases designed
to maintain orientation and help preserve the artwork in its remote location has
progressed. Manufacture of the second half of the bases was finished and all bases
were delivered to Menzies in preparation for installation. In addition, in April two
sculptures were found to be damaged and were retrieved from the lake. Both were
delivered to AGWA in early May and the process for repair was begun.

AGWA Annual Report 2021-22

Elizabeth Pedler Community presentation of video works that formed part of the Rural Utopias project held at 
Windi Windi property, Wellstead, March 2020. Photo by Elizabeth Pedler.
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Pulse Perspectives 5-May-21 27-Sep-21

The Lester Prize 2021 16-Oct-21 29-Nov-21

Tom Malone Prize 2021 29-May-21 19-Jul-21

Dan Moynihan: Mixed Emotions 4-Jun-21 19-Jul-21

Balancing Act 6-Nov-21 Ongoing

The View From Here: 6-Nov-21 13-Feb-22

Tim Meakins: Muscle Beach 6-Nov-21 7-Feb-22

Eveline Kotai: Looking Out/Back/In 6-Nov-21 7-Feb-22

Between Beyond 6-Nov-21 30-Jan-22

Within Around 6-Nov-21 13-Feb-22

Erin Coates: Videos and Movies 6-Nov-21 21-Feb-22

Jack Ball: Wind Chill 6-Nov-21 16-Jan-22

Danielle Freakley: Equal Opportunity to be a Dictator 6-Nov-21 30-Jan-22

Agency Performance
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TITLE OPENING CLOSING
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TITLE OPENING CLOSING

     Tyrown Waigana: Overgrown     6-Nov-21      18-Jul-22

     Collective Ground
     6-Nov-21 

     14-May-22
     14-Nov-21  
    23-Oct-22

In the Studio: Rose Boyt and Lucien Freud 6-Nov-21 10-Feb-22

Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia 9-Dec-21 18-Apr-22

A selection from the State Art Collection 18-Dec-21 17-Mar-22

Michael Jalaru Torres: Jurru 29-Jan-22 3-Jul-22

Rooftop Rewritten 18-Mar-22 18-Apr-22

Bábbarra Women’s Centre 24-Mar-22 17-Jul-22

Tracks We Share: Contemporary Art of the Pilbara 11-Mar-22 28-Aug-22

BlakLight 18-Mar-22 18-Apr-22

Sharyn Egan: Boorongur | Totem 18-Mar-22 4-Dec-22

The West Australian Pulse 20-Apr-22 21-Jul-22

Regional Exhibition Touring Boost:
Freighting Ideas: There Were Moments of Transformation
             Albany Town Hall
           Geraldton Regional Art Gallery
           Bunbury Regional Art Gallery

3-Jul-21
27-Aug-21
27-Nov-21

15-Aug-21
8-Oct-21
6-Mar-22
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The Gallery’s performance for 2021–22 is in line with the annual priorities and objectives 
set out in The Art Gallery of Western Australia Operating Plan and Budget for 2021–22.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:
• To improve our economic and environmental sustainability.

• To increase our expertise and improve our working environment.

• To improve our capital infrastructure and site plan in order to become a major 
attraction for visitors in the Perth Cultural Centre (PCC) and the State.

The Gallery’s performance for 2021–22 is in line with the annual operational 
priorities and objectives based on the AGWA Strategic Directions 2020–2025: 
125 and beyond.

OVERVIEW
The key strategic outcomes for AGWA are to meet the obligations of the Art 
Gallery Act 1959 and to achieve Government objectives for AGWA in contributing 
to the Western Australian community through engaging and inclusive services
to visitors. 

This will be done by creating an organisation which ensures environmental, 
financial, social and ethical sustainability. AGWA will strategically manage 
resources and relationships to maximise public benefit and value for more 
and to improve long-term sustainability.

Key strategies are to 
• Manage the Gallery’s §nancial resources and develop own source revenue; 

• Collaborate to grow the Gallery’s capacity and support through strategic 
partnerships and networks;

• Develop and sustain an innovative and inclusive workplace that empowers 
people to perform at their best;

• Maintain and improve infrastructure for visitors;

• Improve infrastructure performance for the care of the Collection to  
minimise cost and maximise environmental impact; and

• Manage and improve corporate governance.

Improving AGWA Sustainability
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Improving AGWA Sustainability

Percentage of Total

Government 72%

Sponsorship and donations 13%

Commercial operations 2%

Other 13%

Expenditure against outcomes Percentage of Total

Collection management and conservation 10%

Access and community engagement 90%

OUTCOMES

The Western Australian Government provided 
operational funding of $10,119 million. AGWA 
attracted sponsorship and donations valued at 
$1,794 million. AGWA’s commercial operations 
were affected by COVID-19 restrictions impacts 
and delivered $0.248 million. The remainder of 
the revenue comprised interest revenue and a 
significant gain on investment revenue. 

The expenditure on collection management and 
conservations, excluding art acquisitions, was 
$1,124 million and on access and community 
engagement (less revenue) $10,620 million. 
*See efficiency indicators (pages 164-165).
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ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY
A key goal of AGWA’s strategic plan is to improve 
its financial sustainability through investing capital 
funds more effectively, prioritising its relationship 
with AGWA Foundation members and pursuing 
greater endowments and planned giving.

Following an open tender, AGWA appointed a firm 
to provide investment management advice and 
services for the Foundation funds. The investment 
of capital held by the AGWA Foundation will 
commence in the 2022–23 financial year.

In 2021–22, AGWA continued to expand the range 
of opportunities for donors to support AGWA 
operations and worked on developing better 
targeted fundraising strategies. This included 
launches of a new Bequest Circle, which honours 
and celebrates the important role that benefactors 
play in the development of the Gallery and the State 
Art Collection, and a new Annual Giving program. 

The Foundation programs continue to broaden 
opportunities for individuals and companies 
to engage with us and better understand how 
their investment in us supports a more vibrant 
visual arts sector and benefits the Western 
Australian community. 

Helen Maudsley The charming ladies, c1956. Watercolour and gouache on paper, 60 x 75 cm. The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia. Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation Annual Appeal, 2022. © Helen Maudsley, 1956.
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AGWA’s commercial operations were transformed in 2021–22 to both engage with 
new audiences and to generate improved revenue to supplement government and 
private funding. 

The ELEVATE project provided AGWA with a new bar and the only rooftop venue in 
Perth with a capacity for 500 people. While the rooftop only opened in November 
and the focus of work in the current year has been to establish its profile and build 
audiences, it has provided a major new attraction and highlight of AGWA’s 
venue offering. 

Following renovations on the ground floor, a new café and Design Store opened in a 
new location near the main entrance with a direct entry off the Perth Cultural Centre 
for passers-by. Due to construction and fit out delays the café opened in April and the 
Design Store in June.

The new Design Store focus will be on a better retail experience for visitors, with 
accessible price points with broader representation of Western Australian and 
Aboriginal design and art product. The sale of more Western Australian created 
products is part of an ongoing commitment by AGWA to support Western Australian 
creatives and provide an outlet for showing their work to the community. AGWA will be 
developing a range of own-brand products and tie-ins to the State Art Collection.

While net profits from commercial operations were low due to the cost of upfront 
investment in the new services, and limited trading during the 2021–22 financial year, 
the gross revenues were much better than anticipated with more than $1 million dollars 
received. These revenues demonstrated a very strong growth in commercial operations 
following the launch of AGWA’s new commercial services. 

AGWA Design Store. Photo by Rift Photography.

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
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COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

AGWA Rooftop Bar
AGWA Rooftop Bar has been an outstanding success in terms of revenue generation, 
audience attendance and audience diversification. The bar has a wide offering of local 
West Australian beverages which has been well received by the public. Activations 
have included Food Vendor takeovers and Meet the Maker sessions on Sundays which 
has allowed local vendors to engage directly with the Gallery’s audiences. The bar 
is family-friendly, and games and activities have been well received by children and 
families. Additionally, a consistent line-up of local DJs has cultivated a vibrant, diverse 
and artistic space that has increased engagement of youth and minority groups within 
the Gallery that previously had low engagement with AGWA. The bar continues to 
attract a variety of audiences ranging from corporate after work drinks, young people 
and families.

The opening of this venue and the sculpture walk has allowed for a range of activations. 
The opening event in November displayed the capacity the rooftop has for large scale 
events with a live performance by Middar Yorga Dance troupe, Gina Williams and Guy 
Ghouse, and Alter Boy. 

Venue Hire 
Venue hire continues to play an important role in audience development and income 
generation. AGWA offers a unique and creative venue to sponsors and clients, 
delivering a variety of events throughout 2021–22. Throughout the year, the refurbished 
main Gallery Concourse, Centenary Galleries and Theatrette have seen visitors 
attending a variety of functions, including dinners, cocktail events, media, product and 
book launches, work and business anniversaries, lectures and presentations. Despite 
interruptions resulting from the pandemic, more than 4,000 people attended such 
events this year.

New venues such as the Rooftop and Gallery 10 have been well received by corporate 
groups and have welcomed events hosted by organisations such as Seven West Media, 
Wesfarmers and WA Council of Social Services. Despite COVID-19 interruptions there 
has been steady engagement, with an anticipated rise in venue hire in the next financial 
year. These spaces have increased Gallery engagement as clients have incorporated 
tours of exhibitions such as The View From Here, Tracks We Share and Ever Present
into their events.

Next page |  DJ Miss Estonia, AGWA Rooftop, 2022. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Stewardship and Recognition
With the aim of broadening the appreciation and understanding of art in the 
community, Foundation supporters receive tailored invitations to unique events such as 
previews of major exhibitions, functions with featured artists or curators, tours with the 
Director, behind-the-scenes tours of the Collection and conservation labs, and more.

Supporters from all of AGWA’s giving programs – including Annual Giving, Foundation, 
Next Collective and Bequests – are now publicly recognised on the AGWA website 
giving page and on the AGWA Foyer LED screen (unless anonymity has been requested). 

A full list of Foundation Supporters follows as Appendix A from page 166.

Next Collective
Next Collective is AGWA’s philanthropic group for young professionals who share a 
passion for art and an interest in playing an active role in the direction of their State Art 
Gallery. Through a series of annual events and experiences, Next Collective members 
can widen their business and social connections, broaden their knowledge of art, and 
help shape the Gallery’s future. 

Next Collective members make a $700 annual tax-deductible donation to a pooled 
fund. Each year members gather for a live pitch event where they are presented 
with exciting options for where to focus their support. After receiving three equally-
deserving proposals, the 2021 Next Collective members voted to support a series of 
free workshops for Aboriginal artists, imparting new and invaluable skills in areas of arts 
administration, arts law, copyright, and more. 

Please read case study on following pages.

Agency Performance

The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation

Impact
The Foundation was the very grateful recipient of major gifts from long-term Gallery 
supporters Janet Holmes à Court AC, John and Linda Bond, and Michela and Adrian 
Fini as well as from the following donors we’ve recently welcomed to the AGWA family; 
Graeme and Lorraine Rowley, Dr Michael Martin and Elizabeth Popovski and The 
Spinifex Trust. 

Foundation supporters can choose to direct their support to the area that matters 
most to them. In 2021–2022, the Foundation recorded a significant increase in cash 
gifts received (financial statement available page 104). Gifts received in 2021–2022 
have been directed to the Gallery’s priority areas of social impact, public programs, 
exhibition development and AGWA publications.

The focus of the AGWA Foundation 2022 Annual Appeal was on historical and modern 
works and continuing to build on the representation of women artists within its holdings 
of work from these periods. Due to the generosity of AGWA supporters, the Gallery 
successfully acquired the work The charming ladies c1956 by senior Australian artist 
Helen Maudsley. This is the first work by Maudsley to enter the Gallery’s collection and 
its acquisition has assisted in addressing a critical gap of works by senior Australian 
women artists. 

A full list of acquired works purchased with Foundation funds can be found in 
Appendix C from page 178.

Investment
A key goal to improve AGWA sustainability is for the AGWA Foundation to manage its 
own investment of its funds, to maximise returns to enable it to continue its important 
work in support of the Gallery. Following an extensive tender process, a preferred 
firm was identified, and negotiations completed. A new Foundation investment sub-
committee was formed to oversee the performance of the agreement. The AGWA 
Board approved AGWA Foundation to take on the active investing role with funds 
entering the market in July 2022. 

Philanthropic support is vital in continuing AGWA’s growth and legacy, enabling the Gallery to enrich its community through art, now, and for future generations. 
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Annual Giving
Early in 2022, the Foundation introduced AGWA's first-ever Annual Giving program. 
Annual Giving is AGWA’s core giving group, the lifeforce of the Gallery. AGWA’s 
Annual Giving supporters are the first to learn about AGWA’s acquisitions, plans and 
developments, are invited to a dynamic program of exclusive events, including private 
viewings and hosted tours, and gain behind-the-scenes access to AGWA’s exhibitions 
and programs. With support for this program starting from $1,000 up to $50,000 per 
year, Annual Giving suits supporters who are eager to belong to an exclusive group of 
like-minded donors with a strong connection to the State Gallery. 

AGWA Bequest Circle
AGWA's new Bequest Circle launched in May. AGWA supporters gathered for a sunny 
morning tea on the AGWA Rooftop, hosted by Janet Holmes à Court AC, AGWA Board 
Chairman, and Paul Chamberlain, AGWA Foundation Council Chair. The Bequest 
Circle is a special group of Gallery supporters who have made a provision for AGWA 
in their will. Members of the AGWA Bequest Circle are afforded exclusive recognition, 
privileges, and opportunities. AGWA is delighted to welcome new bequestors to 
AGWA's tight-knit family of generous and passionate art lovers and philanthropists.

AGWA Giving Circle
AGWA is thrilled to have acquired a magnificent new work, brought about by a 
collective donation made by a very generous group of WA women. The acquisition 
of this work contributes to AGWA’s endeavours to celebrate and profile outstanding 
female activity across the visual arts. This wonderful work, titled Yolngu Retjangura 
(People in the Jungle) is a major piece by the late Ms. N. Yunipingu (1945-2021) who 
was acclaimed for her gift of mark-making and storytelling. AGWA would like to 
acknowledge the efforts of Linda Savage, a long-time supporter of AGWA, who 
championed this group and is constantly advocating for women in the arts.

Some of the AGWA Giving Circle members in front of the work Yolngu Retjangura (People in the Jungle), 2014 
by Ms N. Yunupingu.

Throughout the 2021–2022 year, the AGWA Foundation introduced new giving 
programs to help the Gallery deliver programs, exhibitions, and future-focused projects 
that benefit the whole community.



Case 
Study

Next Collective
Next Collective makes a big impact at AGWA 
with Aboriginal Artist Workshops Series Next Collective members in front of Overgrown, 2021 by Tyrown Waigana.
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In June 2022, AGWA hosted a three-day series of free workshops for Aboriginal artists, 
the series being the first of its kind at AGWA. The workshops were made possible
by AGWA’s Next Collective, the Gallery’s dedicated group of young and
emerging philanthropists. 

The workshops garnered overwhelmingly positive feedback and, as a result, AGWA is 
already looking into the possibility of hosting a second series.

Workshop participants came from all walks of life and roles within the arts industry. 
Several attendees were practicing artists, one attendee was a digital producer, another 
had started a community art space for Aboriginal artists, another worked with artists 
in prisons, and two participants on the final day were so inspired by the workshop they 
decided to join the AGWA Gallery Guides. 

Around half of the attendees had never been inside the Gallery before. Getting a local 
community of Aboriginal artists and arts workers through the Gallery doors and letting 
them know that AGWA is a safe and welcoming place for everyone was an important 
objective and will enable the Gallery to expand its networks and offerings for Aboriginal 
artists in the future. 

The topics covered over the three-day series ranged from copyright, intellectual 
property, and contracts, to how to value, market, and promote artworks. At the end of 
the final day, Senior Curator and Head of Indigenous Programs, Clothilde Bullen, took 
participants on a guided tour of AGWA’s current exhibitions. Clothilde’s tour sparked a 
lot of excitement, inspiring attendees to consider their own practice and opening ideas 
for new ways of working, particularly after a conversation with Lilly Blue in the Gallery 
09 Boorongur | Totem learning space, a collaboration between AGWA and Nyoongar 
artist Sharyn Egan. 

Participants gathered at the end of the last day to informally provide feedback. One 
participant commented, “I just want to say a huge thank you for putting the workshop 
together. You both do great work. I hope to see more workshops like this in the future.” 

AGWA is incredibly grateful to its Next Collective donors for making this project 
possible. Each new $700 Next Collective donation between 1 July 2022 – 30 June 
2023 will be matched by the Minderoo Foundation, potentially providing up to 

$40,000 of additional funding, provding the ability to raise up to $80,000 towards 
its next project. 

Projects previously funded by Next Collective include AGWA’s first-ever foyer mural 
wall by Emerging Australian First Nations artist Tyrown Waigana (2021), and an
artist-led creative learning project for independent artists and school children with 
Andy Quilty (2020). 

“I just want to say a huge thank you for 
putting the workshop together. You 
both do great work. I hope to see more 
workshops like this in the future.” 
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AGWA Foundation Council

The Foundation is overseen by the Foundation Council, a voluntary group whose 
primary role is to develop and continually expand a network of individuals and 
organisations to provide financial support to the Gallery.

Paul Chamberlain, Chair 

David Alder

Linda Bond

Sarah D’Onofrio 

Janet Holmes à Court AC, AGWA Board Chairman

Michela Fini 

Dr Andrew Lu AM

Paula Rogers (from Sept 2021) 

Colin Walker, AGWA Director

By Invitation:

Stephen Whitehead, Chief Financial Officer 

Teresa Fantoni, Foundation Manager

Emma Cornwall, Foundation Manager

Louella Hayes, Fundraising Manager

Giulia Oliveri, Next Collective Representative (to Dec 2021)

Minali Gamage, Next Collective Representative (from Jan 2022)

Zamia Pedro, Next Collective Representative (from Jan 2022)

Paul Chamberlain, Chair 

Paul is a philanthropist and investor who has a strong interest in the arts and is a 
passionate collector mainly of work by street artists. Originally from Bristol, UK, Paul is 
an entrepreneur who in his 26 years in Australia has worked in the property, investing 
and automotive industries. Paul is on the Board of several not-for-profit organisations 
and has been the Chairman of FORM for a number of years. He was also instrumental in 
the development of collective giving initiative, Impact100 WA and ArtsImpact WA.

David Alder 

David is Co-Founder and Director of Alder & Partners Private Wealth Management. 
Continuing the family tradition (sixth generation) of providing financial advisory and 
investment management services to private clients, not for profit entities, and corporate 
clients, he has been employed in the Australian securities industry since 2001. He is a 
Certified Financial Planner and holds a Bachelor of Commerce, Diploma of Financial 
Planning, and Diploma of Arts (Furniture Design). David is Co-Chairman of the Western 
Australian Anglicare Winter Appeal Committee which raises funds to assist people 
to cope with the challenges of life and relationships. He is a Fellow of the AGWA 
Foundation and is married with two children.

Sarah D’Onofrio

Sarah has a career spanning 20 years in the stockbroking industry with accumulated 
knowledge and skill across the areas of direct equity trading, corporate and wealth 
management in Australia. She is an Associate Director of Canaccord Genuity, a 
leading full-service international financial services firm. As a Trustee on the Simon 
Lee Foundation, Sarah is involved in the strategic planning and execution building 
enthusiasm and energy around project outcomes and relationships with large 
institutions across Australia in the Arts and Medical Research space. She is also the 
Chairperson for the Development Advisory Network at Telethon Kids Institute. Ms 
D’Onofrio is a member of The Stockbrokers and Investment Advisers Association.
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Dr Andrew Lu AM 

Andrew is a partner of HBA Legal where he leads the health industry practice and 
helps doctors, hospitals and aged care facilities to manage legal and commercial risks. 
He actively supports the cultural sector on the boards of the Australian Youth 
Orchestra, Arts Law Centre of Australia, National Gallery of Australia Foundation, 
and by commissioning work from living artists. Andrew holds masters and doctoral 
degrees in law, is a Fellow of the Australian Academy of Law and the Australian 
and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance. Andrew received the Order of 
Australia medal in 2008, and was recognised for his service to the arts and made 
Member of the Order of Australia in the Queen’s Birthday 2021 Honours List. He is a 
Benefactor of the AGWA Foundation, and a Next Collective Ambassador.

Paula Rogers

Paula has over 25 years of management, sales, marketing and business development 
expertise in roles such as General Manager, Communications and Marketing Manager, 
Advertising Director, GM Sales and Marketing, Publisher and Event Management 
 CEO. After four years as the State Director for Western Australia at the Committee 
for Economic Development of Australia, Paula has restarted her own business 
consulting firm.

Minali Gamage

Minali is a corporate governance professional who has worked primarily in the mining 
and utilities sectors. She is currently the General Manager Audit & Risk at Northern Star 
Resources and a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia. The arts have always 
been a great joy in her life and promoting the arts in Perth is a passion of hers; primarily 
through her @perthartseeker Instagram account.

Zamia Pedro

Zamia has a longstanding passion for the arts and their invaluable role in society. Zamia 
is a Clinical Psychologist working in child adolescent mental health and currently 
leading clinical research in emergency mental health at Perth Children's Hospital, in 
partnership with Telethon Kids Institute. Zamia currently serves as Board Secretary at 
All Saints College. 

Next Collective Representatives

Minali Gamage and Paul Chamberlain. Photo by Rift Photography
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Annual Supporters 

Wesfarmers Arts 
In 2020, AGWA’s principal and longest standing corporate partner extended its 
partnership with AGWA for a further five years. The relationship between AGWA and 
Wesfarmers spans across many areas from a rotating display of loaned works displayed 
in the Gallery from the esteemed Wesfarmers Collection; to supporting AGWA’s 
Volunteer Guides daily tours; and assisting AGWA to deliver public access programs. 
Wesfarmers’ enthusiastic support of arts and culture in the community is invaluable. 

Simon Lee Foundation 
The Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art (SLF ICAA) is a new 
Gallery initiative made possible through significant five-year funding support from The 
Simon Lee Foundation. The Institute will foster cultural and artistic collaborations and 
connections between Asia and Western Australia and presents a unique opportunity 
for the Gallery to illuminate global thinking about Asian art, incubate a new generation 
of significant artists, and invest in communication and capacity to disseminate art, new 
ideas and artists in Australia and the region.

Australia Council for the Arts 
AGWA has received significant funding to support the SLF ICAA program from 2022-
2023. Through the Australia Council’s support of this exciting new major project, 
Australian and global audiences will gain access to international-standard artists and 
artworks.

Australia Korea Foundation 
AGWA was the successful recipient of a three-year grant to support the activities of 
SLF ICAA, especially in relation to cross-cultural engagement and to raise the profile of 
contemporary Korean artists and expand knowledge into current visual
arts practice.

Healthway 
AGWA receives invaluable support for youth-focused activities, events and creative 
learning programs with an ‘access for all’ philosophy as a priority. In turn, AGWA 
promotes the Act Belong Commit positive mental health messaging with particular 
focus on youth and Indigenous audience engagement. 

The West Australian
The West Australian joined the AGWA family in 2022 as an Annual Partner for three 
years to provide in-kind support for Naming Rights of the Year 12 Pulse Perspectives 
exhibition (renamed The West Australian Pulse). 

SevenWest Media
The annual contribution is made up of editorial support and promotional support for 
AGWA across print and digital channels.

JC Decaux 
JC Decaux provides AGWA with substantial in-kind support across billboard and transit 
advertising, helping to communicate AGWA’s brand and increase audience visitation 
and engagement. 

AGWA receives valuable cash and in-kind support from its corporate sponsors to assist in the delivery of exhibitions, events and programs. 
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Singapore Airlines
AGWA’s International Airline Sponsor, provides support to assist with AGWA’s 
touring exhibitions and with curatorial and artist travel. Singapore Airlines 
promotes AGWA programs with their flyer membership and provides prizes 
to create awareness about upcoming exhibitions and incentivise attendance. 

Alex Hotel 
A boutique hotel located in the heart of the Cultural Centre, Alex provides the 
Gallery with accommodation support for visiting artists, performers, and other 
visitors, as well as collaborating with the Gallery on joint packaging, prizes and 
other visitor and guest benefits. 

Juniper Estate 
As Gallery’s annual wine partner, Juniper provides AGWA with in-kind support from 
their range of fine wines for all official openings.

Otherside Brewing Company
As AGWA’s exclusive brewing partner, Otherside not only provides a range of award-
winning beer to be enjoyed at AGWA’s exhibition openings and special events but 
shares news about general public entertainment events at AGWA.

Performance premiere by Kawita Vatanajyankur and Pat Pataranutaporn, Mental Machine: Labour in the Self Economy, 2022, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Exhibition Supporters Perth Cultural Centre Collaborations

Education Sponsors 

The Gallery is grateful for the generous support of its Education Sponsors, 
Department of Education and Catholic Education WA. Not only do they 
contribute financially to The West Australian Pulse, but they are integral 
in helping AGWA to promote the exhibition and circulate information to 
students and teachers in the WA schools' community.

AGWA hosted PICA Hatched artists in May for a tour of Tracks We Share, 
led by the exhibition’s curator, Andrew Nicholls. 

An Ever Present family day was presented in partnership with Propel 
Youth Arts as part of the 2022 Perth Festival.

Fifteen historical collection objects continue to be on long term loan to 
WA Museum Boola Bardip in the Origins and Stan Perron Treasures of
WA galleries. 

The AGWA Director sat on the Perth Cultural Centre TaskForce and Perth 
Cultural Centre Rejuvenation Steering Committee. 

The West Australian Pulse launch event. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Corporate Governance

AGWA is governed by the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia in accordance 
with the Art Gallery Act 1959. The AGWA Executive Team is responsible for 
performance and corporate management at AGWA. With the support of Department 
Heads, the Executive monitors the achievement of corporate strategies and objectives, 
oversees financial management and resourcing needs and coordinates activities across 
all areas of the organisation.

For details see the Governance section, page 82.

High standards of governance and accountability are also maintained by 
comprehensive business, performance and planning frameworks.

Workplace Environment

AGWA is establishing new working practices and providing additional support in key 
areas, with a focus on developing substantive equality and a greater diversity in its staff 
which better reflects the WA community. This ongoing development is supported by 
workforce planning and guided by specific strategies and targets, such as those in the 
AGWA Multicultural Plan 2021–2024.

AGWA is increasing the use of collaborative software to improve operations and 
provide more flexible ways of working onsite and from home. This approach has 
enabled more staff to work effectively from home when necessary and ensures offsite 
staff have better support during these periods.

AGWA is committed to providing a safe working environment for all. A physically safe 
and mentally healthy organisation is fundamental to ensuring staff can operate with 
confidence and achieve optimal performance.

For more detailed information on employment and industrial relations and work health 
and safety see the sections beginning page 93.

Risk Management and Audit

The Board has oversight of risk management at AGWA through the Board’s Audit and 
Risk Management Committee (ARMC). Following the development of a new charter 
the ARMC has an annual workplan, based on OAG better practice guidance, which 
assists members in fulfilling their independent governance and oversight responsibilities. 

A key aspect of risk management this year was ensuring the proper management of 
all ELEVATE project risks and the COVID-19 response. AGWA developed an updated 
COVID-19 Response Plan to help minimise adverse health impacts and disruptions to 
services during different stages of community transmission and the various scenarios 
that may occur.

In compliance with Section 53(1)(d) of the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
Treasurers’ Instruction 1201, AGWA has an internal audit function to improve 
governance, integrity, risk management and internal controls within the organisation. 
A number of performance and compliance reviews were undertaken in the year in 
accordance with the endorsed Strategic Internal Audit Plan. 

There were additional audits carried out by external auditors. The Department of 
Finance audited AGWA’s compliance with the WA Procurement Rules, Section F. The 
audit of the financial statements was undertaken by the Office of the Auditor General. 
The financial statements are included in the Financial Statements section. 

Procurement Reform

The State Government is developing a new Procurement Framework and as part of 
this the Procurement Act 2020 will be enacted in two stages. This reform is aimed 
at improving efficiencies and reducing red tape. Since 1 June 2021, when the Act 
commenced in full, AGWA is required to fulfil all procurement activities and obligations 
including undertaking and meeting the cost of audit of the procurement function. 
This role was previously undertaken on behalf of AGWA by the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries.

During the current year, AGWA developed a separate Procurement Framework and 
procurement processes. As part of the implementation of the new procedures staff 
have received additional training on procurement.
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ELEVATE ROOFTOP DEVELOPMENT

The ELEVATE rooftop development, a State Government Election Commitment, 
was a project to realise the original vision for the main gallery building in the lead 
up to its 40th anniversary in 2019. Construction commenced in August 2020 on 
the 125th anniversary of the Gallery. 

On 4 November 2021, Premier Mark McGown opened the rooftop at a gala event. 

The new rooftop spaces provide stunning views of the hills, the city skyline and the 
WA Museum Boola Bardip, and the combination of rooftop events, artworks and 
people is adding vibrancy to AGWA and the Perth Cultural Centre precinct.

A highlight of the rooftop is the eye-catching 34-metre-long artwork mural, 
Targets, 2020-21, by leading Noongar artist Christopher Pease. This iconic work is 
beautiful and critical to truth telling by providing the Gallery with insight into the 
history of this State and the connection of First Nations people with these lands.

ELEVATE, designed by Perth-based firm TAG Architects 
and Sydney firm fjmt, features:

• an external lift and skybridge from the Perth Cultural Centre precinct to allow 
people access to the rooftop after hours;

• a 500-person rooftop venue, the largest in Perth, with exceptional views;

• an open-air rooftop sculpture walk featuring works from the State Art Collection; 

• new conservation laboratories; and

• a new internal gallery located on the roof. 

A RENOVATED GROUND FLOOR
In January 2021, the Government approved additional works to modify the 
entrance and foyer of AGWA as an extension of the ELEVATE project. 

The renovation provides a more visible and welcoming main entry, to 
improve accessibility from and interaction with the Perth Cultural Centre. 

As well, visitors can now enjoy the exciting new Design Store and café 
service, located beside the foyer and with external access to the Cultural 
Centre, allowing both to operate independently to the main Gallery.

The rooftop design was awarded a commendation for 
public architecture in the 2022 Western Australian 
Architecture Awards.

Previous page |  AGWA Rooftop Bar, 2022. Photo Rift Photography.
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Balancing Act, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Amanda Bell From our lip, mouths, throats and belly, 2021. Neon, 
audio, 158 x 300 x 6 cm. The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased through the 
Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: COVID-19 Arts Stimulus Package, 2020. Photo by Rift Photography.

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
AGWA works with the departmental Asset Management Team, which is responsible for 
ongoing building maintenance, to ensure the Gallery buildings, which are all heritage 
listed, meet visitor expectations and international standards for the display and storage 
of the State Art Collection and works of art on loan.

The ELEVATE project provided an opportunity to address some strategic maintenance 
issues for the main building with the rooftop slab and membrane being replaced as part 
of the construction program and other essential maintenance work being done. 

A critical aspect of facilities management is ensuring environmental systems for the 
AGWA buildings and collection areas maintain the proper temperature and humidity 
controls which are an essential part of caring for the State Art Collection. This is 
especially challenging with heritage buildings and aging plant and longer-term planning 
for significant upgrades to the buildings is underway.
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STATE ART COLLECTION STORAGE
AGWA faces significant challenges because of the shortage of adequate space in 
which to store works of art which are not on display. Resolving storage issues was a key 
recommendation of the Office of the Auditor General (OAG) performance audit report 
on the management of the State Collection released in May 2018. While all works of 
art are stored in a properly controlled environment, the storage congestion creates 
potential risks of damage, and an increasing number of works are now being stored in 
commercial offsite storage. In the May 2022 State Budget, the Government provided 
funding for a Project Development Plan for new storage. AGWA and the DLGSC will 
present the plan for Government approval in the new financial year. 

AGWA continues to carefully manage storage conditions through ongoing measures 
such as stringent art handling controls to minimise risks working in congested storage 
spaces and storing recent acquisitions in temporary offsite commercial storage.

AGWA Infrastructure Development and The Perth Cultural Centre

The ELEVATE development with the addition of a redesigned foyer, Design Store and 
café/bar (see feature box) marks an important stage of AGWA renewal as an important 
cultural institution in the Perth Cultural Centre (PCC). The project is part of master 
planning for the wider PCC.

As part of the Perth City Deal, $35 million has been allocated to the rejuvenation of 
the Perth Cultural Centre. This investment will rejuvenate the Perth Cultural Centre 
precinct to create vibrant, safe and attractive areas to connect Perth’s cultural 
institutions and the surrounds, delivering improved liveability, cultural and tourism 
outcomes for the city.

This investment will deliver a redevelopment of the AGWA car park into a multi-arts 
space that will connect Beaufort Street to the Perth Cultural Centre ensuring that the 
quality that is presented inside AGWA is reflected throughout the public realm creating 
a whole new artist-led experience of AGWA and the PCC. 

As part of this project $2 million has been allocated to a Public Art Commission 
for AGWA. Following an international call for submissions a short-list of artists was 
presented. They will present their artwork concepts to AGWA for selection in
August 2022.

Combined, these initiatives will attract new commercial opportunities and audiences to 
AGWA, all through the creativity of its artists.

AGWA also completed a high-level business case with DLGSC and PwC, aimed at 
giving West Australians and tourists access to world-class art experiences across a 
redeveloped AGWA precinct. The business case was developed as a staged approach, 
and if supported, AGWA and the Perth Cultural Centre will become one of the 
country’s most significant art and culture employment centres and tourist destinations. 
The business case complements the Perth Cultural Centre masterplan and incorporates 
revitalised heritage buildings and a major new Contemporary Art Gallery on the Urban 
Orchard site.
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Significant issues impacting AGWA

The following issues have been identified as those which will be at the forefront of 
AGWA’s consideration in the coming year. 

AGWA will progress planning for a major project to develop an offsite purpose-built 
storage facility to free up space within the Gallery currently used for storage. This will 
allow an increased display of the $332 million State Art Collection and securely store 
the remainder in industry standard conditions. 

AGWA will implement a key step to improve AGWA financial sustainability with the 
investing of Foundation funds more effectively and the further development of its 
commercial offerings.

As part of the Perth City Deal project for the rejuvenation of the Perth Cultural Centre 
(PCC), AGWA will work with the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries on delivering a new multi-arts space in its redeveloped car park that will 
connect Beaufort Street to the PCC, ensuring that the quality that is presented inside 
AGWA is reflected throughout the public realm creating a whole new artist led 
experience of AGWA and the PCC. As part of the project, AGWA will commission 
a new $2 million landmark artwork installation. 

The Collection management priority will be the ongoing implementation of the 
Collection Development Plan and the Conservation Plan.

AGWA will deliver the Government’s Regional Exhibitions Touring Boost, which shares 
the work of Western Australian visual arts and the State Art Collection more widely 
within Western Australia, through new partnerships to deliver an enhanced program 
of exhibitions.

Next page |  Ever Present: First Peoples Art of Australia, AGWA Installation View, 2022. Richard Bell Kamilaroi/Kooma/Jiman/Gurang Gurang peoples Omega (Bell’s Theorem), 2013 (detail).
The Wesfarmers Collection of Australian Art, Boorloo/Perth. Photo by Rift Photography.
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ENABLING LEGISLATION
The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia is constituted under the authority 
of the Art Gallery Act 1959, listed as a Statutory Authority in Schedule 1 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and is subject to the provisions of the Public Sector
Management Act 1994.

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER
Hon David Templeman MLA, Minister for Local Government; Heritage; Culture 
and the Arts

THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia comprises eight members. Seven 
members are appointed by the Governor for a term not exceeding four years and are 
eligible for re-appointment. One member, the Director General of the Department of 
Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (or their representative) is Ex Officio.

One new member was appointed to the Board: Michael Bohn (from 17 May 2022). 
He replaces Jason Ricketts (resigned 22 September 2021). Geoffrey London (until 30 
June 2022) resigned from the Board during the year with the process to appoint a new 
member underway but not yet complete.

In 2021–22, the Board held six ordinary meetings and carried out its responsibilities in 
line with relevant legislation, the Board Members’ Charter and Code of Conduct.
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Janet Holmes à Court 
AC Chairman 
Janet Holmes à Court AC is owner of the Janet Holmes 
à Court Collection. She is Chairman of The Art Gallery of 
Western Australia (AGWA) and the Australian Children’s 
Television Foundation (ACTF). She is a Board Member 
of the Australian National Academy of Music (ANAM), 
a member of the Centenary Trust for Women Board 
of Advisors at the University of Western Australia, the 
State Buildings Advisory Board Western Australia and 
Commissioner for Australia for the Venice
Architecture Biennale.

Appointed in 2018 under Section 6(1)(a) 
of the Art Gallery Act 1959   |   Term Ends 2022

Clarissa Ball 

Dr Clarissa Ball is an art historian with particular interests 
in late nineteenth and twentieth century art and 
photography. Clarissa is currently the Head of the History 
of Art at the University of Western Australia where she 
is also the Director of the Institute of Advanced Studies. 
In 2018, she was appointed to the position of Deputy 
Director of the International Consortium, University 
Based Institutes of Advanced Studies. She previously 
held the positions of Dean of the Faculty of Architecture, 
Landscape Architecture and Fine Arts at UWA (2009-
2005) and Chief Examiner for TEE Art (2005-1999) and 
was a member of the then Department of Corrective 
Services Youth Justice Board (2017-2014).

Appointed in 2019 under Section 6(1)(a)
of the Art Gallery Act 1959   |   Term Ends 2022 

Michael Bohn 
(from 17 May 2022)

Michael Bohn is a Chartered Accountant with over 
13 years of audit and risk assurance experience 
across Australia and Norway with KPMG. Working 
predominantly with ASX and internationally listed clients, 
he specialises in complex accounting, risk assessments 
and financial statements related advice. Michael’s 
personal interests include a passion for music, art and 
architecture, and his previous voluntary commitments 
include supporting the Chamber of Arts and Culture WA 
and the Young Chartered Accountants Panel WA. He is a 
graduate of the University of Western Australia holding a 
Bachelor of Commerce (Financial Accounting; Corporate 
Finance) and a Bachelor of Arts (Fine Arts; Italian) and is a 
member of Chartered Accountants Australia and
New Zealand.

Appointed in 2022 under Section 6(1)(a)
of the Art Gallery Act 1959   |   Term Ends 2025
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John Day 

Hon. John Day was a member of the Western Australian 
Parliament for 24 years until 2017, representing the 
Darling Range and Kalamunda electorates successively. 
During his Parliamentary career, John served in a wide 
range of roles, including as Minister for Culture and 
the Arts from 2008 to 2017, and Minister for Planning 
(2008 to 2016). Through these two portfolios, he was a 
strong advocate for the State's cultural institutions, and 
for revitalisation of the Perth Cultural Centre precinct. 
Other portfolios for which he was responsible across 
three periods of government include Health, Science and 
Innovation, Police and Emergency Services. John is also 
Chairman of the Board of the State Library of WA and is 
an Honorary Fellow of the Planning Institute of Australia.

He is a graduate of The University of WA in Science 
and Dentistry, and prior to election to Parliament 
was a dentist with the Perth Dental Hospital and 
in private practice.

Appointed in 2017 under Section 6(1)(a)
of the Art Gallery Act 1959   |   Term Ends 2023

Appointed in 2020 under Section 6(1)(a) 
of the Art Gallery Act 1959 |  Term Ends 2023

Carol Innes 

Carol Innes is the Aboriginal Co-Chair of Reconciliation WA. 
Carol is a Co-Director of the Danjoo Koorliny Initiative based in 
the Centre for Social Impact at the University of Western Australia.

Carol was previously Manager Aboriginal Cultural Heritage & Arts 
at the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority concentrating on 
Aboriginal engagement in the urban development projects that the 
organisation delivers.

Carol has worked across Federal and State government agencies, 
and in the not-for-profit area and in Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Organisations. Carol has been working in the arts 
sector for many years. Carol is experienced in government at 
both State and Federal levels and in the community arts sector 
and is a certified trainer and assessor, facilitator and advocate 
of community cultural development. Carol is a mother and 
grandmother and is a very strong advocate for raising the profile of 
Noongar people in Western Australia.

Carol has a strong commitment to make a difference in the 
community to build stronger and meaningful relationships across 
the community to appreciate each other in all sectors.

Geoffrey London 
(until 30 June 2022)

Professor Geoffrey London is an Emeritus 
Professor at The University of Western 
Australia, a Professorial Fellow at The 
University of Melbourne and an Adjunct 
Professor at Monash University. He is a Life 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Architects 
and an Honorary Fellow of the New Zealand 
Institute of Architects. He previously held the 
positions of Victorian Government Architect 
(2008-14) and Western Australian Government 
Architect (2004-08). He is a consultant on 
urban design, architecture, design review and 
architectural competitions.

Appointed in 2016 under Section 6(1)(a)
of the Art Gallery Act 1959  |  Term Ends 2022
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Jason Ricketts 
(until 22 September 2021)

Jason Ricketts is the General Counsel of Minderoo 
Foundation and the Tattarang Group of companies. Prior 
to joining Minderoo and Tattarang in 2020, Jason was 
a partner at Herbert Smith Freehills for nearly 25 years. 
In that time, he held a variety of senior management 
positions, including stints on that firm's Board and Global 
Executive team. As a commercial lawyer, he specialises 
in general contractual and commercial matters, industry 
reform and restructuring, and major Australian and 
offshore infrastructure projects in the water, waste, 
transport, power and mining industries. Jason holds 
a Master of Laws (Distinction) from The University of 
Western Australia and is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Toni Wilkinson

Dr Toni Wilkinson is a photographer and coordinator 
of Photography and Illustration at the School of Design 
and Built Environment, Faculty of Humanities, Curtin 
University in Western Australia. Toni has exhibited 
internationally and widely throughout Australia and her 
photographs are held in significant national collections 
such as the National Portrait Gallery, Art Gallery WA, City 
of Perth, Murdoch University Art Collection, Edith Cowan 
University Art Collection, St John of God Murdoch 
Hospital and others. Toni is also a member 
of Art Collective WA.

Lanie Chopping

Lanie Chopping is Director General of the Department of 
Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries. She has 
extensive experience in regulatory and citizen-focused 
roles across Western Australia’s public sector. 

Lanie was formerly the Commissioner for Consumer 
Protection and the Acting Executive Director for 
Consumer Protection at the Department of Mines, 
Industry Regulation and Safety. She has also held senior 
positions at the Department of the Premier and Cabinet, 
the Economic Regulation Authority and the West 
Australian Council of Social Service.

Appointed in 2016 under Section 6(1)(a) 
of the Art Gallery Act 1959  |   Term Ends 2022

Appointed in 2015 under Section 6(1)(a) 
of the Art Gallery Act 1959  |  Term Ended 2021

Appointed in 2021 under Section 6(1)(b) of the Art Gallery 
Act 1959 | Ex Officio, Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries
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The Board has three committees to assist in the performance of its functions. All Board 
Members are invited to attend any Committee meeting. The formal committees of the 
Bard and their membership at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to accounting, reporting,
risk management and legal compliance practices. 

Members

Jason Ricketts (until 22 September 2021)

John Day (Acting Chair from 23 September 2021)

Michael Bohn (Committee member until May, then Board representative)

Executive Officer

Colin Walker (Director and CEO)

Observers

Brian Stewart (Deputy Director | Director Corporate Services)

Rod Forgus (Internal Auditor Manager, State Library)

Stephen Whitehead (Chief Financial Officer)

Jay Teichert (Office of the Auditor General)

COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT AND 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
Assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the management and care of 
the State Art Collection.

Members

Janet Holmes à Court AC (Chairman)

Toni Wilkinson (Board representative)

Ian MacLeod (Committee member)

Sandra Murray (Committee member)

Executive Officer

Colin Walker (Director and CEO)

By Invitation

Melissa Harpley (Manager of Curatorial Affairs)

Brian Stewart (Deputy Director | Director Corporate Services)
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Assists the Board in achieving its objective of ensuring Board membership has the appropriate composition
to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties and to ensure good succession planning.

Members

Janet Holmes à Court AC (Chairman)

All Board Members 



88

Governance

Operational Structure

Foundation, responsible for:

• Foundation and benefaction; and

• Corporate sponsorship and partnerships. 

Corporate Services, responsible for:

• Strategic planning;

• Governance – policy, legal, risk and WHS; 

• Human resource management and workforce planning 
(WAM and DLGSC HR teams provide HR services);

• Financial services (the Chief Finance O¾cer provides 
§nancial services to AGWA and DLGSC);

• Site management (DLGSC provides facilities 
management services);

• Information and communication services and  
digital development; and

• Records management.

See Appendix B for a full list of the Gallery Staff

At 30 June 2022, AGWA operates under a 
structure of five business units as detailed below. 

Office of the Chief Executive, responsible for:

• Leadership and strategic development; including 
workforce planning;

• Board; and

• Strategic relations and partnerships. 

Collections, responsible for:

• Collection development; 

• Collection management and conservation. 

Exhibitions and Displays, responsible for:

• Program planning;

• Exhibitions and displays;

• Regional initiatives.

Marketing and Commercial Development,  
responsible for:

• Marketing, communications and media;

• Audience research;

• Visitor engagement, including Learning, Visitor 
Services, Guides, Volunteers; and

• Commercial operations, including retail, café and 
venue hire. 
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Governance

Operational Structure

• Art Gallery Act 1959

• Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation Rules 1959

• Art Gallery Act (Common Seal) Regulations 1979

Other key legislation impacting on the 
Gallery include: 

• Auditor General Act 2006 

• Disability Services Act 1993 

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

• Emergency Management Act 2005 

• Financial Management Act 2006 

• Freedom of Information Act 1992 

• Industrial Relations Act 1979 

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 

• Procurement Act 2020 

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 

• Public Sector Management Act 1994 

ADMINISTERED LEGISLATION AND OTHER KEY LEGISLATION 

Legislation and Regulations administered by the Board: 

• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 

• State Records Act 2000 

• State Superannuation Act 2000 

• State Supply Commission Act 1991 

• Workers Compensation of Injury Management Act 1981
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Executive

Foundation Council

Minister for Culture and the Arts

Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries

The Art Gallery of Western Australian Board

Colin Walker
Director and Chief Executive Officer

Natalie Hewlett
Exhibitions and 

Projects Manager

Penny Tassone
Director

Marketing/Commercial 
Development

Melissa Harpley
Manager of 

Curatorial Affairs

Clothilde Bullen
Head of Indigenous 

Engagement and Curator 
Indigenous Art

Brian Stewart
Deputy Director,

Director of
Corporate Services 

Stephen Whitehead
Chief Finance Officer

The Gallery is responsible to The Board of The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia through the Director and CEO who is the Executive Officer of the 
Board. The Gallery is a statutory authority within the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) 

Operational Structure Chart

Governance
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Operational Structure

Performance Management Framework 

The Government’s goals are supported by the Gallery’s Strategic 
Directions 2020–2025. Specific achievements against these outcomes 
are detailed in the Agency Performance section of this report. 

Changes to Outcome-Based Management Framework 

There were no changes to the Gallery’s Outcome-Based Management 
Framework during 2021–22. 

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies

The Gallery did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in the 
reporting period.

OUTCOME-BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Government Goal

Growing Our Communities: Protecting our environment with 
thriving suburbs and regions.

Agency Desired Outcome 1

Western Australia’s State Art Collection 
asset is developed, appropriately 
managed and preserved.

Agency Desired Outcome 2

Western Australia’s State Art Collection 
and works of art on loan are accessible. 

Service

Cultural Heritage Management and 
Conservation.

Service

Cultural Heritage Access and Community 
Engagement and Education.

Effectiveness Indicators

Percentage of time the collection stored 
to the required standard.

Key Efficiency Indicator

The average cost of managing the 
Collection per Art Gallery object.

Effectiveness Indicators

Total number of visitors.

Total number of online visitors to website.

Percentage of visitors satisfied with
visit overall.

Key Efficiency Indicator

The average cost of Gallery services per 
Art Gallery access.

Governance
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Ministerial Directives

No ministerial directives were received during the year.

Other Financial Disclosures

Pricing Policies

All fees and charges are reviewed annually according to approved methodologies and 
adjusted in line with Department of Treasury advice. Fees and charges for services and 
for venue and equipment hire are available on the Gallery’s website.

Capital Works 

AGWA’s capital works program includes projects funded from State Government 
capital appropriations. Details of the major works are outlined below.

Capital Works in Progress

Nil. 

Capital Projects Completed

The ELEVATE rooftop construction, which began in August 2020, was completed this 
year. The redevelopment created a rooftop sculpture walk and function area with a bar, 
an additional interior gallery space. Supplemental funding was provided to complete 
the renovation of the ground foyer and adjoining shop and café space. The conservation 
lab was re-located from the rooftop level to a more convenient and modern facility on 
the lower ground level. The total cost of the project $13,187 million.

Employment and Industrial Relations 

Staff Profile

The Gallery employed 57 people in 2021–22 representing an average of 48.59 full time 
equivalents (FTEs) over the year. 

2020–21 2021–22

FTEs* at 30 June 45.8 48.59

Permanent – full-time 28 26

Permanent – part-time 7.9 8.99

Fixed term – full-time 8 9

Fixed term – part-time 4.9 4.6

45.8 48.59

2020–21 2021–22

Women 35 41

Men 19 16

Total 54 57

*The FTE figure represents the number of full-time-equivalent positions as at the end 
of the financial year – casual staff are not included.

Previous page |  Tom Malone Prize 2022, AGWA Installation View, 2022. LHS: Jessica Murtagh, Modern 
relic X: in this together, 2022. Blown glass, sandblasted and engraved; RHS: Tim Edwards, Ellipse #8, 2021. 
Blown and wheel cut glass. Photo by Rift Photography.
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Employment and Industrial Relations 

Staff Development 

AGWA is committed to staff development and during the year staff attended various 
professional development opportunities relevant to their role. 

Most training was provided through in-house training carried out by staff or through 
online training modules. Training activities ranged from new staff induction programs 
and specialist training, including conservators training staff on proper art handling 
techniques. Ongoing online training on using office software, including enabling 
better collaborative working and online meetings, has been provided through program 
modules available through the whole of government enterprise agreement with 
Microsoft. Additional online modules on better personal computer security have been 
provided by DLGSC to all staff.

AGWA maintained its commitment to supporting professional training in the sector 
through regular ongoing professional internships allowing studying or new professionals 
to gain direct experience working in an art museum. In 2021–22, two interns 
contributed 100 hours each to AGWA.

Workers Compensation 

No claims for compensation were recorded in 2021–2022.

Curator and Head of Indigenous Programs, Clothilde Bullen speaking at the official opening of the AGWA 
Rooftop, 2021. Photo by Jessica Wyld. 
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Other Legal Requirements

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards

AGWA staff hold corporate credit cards where their functions warrant usage of this 
facility. AGWA requires all holders of Government Purchase Cards to sign a cardholder 
agreement which states the terms and conditions under which the card can be used. 
All credit card transactions are required to be coded, acquitted, and approved by a 
manager every month. 

This financial year a WA Government Purchasing Card was used for a personal purpose 
on six occasions, for a total cost of $497.29. The instances were investigated and 
determined to be minor, inadvertent use of purchase cards and the total amount was 
repaid. There was no referral for disciplinary action.

All staff are reminded periodically about the proper use of purchasing cards, including 
the process to follow whenever a credit card has been used for a personal purpose.

Payments made to Board Members

As all Board Members waived their fees this year, no payments were made during the 
reporting period.

Advertising

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, AGWA reports that it 
incurred the following expenditure during the financial year in relation to advertising 
agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations and media advertising 
organisations:

Totals

Advertising Agencies

Pretty Soon $80,731

Common State $24,387

Market Research Agencies

Culture Counts $2,500

Expenditure with Media Advertising Agencies

Initiative Media $201,680

Social Media: Facebook / Google $78,318

Others $31,474

Total Expenditure $419,090
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

AGWA’s current Disability Access and Inclusion Plan ensures that all visitors, 
including people with disabilities, can access Gallery services and facilities. 
The plan is subject to review and is amended as priorities and needs change. 

Specific initiatives undertaken by AGWA this year to enhance access and 
inclusion in 2021–22 were:

• Continuation of the Art and Memories tour and Artistic Adventures 
workshop program for people living with dementia. 

• Expansion of the Art and Dementia program into a §ve-year partnership 
with the Centre for Social Impact to ensure the broader communities of 
people living with dementia can access research §ndings.

• Continuation of the partnership with the Austism Association of Western 
Australia and AGWA’s Voluntary Gallery Guides, to continue training 
guides and AGWA sta¿ and provide a series of Quiet Tuesdays for families 
who have children with autism. 

• Training by Vision Australia for AGWA Sta¿ and Guides on access for 
vision impaired 

Gallery activities and initiatives in 2021–22 that relate to the seven desired 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes included:

OUTCOME 1: 
Visitors with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
our services and events

• Assessment of exhibitions and displays 
to address access issues for visitors 
with disabilities;

• Wheelchair access/area at events;

• School holiday activities suitable for 
children with di¿erent levels of ability;

• Ongoing programs for people with 
disabilities, including such activities 
as the award-winning Touch Tours 
for sight-impaired visitors, ability to 
provide descriptor tours for visitors with 
low vision, and customised programs 
for speci§c group needs; and

• Companion Card accepted for all 
paid exhibitions.

OUTCOME 2: 
Visitors with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
our buildings and facilities

• Approved development of rooftop 
sculpture garden ELEVATE has been 
architecturally designed with access 
considerations and the inclusion 
of restroom facilities for people 
with disabilities; 

• Planning for new exhibitions and 
displays ensures issues related to 
access are considered;

• Provision of two standard wheelchairs 
and a motorised wheelchair, plus a 
walking frame with seat – all provided 
free of charge – to individuals requiring 
mobility assistance during their 
visit; and 

• An elevator is available to ensure 
people with disabilities are able to 
access the §rst and second Àoor 
galleries with ease. 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

OUTCOME 3: 
People with disabilities receive 
information at or from The Art Gallery 
of Western Australia in a format 
that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people 
are able to access it

• Provision of essential product 
information, including signs and 
didactic materials, in various forms. This 
includes provision of labels for major 
exhibitions in large font formats in a 
folder available from Reception, and 
a transcription of audio tours is also 
provided in print for those who cannot 
access the material aurally; 

• Video content posted on the Gallery’s 
website or social media platforms 
is subtitled;

• Provision of education experiences for 
students with disabilities; and

• A recorded information line is 
accessible by telephone.

OUTCOME 4: 
Visitors with disabilities receive the 
same level and quality of service from 
Gallery staff as other people who do 
not have a disability

• Continued development of sta¿ skills 
to promote a positive and inclusive 
service culture; and

• In-service training on disability 
awareness for Gallery sta¿ 
and volunteers. 

OUTCOME 5:
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to a public authority

• Provision of various feedback options 
including in person, telephone, email, 
and written correspondence.

OUTCOME 6: 
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as others to participate in 
any public consultation by the Gallery

• Inclusion of a random sample of the 
community as part of formal market 
research; and

• Ensuring that any consultation process 
targets representatives from the 
disability sector.

OUTCOME 7: 
People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to seek 
employment with the culture and the 
arts portfolio

• Ensuring recruitment policies and 
practices are inclusive; and 

• The Gallery's contract for cleaning 
services was awarded to Intelife, a 
company that speci§cally employs 
people 
with disabilities.

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards  
and Ethical Codes

Recordkeeping Plan

AGWA is one of four portfolio agencies that fall under the DLGSC.

The AGWA Human Resources (HR) team works with DLGSC HR to review and update 
workforce policies, procedures and guidelines to ensure they align with contemporary 
legislative and compliance frameworks. The AGWA HR team works with managers 
across the Gallery to ensure compliance with Public Sector legislative and
regulatory frameworks. 

The ethical compliance of AGWA employees is underpinned by the DLGSC Code of 
Conduct. New staff and volunteers are introduced to, and agree to be bound by, the 
Code of Conduct during their induction.

Ongoing compliance is supported by compulsory accountable and ethical decision-
making training and was completed by new staff as part of their induction program. A 
refresher accountable and ethical decision-making program for all staff was developed 
during the year and will be delivered to all staff in the new financial year. 

AGWA is committed to educating its workforce in the Public Sector Standards and 
ethical codes. AGWA communicates new or updated policies and guidelines to all staff 
and provides advice or training as required. New staff receive training on the minimum 
legislative requirements for working within the public sector including, but not limited to 
recordkeeping, procurement, and freedom of information. 

In the 2021–22 financial year, AGWA recorded:

• No breaches of the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management;

• One breach of the Public Sector Code of Ethics and Culture and Arts Portfolio Code 
of Conduct;

• No breaches of the Grievance Standard;

• One incidence of misconduct requiring investigation; and

• No Public Interest Disclosure was lodged. 

AGWA, as required under section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, has a Record 
Keeping Plan that describes how recorded information is created and managed 
within the organisation.

AGWA reviews its Record Keeping Plan every five years or when there is a 
significant change to the organisation’s functions. The AGWA Record Keeping Plan 
was reviewed and registered with the State Records Office in 2018 and will next be 
reviewed no later than September 2023.

AGWA Records Officers monitor, review and update practices to maintain and 
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of AGWA’s record keeping and the use of 
the electronic document and records management system, Content Manager.

AGWA has more than 109,000 documents registered in Content Manager with 
15,053 new documents added in 2021–22.

To ensure good record-keeping practices there is a regular training program. All new 
staff are trained on basic recordkeeping principles in the induction program as a 
mandatory requirement. The induction provides staff with an understanding of their 
roles and responsibilities in respect of their compliance in keeping of records and to 
ensure the maintenance of a strong recordkeeping culture. 

Content Manager users complete hands-on training on how to use the system. 
Further resources and guidance are available to all staff through the DLGSC intranet. 
AGWA Records staff provide ongoing support and are available to provide one-to-
one assistance on a as needs basis. 

The record keeping training program is regularly reviewed and staff usage of 
Content Manager is monitored to identify gaps in usage where users may require 
further training or support. Training materials and record keeping resources are also 
regularly reviewed and made available on the DLGSC intranet. 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Next Page  |  AGWA Rooftop featuring Targets, 2020-2021 by Christopher Pease.
Photo by Robert Frith, Acorn Photography.
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Recordkeeping Plan

Artist Title Date and details
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Government Policy Requirements

Work Health Safety and Injury Management

AGWA is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy and safe working 
environment for all its employees, contractors and visitors. 

The AGWA Work Health & Safety Framework 2020–2023 provides the strategic 
framework for managing work health and safety across AGWA. 

A key part of occupational health and safety management is the five-yearly assessment 
Work Health and Safety Workplace Assessment which was completed independently in 
2017–18 and the findings formed the basis of the AGWA WHS Improvement Action Plan 
which was endorsed in June 2017. The Plan covers improvement actions across all five 
of the WorkSafe Plan elements.

The Work Health and Safety Committee, including the elected employee 
representatives, supports work health safety consultation within AGWA. The 
Committee meets regularly to discuss and resolve issues and review progress against 
the WHS Improvement Action Plan. The Committee members help ensure that all staff 
are kept aware of WHS matters.

The AGWA Executive ensure that policies and procedures are communicated to all staff 
through team meetings and briefings and regular WHS events. AGWA has developed a 
Wellness Program to support ongoing staff health and wellbeing through a variety of 
programs and activities.

AGWA will be delivering an online training program to all managers and supervisors in 
2022–23 covering their responsibilities under the new WHS regulations which came 
into effect in 2022.

The AGWA COVID-19 Response Plan, informed by the AGWA Pandemic Plan and 
Government and official health advice has guided AGWA in responding to different 
phases of the pandemic.

AGWA Rooftop Sunset Yoga. Photo by YM | PHOTOGRAPHY.
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Government Policy Requirements

Compliance with Injury Management Requirements

Measure
Results

2019–20(1)

Results
2020–21

Results
2021–22

Targets
(-1)

Comments about targets

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Target achieved

Number of severe claims 0 0 0 0 Target achieved

Lost time injury and disease incident rate 0 0 0 0 or 10% reduction Target achieved

Lost time injury and disease severity rate 0 0 0 0 or 10% reduction Target achieved

Percentage of injured workers (i)  13 weeks 100% 100% 100% Target achieved Target achieved

returned to work within (ii) 26 weeks 100% 100% 100% Target achieved Target achieved

Percentage of managers and supervisors trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury management 
responsibilities

87% 50% 50%
Greater than or equal to 

80%

AGWA will deliver an online 
training program to all managers 

in 2022–23

Note (1) The performance reporting examines a three-year trend and, as such, the comparison base year is to be two years prior to the current reporting year (please refer to the 
Disclosures and Legal Compliance section of the Annual Reporting Framework as published by the Public Sector Commission for comparison base year and current year details). 



102

Government Policy Requirements

WA Multicultural Policy Framework

In line with the Western Australian Multicultural Policy Framework for the WA public 
sector, AGWA developed an inaugural AGWA Multicultural Plan 2021–2024 in 
February 2021. Key achievements against the policy priority areas are as follows:

Policy Priority 1 – Harmonious and inclusive communities

All staff have completed cultural competency training. AGWA has launched the Simon 
Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art, a major project focusing on art 
in the Asia region which will engage with regional artists and institutions and deepen 
engagement with multicultural communities in WA.

Policy Priority 2 – Culturally responsive policies, programs and services

The Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art project will support 
broader community engagement and include culturally responsive programming.

Policy Priority 3 – Economic, social, cultural, civic and political participation

AGWA has identified staff from culturally diverse backgrounds and is developing 
strategies to increase representation. Growing multicultural programs will increase 
opportunities for local artists and businesses to participate in AGWA services.

Substantive Equality

AGWA is an equal opportunity employer, committed to creating an equitable 
and diverse working environment and providing opportunities for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, people with disability, people from culturally diverse 
backgrounds and young people.

Employment practices at AGWA aim to mirror this, and Section 51 and Section 
50(d) under the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 are used where appropriate. During the 
year, AGWA has established a curatorial training program in partnership with Curtin 
University to train an Aboriginal assistant curator. The Regional Exhibition Touring Boost
(see page 54), an initiative to engage more with regional audiences, included a major 
collaborative exhibition organised with Aboriginal art centres and artists.

AGWA is producing more accessible programs for different audiences through 
initiatives under the Disability Action and Inclusion Plan 2019–2024 and the  
AGWA Multicultural Plan 2021–2024. 

Quiet Tuesdays programming is being developed to provide a more accessible 
experience to community groups on a day when the Gallery is closed to the  
general public. 

The partnership with Mind the Change, to develop and deliver workshops and guided
tours to people living with dementia, is a longstanding program. AGWA is now also 
working in partnership with Association of Autism WA and PTSD WA to provide 
appropriate programs and workshops tailored for children with autism and their 
families, and for people suffering from trauma.

The AGWA Foundation’s Next Collective members voted to support a series of free 
workshops for Aboriginal artists, imparting new and invaluable skills in areas of arts 
administration, arts law, copyright, and more. The first of these took place in June  
(see page 68).

Next page | Participants of the Artists in the Black workshop for Aboriginal artists (L-R) Ilona McGuire, Zali Morgan (AGWA Assistant Curator of Indigenous Art), Noelene Regan,
Victoria Coyne, Valerie Walton, Clothilde Bullen (AGWA Head of Indigenous Programs/Curator), Lea Taylor, Suzanne Derry (Arts Law), Kaya Carson. 
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Financial Statements 

Certification of financial statements for the reporting period ended 30 June 2022

THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

The accompanying financial statements of the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at 30 June 2022.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included within the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Janet Holmes à Court AC
Chairman 
Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia
29 September 2022

Michael Bohn
Member
Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia
29 September 2022

Stephen Whitehead
Chief Finance O©  cer
29 September 2022
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Financial Statements 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2022
THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

$'000 $'000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses   
Employee benefits expense      2.1(a) 5,389 5,430
Supplies and services 2.3 3,778 2,349
Depreciation expense 4.1.1, 4.2 112 95
Accommodation expenses 2.3 3,870 2,527
Grants and subsidies 2.2 343 315
Cost of sales 3.3 211 206
Other expenses 2.3 3,220 333
Finance costs 6.3 1 -
Total cost of services 16,924 11,255

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 3.2 293 158
Sales 3.3 898 379
Sponsorship 3.4 640 672
Donated works of art 3.5 330 262
Bequest trust and special purpose funds contributions 3.6 818 494
Interest revenue 3.7 131 117
Other revenue 3.8 1,703 6,615
Total revenue 4,813 8,697
Total income other than income from State Government 4,813 8,697
NET COST OF SERVICES 12,111 2,558

Income from State Government 3.1
Service appropriation 9,044 8,497
Assets transferred 1,075 824
Services received free of charge 499 46
Total income from State Government 10,618 9,367
(DEFICIT)SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD (1,493) 6,809

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 8.10 9,171 4,200
Total other comprehensive income 9,171 4,200
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 7,678 11,009

 The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

.

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000
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Financial Statements 

Statement of Financial Position for the year ended 30 June 2022
THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Statement of Financial Position 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 499 1,377
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1 28,314 27,778
Inventories 3.3 247 112
Receivables 5.1 205 180
Total Current Assets 29,265 29,447

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1 4,226 4,206
Amounts receivable for services 5.2 8,520 8,454
Other non-current assets 5.3 8,765 11,670
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 505 9,966
Works of art 4.1 342,615 332,633
Right-of-use assets 4.2 17 21
Total Non-Current Assets 364,648 366,950
TOTAL ASSETS 393,913 396,397

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 5.4 1,256 560
Provisions 2.1(b) 1,088 1,234
Other current liabilities 5.5 - 51
Lease liabilities 6.2 5 5
Total Current Liabilities 2,349 1,850

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities 6.2 12 17
Provisions 2.1(b) 138 225
Total Non-Current Liabilities 150 242
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,499 2,092
NET ASSETS 391,414 394,305

EQUITY 8.10
Contributed equity 46,053 56,622
Reserves 220,886 211,385
Accumulated surplus 124,475 126,298
TOTAL EQUITY 391,414 394,305

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes 2022 2021
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Notes Contributed equity Reserves
Accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) Total equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2020 54,904 209,481 117,193 381,578

Surplus - - 6,809 6,809
Revaluation increment - 4,200 - 4,200
Total comprehensive income for the period - 4,200 6,809 11,009
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 8.10

Capital appropriations 1,718 - - 1,718
Transfer to accumulated surpluses from reserves - (2,296) 2,296 -
Total 1,718 (2,296) 2,296 1,718

Balance at 30 June 2021 56,622 211,385 126,298 394,305

Balance at 1 July 2021 56,622 211,385 126,298 394,305 

Deficit - (1,493) (1,493)
Revaluation increment 9,171 - 9,171
Total comprehensive income for the period - 9,171 (1,493) 7,678
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 8.10

Capital appropriations 2,618 - 2,618
Distribution to Owners (13,187) - - (13,187)

Transfer to accumulated surpluses from reserves - 330 (330) -
Total (10,569) 330 (330) (10,569)

Balance at 30 June 2022 46,053 220,886 124,475 391,414

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes Contributed equity Reserves
Accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) Total equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2020 54,904 209,481 117,193 381,578

Surplus - - 6,809 6,809
Revaluation increment - 4,200 - 4,200
Total comprehensive income for the period - 4,200 6,809 11,009
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 8.10

Capital appropriations 1,718 - - 1,718
Transfer to accumulated surpluses from reserves - (2,296) 2,296 -
Total 1,718 (2,296) 2,296 1,718

Balance at 30 June 2021 56,622 211,385 126,298 394,305

Balance at 1 July 2021 56,622 211,385 126,298 394,305 

Deficit - (1,493) (1,493)
Revaluation increment 9,171 - 9,171
Total comprehensive income for the period - 9,171 (1,493) 7,678
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 8.10

Capital appropriations 2,618 - 2,618
Distribution to Owners (13,187) - - (13,187)

Transfer to accumulated surpluses from reserves - 330 (330) -
Total (10,569) 330 (330) (10,569)

Balance at 30 June 2022 46,053 220,886 124,475 391,414

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Statements 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2022
THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 8,978 8,424
Capital appropriation 2,618 1,718
State grants and subsidies 1,075 521
Net cash provided by State Government 12,671 10,663

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (5,621) (5,195)
Supplies and services (4,123) (2,367)
Accommodation (2,305) (2,554)
Grants and subsidies (343) (315)
GST payments on purchases (1,044) (1,409)
Other payments (360) (269)

Receipts 
Sale of goods and services 887 378
User charges and fees 248 92
Interest received 119 141
GST receipts on sales 189 118
GST receipts from taxation authority 903 1,264
Sponsorship 640 653
Other receipts 2,524 2,260
Net cash used in operating activities (8,286) (7,203)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets (4,707) (10,554)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,707) (10,554)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (322) (7,094)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 33,361 40,455
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 6.1 33,039 33,361

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

.

Financial Statements 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2022
THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Basis of Preparation

The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia ("the Board") is a W.A. Government entity and is controlled by the State of the Western Australia, which is the
ultimate parent. The Board is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective). 

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the 'Overview' which does not form part of these financial statements. 

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Board on 29th September 2022. 

Statement of compliance 

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with: 

1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)

3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) – Simplified Disclosures

4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.

The FMA and the TIs take precedence over AAS. Several AASs are modified by the TIs to vary application, disclosure  format and wording.  Where  modification is 
required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will 
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are  required to be made about financial  information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates  made in the 
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. 

Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except that the: 

a) amount of GST incurred by the Agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as part of an asset’s cost of 
acquisition or as part of an item of expense; and

b) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

Contributed equity

Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by
Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

2 Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

This section provides additional information about how the Board’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of   the items 
recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Board in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits expenses 2.1(a) 5,389 5,430
Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 1,226 1,459
Grants and subsidies 2.2 343 315
Other expenditure 2.3 10,868 5,209

2.1 Expenses

2.1(a) Employee benefits expenses

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits 4,221 4,084
Superannuation - defined contributions plans 480 448
Annual leave (a) 626 638
Long service leave (b) 46 124
Other related expenses 16 136
Total employee benefits expenses 5,389 5,430

Employee benefits: Include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid leave entitlements and paid sick leave, and non-monetary benefits (such as 
medical care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or services) for employees. 

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the 
termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Board is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. 
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2.1 Expenses (continued)

2.1(b) Employee related provisions

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Employee benefits provisions
Annual leave (a) 431 499
Long service leave (b) 550 627

981 1,126
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 107 108
Total current employee related provisions 1,088 1,234

Non-Current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 123 200

123 200
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 15 25
Total non-current employee related provisions 138 225
Total employee benefits provisions 1,226 1,459

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as 
an expense during the period the services are delivered.

a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services provded by employees up to the reporting 
date.

b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Board does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Board has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

The provision for long service leave are calculated at present value as the Board does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

2.1 Expenses (continued)

2.1(b) Employee related provisions (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Notes to Financial Statements 

c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  

2022 2021
Employment on-cost provision $'000 $'000
Carrying amount at start of period                            133 127
Additional provisions recognised                               3 (2)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits                             (14)              8
Carrying amount at end of period 122 133

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Board’s long service leave provision. These include: 

• expected future salary rates

• discount rates

• employee retention rates

• expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense. 

2.2 Grants and Subsidies 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Recurrent
Regional Exhibition Touring Boost 343 315
Total grants and subsidies 343 315

Transactions in which the Board provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in 
return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies (continued)

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific 
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 
They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments  made to public sector agencies, 
local government, non-government schools, and community groups.

For the year ended 30 June 2022 For the year ended 30 June 2022

2.1 Expenses (continued)

2.1(b) Employee related provisions

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Employee benefits provisions
Annual leave (a) 431 499
Long service leave (b) 550 627

981 1,126
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 107 108
Total current employee related provisions 1,088 1,234

Non-Current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 123 200

123 200
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 15 25
Total non-current employee related provisions 138 225
Total employee benefits provisions 1,226 1,459

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as 
an expense during the period the services are delivered.

a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services provded by employees up to the reporting 
date.

b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Board does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Board has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

The provision for long service leave are calculated at present value as the Board does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

2.1 Expenses (continued)

2.1(b) Employee related provisions (continued)
c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

2022 2021
Employment on-cost provision $'000 $'000
Carrying amount at start of period                            133 127
Additional provisions recognised                               3 (2)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits                             (14)              8
Carrying amount at end of period 122 133

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Board’s long service leave provision. These include:

• expected future salary rates

• discount rates

• employee retention rates

• expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Recurrent
Regional Exhibition Touring Boost 343 315
Total grants and subsidies 343 315

Transactions in which the Board provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in 
return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies (continued)

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific 
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 
They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments  made to public sector agencies, 
local government, non-government schools, and community groups.

c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

2022 2021
Employment on-cost provision $'000 $'000
Carrying amount at start of period                            133 127
Additional provisions recognised                               3 (2)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits                             (14)              8
Carrying amount at end of period 122 133

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Board’s long service leave provision. These include:

• expected future salary rates

• discount rates

• employee retention rates

• expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Recurrent
Regional Exhibition Touring Boost 343 315
Total grants and subsidies 343 315

Transactions in which the Board provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in 
return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies (continued)

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific 
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 
They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments  made to public sector agencies, 
local government, non-government schools, and community groups. 

c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

2022 2021
Employment on-cost provision $'000 $'000
Carrying amount at start of period                            133 127
Additional provisions recognised                               3 (2)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits                             (14)              8
Carrying amount at end of period 122 133

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Board’s long service leave provision. These include:

• expected future salary rates

• discount rates

• employee retention rates

• expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Recurrent
Regional Exhibition Touring Boost 343 315
Total grants and subsidies 343 315

Transactions in which the Board provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in 
return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

2.2 Grants and Subsidies (continued)

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific 
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 
They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments  made to public sector agencies, 
local government, non-government schools, and community groups.
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2.3 Other expenses

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Supplies and services
Exhibition fees - 10
Advertising 419 60
Repairs and maintenance 10 16
Travel 32 29
Contractors and consultants 1,641 565
Freight and cartage 89 76
Insurance premiums - current year 177 179
Materials - 101
Consumables 693 287
Printing - 79
Performance fees 154 303
Licenses, fees and registrations 176 116
Communications 15 50
Motor vehicles - 4
Minor equipment 96 49
Lease and hire costs 23 23
Entertainment expenses - 1
Photographic services 36 62
Bank charges - 6
Catering costs - 34
Other 217 299
Total supplies and services expenses 3,778 2,349

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2.3 Other expenses (continued)

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Accommodation expenses
Security services 1,963 1,438
Electricity and gas 743 742
Accommodation maintenance (a) 947 122
Cleaning 137 140
Water 62 62
Other 18 23
Total accommodation expenses 3,870 2,527

Other expenses
Revaluation loss of other financial assets  (b) 2,905 -
Workers' compensation insurance - current year 69 79
Workers' compensation insurance - prior year 172 151
Audit fees 36 73
Other expenses 38 30
Total other expenses 3,220 333
Total Other Expenditure 10,868 5,209

a) Included in this balance are payments of $nil (2021:$nil) paid to Department of Finance - Government Office Accommodation. 
b) This represents unrealised losses arising from Shares being fair valued at year end. See also note 5.3 Other Financial Assets.

Supplies and services:  

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution are 
expensed when the materials are distributed. 

Other:

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2.3 Other expenses (continued)

Building and infrastructure maintenance and equipment repairs and maintenance:

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that 
case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated. 

Expected credit loss expense is an allowance of trade receivables and is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The Board has 
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment.

Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long 
service leave liabilities is included at note 2.1(b) Employee related provisions.

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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3 Our funding sources 

How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how the Board obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and 
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Board and the relevant notes are: 

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Income from State Government 3.1 10,618 9,367
User charges and fees 3.2 293 158
Sale of goods 3.3 898 379
Sponsorship 3.4 640 672
Donated works for art 3.5 330 262
Bequest Trust and Special Purpose Funds Contribution 3.6 818 494
Interest revenue 3.7 131 117
Other revenue 3.8 1,703 6,615

3.1 Income from State Government

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Appropriation received for the period:
Service appropriation 9,044 8,497

9,044 8,497
Assets transferred from/(to) other State government agencies during the period:
State grants and contributions 1,075 814
Fixed assets transferred - 10
Total assets transferred 1,075 824

Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period:
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Services provided by The Department of Local Government, Sports and Cultural Industries:

Minor Equipment - PC Replacement Program
Building Maintenance – Specific Purpose Funding

40
450

41
0

Legal services provided by the State Solicitors' Office 9 5
Total income from State Government 10,618 9,367

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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3.1 Income from State Government (continued)

Service Appropriations are recognised as income at the fair value of consideration received in the period in which the Board gains control of the  appropriated funds. 
The Board gains control of the appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury. 

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises the following: 

• cash component; and

• a receivable (asset).

Grants and subsidies are recognised as income when the Board obtains control of the grant funding. The Board is deemed to have assumed control when the grant 
is received or receivable.

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as income (and assets or expenses) equivalent to the fair value of the assets, or the fair value 
of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated. 

Summary of consolidated account appropriations

For the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 Budget 
Estimate

2022 
Supplementary 

funding
Revised 
Budget 2022 Actual 2022 Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Delivery of Services
Item 75 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 8,458 586 9,044 9,044 -
Section 25 Transfer of service appropriation - - - - -
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 - - - - -
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 8,458 586 9,044 9,044 -

Capital
Item 137 Capital appropriations 518 2,100 2,618 2,618 -
GRAND TOTAL 8,976 2,686 11,662 11,662 -

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022



AGWA Annual Report 2021-22 119

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

3.2 User charges and fees

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Ticketing revenue 14 24
Venue hire 110 19
Public programs 22 16
Parking revenue 83 90
Reproduction 4 9
Sale of Discards 60 -
Total user charges and fees 293 158

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when the Board transfers control of the services to customers, which is generally at a point in time. 

3.3 Sale of goods

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Sales                             898 379
Cost of sales:
Opening inventory (112) (151)
Purchases (346) (167)

(458) (318)
Closing inventory                             247 112
Cost of goods sold (211) (206)
Trading profit                             687 173

Closing inventory comprises:
Finished goods 247 112
Total inventories 247 112

Sales

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when the Board transfers control of the goods to customers.

Inventories

The Board's inventories relate to stock held. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on an average cost basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
3.4 Sponsorship 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Cash sponsorship 640 669
Sponsorship in kind - 3

640 672

Cash sponsorship is recognised as revenue when it is received.

Sponsorship in kind is recognised at its fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased.

3.5 Donated Works of Art

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Donated works of art 330 262
330 262

Donations of works of art, which contribute to the development of the State art collection, are received from various individuals and brought to account as income at 
their estimated fair value at a point in time upon final delivery, assessment and accessioning of works. See also note 4.1 ‘Works of art’.

3.6 Bequest Trust and Special Purpose Funds Contributions

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Trust and special purpose funds contributions 818 494
818 494

Contributions are received from various parties for special purpose funds administered by the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia. In addition,  
bequest contributions  are, from  time to time, received from individuals as a result of long-term relationships with the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia. 
These funds are held in the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia’s operating bank account. 

Bequests trust and special purpose fund contributions are recognised as revenue upon receipt of the cash. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

3.7 Interest Revenue

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Interest revenue 9 10
Bequest trust and special purpose funds interest revenue 122 107
Total interest revenue 131 117

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

3.8 Other revenue

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Revaluation of other financial assets (a) - 4,745
Recoups of expenditure 2 18
Donations 1 7
Dividend income 1,485 1,235
Other revenue 215 610

1,703 6,615

a) This represents unrealised gains arising from shares being fair valued at year end. See also note 5.3 Other Financial Assets.

Dividends, grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Dividends and Other revenue are recognised when it is received.
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4 Key Assets 

Assets the Board utilises for economic benefit or service potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Board utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key 
accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets: 

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 505 9,966
Works of art 4.1 342,615 332,633
Right-of-use assets 4.2 17 21
Total key assets 343,137 342,620

4.1 Property, plant, equipment, and works of art
Plant, equipment and 

vehicles
Office 

equipment
Buildings under 

construction Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
1 July 2020
Gross carrying amount 2,449 830 614 3,893
Accumulated depreciation (2,141) (784) - (2,925)
Carrying amount at start of period 308 46 614 968

Additions 64 8 9,017 9,089
Depreciation (75) (16) - (91)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 297 38 9,631 9,966
Gross carrying amount 2,513 838 9,631 12,982
Accumulated depreciation (2,216) (800) - (3,016)
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4.1.1

Property, plant, equipment, and works of art (continued)
Plant, equipment and 

vehicles
Office

equipment
Buildings under 

construction Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
1 July 2021
Gross carrying amount 2,513 838 9.631 12,982
Accumulated depreciation (2,216) (800) - (3,016)
Carrying amount at start of period 297 38 9,631 9,966

Additions 85 46 3,702 3,833
Transfers - - (13,187) (13,187)
Depreciation (93) (14) - (107)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 289 70 146 505
Gross carrying amount 2,598 884 146 3,628
Accumulated depreciation (2,309) (814) - (3,123)

Works of Art

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Carrying amount at start of period 332,633 326,579
Additions 481 1,592
Donations at fair value 330 262
Revaluation (a) 9,171 4,200

342,615 332,633

a) In accordance with the Gallery's policy, Aon Risk Services has provided a valuation of the art collection as at 30 June 2022
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4.1.1 

Property, plant, equipment, and works of art (continued) 

Initial recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at 
its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Assets transferred to another agency that is part of the Department of Local Government, Sport, Cultural Industries portfolio are transferred at their fair value. This 
relates to Costs incurred on the Rooftop development ($13.187m) which was managed by the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia as an addition to the 
Main Gallery Building owned by the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries. 

No capitalisation threshold is applied to works of art items. Items of works of art are considered to form part of a collection and are disclosed separately in the Statement 
of Financial Position. 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of: 

• Works of art

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of works of art is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent market 
transactions.

Fair value for restricted use works of art is determined by reference to its estimated replacement costs.

Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence  does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets

The Gallery's works of art collection is subject to independent revaluation every five years, using a sampling methodology. As the collection is specialised and no market-
based evidence of value is readily available, the revaluation methodology used is based upon certain criteria that enable the collection to be valued at a reasonable 
estimate of its fair value. The last full independent valuation was completed in the previous financial year. Additionally, the fair value of the artwork collection is assessed 
annually based on changes in the market.
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Depreciation
Plant, equipment and vehicles 4.1 93 75
Office equipment 4.1 14 16
Total depreciation for the period 107 91

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment.

Finite useful lives

All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption 
of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include assets held for sale.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

Asset Useful life:
Office equipment 3 to 20 years
Plant, equipment and vehicles 4 to 20 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments are made where 
appropriate.

Works of art, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets because their service potential 
has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period. 
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment (continued)

Impairment

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where 
there is an indication of  impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income.

As the Board is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should 
not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment  loss had been recognised in 
prior years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there 
is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

4.2 Right-of-use assets

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Right-of-use assets
Building - -
Vehicle 17 21

17 21

The Art Gallery has a peppercorn lease in place for the building where the lessor is the Minister for Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries. The current lease 
is for 21 years and was signed on 14 December 2016 and the termination date is 13 December 2037. The lease has an extension option of seven years starting 14 
December 2037. The rent payable is one dollar ($1) per annum payable in advance or on the payment dates.

The Art Gallery also has a lease with State Fleet for a pool vehicle.

During the year, State Fleet replaced the existing car with a new vehicle, in line with the planned asset replacement.

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2022 financial year were $ Nil (2021: 22,000).
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4.2 Right-of-use assets (continued)

Initial recognition 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

• any initial direct costs, and 

• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset

This includes all leased assets other than investment property ROU assets, which are measured in accordance with AASB 140 ‘Investment Property’.

The Board has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with 
an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Subsequent Measurement 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liability. 

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Board at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using
the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1.
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4.2 Right-of-use assets (continued)

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income: 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Building - -
Vehicles 5 4
Total right-of-use asset depreciation 5 4
Lease interest expense (included in Finance cost) - -

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was $4,496 (2021: $4,000).  

The Board's leasing activities and how these are accounted for:

The Board has leases for vehicles.

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been disclosed in note 6.2. 
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5 Other assets and liabilities 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Board’s controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities 
incurred during normal operations: 

Notes 2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Receivables 5.1 205 180
Amounts receivable for services (Holding account) 5.2 8,520 8,454
Other financial assets 5.3 8,765 11,670
Payables 5.4 1,256 560
Other liabilities 5.5 - 51

5.1 Receivables

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Trade receivables 120 29
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables - -
Accrued interest - 28
GST receivable 85 123
Total receivables at end of period 205 180

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables 
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
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5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Non-current
Asset replacement (a) 8,336 8,270
Leave liability (b) 184 184
Total amounts receivable for services at end of period 8,520 8,454

a) Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement.

b) Represents leave liability holding account with Treasury WA.

Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the holding accounts).

5.3 Other financial assets

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Non-current
At fair value:
Fair value through profit and loss - ordinary listed shares 8,765 11,670
Total other financial assets at end of period 8,765 11,670

The shares have been donated to the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia as part of the Tomorrow Fund. Upon intention to sell the shares, an obligation 
exists to notify the benefactor of this intent.

During the year, the Board has not made a decision when to sell the quoted investments. 
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5.4 Payables

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Trade payables 589 278
Payables for works of art acquisitions 89 -
Accrued salaries 88 80
Accrued expenses 490 202
Total payables at end of period 1,256 560

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Board becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period 
end. The Board considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 

5.5 Other liabilities

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Income received in advance - 51
Total other liabilities at end of period - 51
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6 Financing 

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows of the Board. 

Notes

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1
Leases 6.2
Finance costs 6.3
Capital commitments 6.4

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents

6.1.1 Reconciliation of cash

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current
Cash and cash equivalents 499 1,377
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Bequest, trust and special purpose accounts (a) 28,314 27,778
28,813 29,155

Non-current
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (a)

Bequest, trust and special purpose accounts (a) 4,124 4,104
27th pay holding account with Treasury WA (b) 102 102

4,226 4,206
Balance at end of period 33,039 33,361

a) Cash held in these accounts can only be used in accordance with the requirements of the individual bequest or fund.

b) These are restricted balances for the 27th fortnightly salaries pay occurring in 2026-27.
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6.1 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

6.1.1 Reconciliation of cash (continued)

The "27th pay holding account with Treasury WA" consists of amounts paid annually, from Board appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account 
to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

a) These special purpose accounts can only be used for specific purposes.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short- term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

6.2 Leases 

6.2.1 Lease Liabilities

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Current 5 5
Non-current 12 17

17 22

Initial measurement

The Board measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Board uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western 
Australia Treasury Corporation.

Lease payments included by the Board as part of the present value calculation of lease liability include: 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

• payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the agency exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which 
case the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
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6.2 Leases (continued)

6.2.1 Lease Liabilities (continued)

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the Board if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependent on sales are recognised by the Board in profit or loss in the period in 
which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4.2 

Subsequent measurement

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications. 

6.3 Finance costs

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Lease interest expense 1 -
Finance costs expensed 1 -

Finance cost includes the interest component of lease liability repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of 
discounts to reflect the passage of time

6.4 Capital Commitments

Capital Expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Within 1 year 64 2,519
64 2,519
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7 Financial Instruments and Contingencies

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Board. 

Notes
Financial instruments 7.1
Contingent assets & liabilities 7.2

7.1 Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 499 1,377
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 32,540 31,984
Financial assets at amortised cost (a) 8,640 8,511
Financial assets at fair value 8,765 11,670

50,444 53,542

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,256 560

1,256 560

a) The amount of financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best 
estimate. 

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

7.2.1 Contingent assets 

As at 30 June 2022, there are no material contingent assets. 

7.2.2 Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2022, there are no material contingent liabilities. 
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8 Other Disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report. 

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1
Correction of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy 8.2
Key management personnel 8.3
Related party disclosures 8.4
Related bodies 8.5
Affiliated bodies 8.6
Special purpose accounts 8.7
Supplementary financial information 8.8
Remuneration of auditor 8.9
Equity 8.10
Explanatory statement 8.11

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There were no events after the end of the reporting period that warrant disclosure. 

8.2 Correction of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy

There are no corrections of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy that warrant disclosure.

8.3 Key management personnel

The Board has determined key management personnel to include cabinet ministers and senior officers of the Board. The Board does not incur expenditures to 
compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances. 

The total fees, salaries and superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the Board for the reporting period are presented within the 
following bands: 

Compensation band of members of the accountable authority

2022 2021
Compensation band ($)
0 – 10,000 8 8
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8.3 Key management personnel (continued)

Compensation band of senior officers

2022 2021
Compensation band ($)
5,001 – 10,000 - 1
10,001 – 20,000 1
20,001 – 30,000 2 1
30,001 – 40,000 - 1
40,001 – 50,000 - 1
50,001 – 60,000 -
90,001 – 100,000 1 1
100,001 – 110,000 - 1
120,001 – 130,000 - -
130,001 – 140,000 1 1
140,001 – 150,000 1 -
160,001 – 170,000 - 1
170,001 – 180,000 2 1
270,001 – 280,000 1 -
280,001 – 290,000 - 1

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
1,071 1,061

Total compensation of senior officers 1,071 1,061

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the agency in respect of senior officers. 

• During the year, a senior officer ceased in the role of Creative Director and another senior officer was appointed in the role of Curator Indigenous Art. 
Compensation for these arrangements is included in the above disclosures for each senior officer.
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8.4 Related party disclosures

The Board is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of the Board include:

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-
owned public sector entities);

• associates and joint ventures, of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with related parties 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Board, there was only one material transaction by a senior officer of the Accountable authority who is a shareholder
of a family company which successfully quoted to deliver a sub project associated with the Elevate capital project – aggregate value of their services over a number of 
transactions was $80,000. 

8.5 Related Bodies 

At the reporting date, the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia had no related bodies.

8.6 Affiliated Bodies 

At the reporting date, the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia had no affiliated bodies. 
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8.7 Special Purpose Accounts

The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation

The purpose of the trust account is to hold funds, comprising contributions and donations received from the community at large, for the purpose of
maintaining, improving and developing the State collection of works of art and the facilities and well-being of The Art Gallery.

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Balance at the start of the period 26,692 29,250

Receipts 2,364 1,822
Payments (866) (4,380)

Balance at the end of the period 28,190 26,692

The Board is required to advise the benefactor of the intention to sell donated listed shares.

See also note 5.3 ‘Other financial assets’

8.8 Supplementary Financial Information

a) Write-offs

There were no write-offs for FY2022 and FY2021

b) Losses through theft default and other causes

There were no losses for FY2022 and FY2021



140

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022

8.9 Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows: 

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators 36 37
36 37

8.10 Equity

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 56,622 54,904

Contribution by owners
Capital appropriation (a) 2,618 1,718
Distribution to Owners (13,187) -
Other contribution - -
Total contribution by owners (10,569) 1,718
Total contributed equity at end of period 46,053 56,622

a) Under the Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities'.

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 175,088 170,888
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
Works of art (a) 9,171 4,200
Balance at end of period 184,259 175,088

a) See also note 4.1 'Works of Art'.
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8.10 Equity (continued)

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Bequest, trust and special purpose reserve (b):
Balance at start of period 14,019 16,577
Transfer (to) /from accumulated surplus - (2,558)
Balance at end of period 14,019 14,019

b) The bequest, trust and special purpose reserve is used to record increments and decrements to bequest, trust and special purpose funds.

Donated works of art reserve (c):
Balance at start of period 22,278 22,016
Transfer (to) / from accumulated surplus 330 262
Balance at end of period 22,608 22,278
Total reserves at end of period 220,886 211,385

c) The donated works of art reserve is use to record donations of works of art received by The Art Gallery of Western Australia.

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period 126,298 117,193
Result for the period (1,493) 6,809
Transfer from / (to) reserves (330) 2,296
Balance at end of period 124,475 126,298
Total equity at end of period 391,414 394,305
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8.11 Explanatory statement

All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2022, and between the actual results for 2022 and 2021 are shown below. Narratives 
are provided for key variations, which are generally greater than (a) 10% from their comparative and that the variation is more than 1% of the dollar aggregate of the 
total Cost of Services for the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and Statement of Cash Flows (i.e. 1% of $11,228,000), (b) 10% from their comparative and that the 
variation is more than 1% of the dollar aggregate of the total assets for the Statement of Financial Position (i.e. 1% of $388,371,000). 

8.11.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Expenses
Employee benefits expense            1 5,749 5,389 5,430 360 (41)
Supplies and services           2,A 2,024 3,778 2,349 (1,754) 1,429
Depreciation expense 66 112 95 (46) 17
Accommodation expenses          3,B 2,483 3,870 2,527 (1,387) 1,343
Grants and subsidies 265 343 315 (78) 28
Cost of sales 258 211 206 47 5
Other expenses          4,C 383 3,220 333 (2,837) 2,887
Finance Costs - 1 - (1) 1
Total cost of services 11,228 16,924 11,255 (5,696) 5,669

Income
User charges and fees           D 210 293 158 (83) 135
Sales           5,E 567 898 379 (331) 519
Sponsorship           6 922 640 672 282 (32)
Donated works of art           7 - 330 262 (330) 68
Bequest trust and special purpose funds contributions          8,F 124 818 494 (694) 324
Interest revenue 140 131 117 9 14
Other revenue           9,G 833 1,703 6,615 (870) (4,912)
Total revenue 2,796 4,813 8,697 (2,017) (3,884)
Total income other than income from State Government 2,796 4,813 8,697 (2,017) (3,884)
NET COST OF SERVICES (8,432) (12,111) (2,558)      (3,679)                      (9,553)
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8.11.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances (continued)

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income from State Government
Service appropriation          10 8,458 9,044 8,497 (586) 547
Assets transferred          11, H 550 1,075 824 (525) 251
Services received free of charge           I 449 499 46 (50) 453
Total income from State Government 9,457 10,618 9,367 (1,161) 1,251
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 1,025 (1,493) 6,809 (2,518) (8,302)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 12, J - 9,171 4,200 (9,171) 4,971
Total other comprehensive income - 9,171 4,200 (9,171) 4,971
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,025 7,678 11,009 6,653 (3,331)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1. Employee benefits expense

There were some savings in the current financial year against the estimates which were due to the resignation of the Creative Director during the year, with the position 
then remaining vacant. There were other savings due to not filling the casual position for the shop whilst it was closed and some savings for not filling a permanent 
position for the rooftop bar when it was first established (contractors were used) and some other minor savings on the salaries of employees in the Directorate.

2. Supplies and Services

Supplies and Services increased by $1.7m in 2021-22 in comparison to the estimate due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate 
construction works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted 
services for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art 
from the Pilbara region presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.  These expense projections were not available at the time the 
Estimates were developed.

3. Accommodation expenses

Higher than estimated amounts are due to increased facility maintenance costs of operating the new rooftop facility.

4. Other Expenses

Other expenses increased due to the year end revaluation decrement on the FMG shares resulting in a $2.905m revaluation loss.  

5. Sales
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These were higher than the estimates with the opening of the new rooftop bar in November 2021 and the subsequent opening of the new café and design store at the 
end of the current financial year.

6. Sponsorship

These were lower than the estimates due to the impact of COVID protocols making sponsorship harder to attract in some areas in the current year in comparison to the 
estimates.

7. Donated works of art

Donated Works of Art in the current financial year were not budgeted in the Estimates.

8. Bequest, Trust and Special Purpose Funds contributions

Higher than anticipated bequest, trust and special purpose funds contributions in 2021-22 due to the Foundation generating more revenue in that area than budgeted.

9. Other Revenue

The increase in this area was due to a larger than budgeted dividend receipt from the FMG shares together with higher than budgeted franking credits on the shares.

10. Service Appropriation

Received a larger Service Appropriation, due to increased expenses related to the Elevate Rooftop bar project and an additional  $586,000 in supplementary funding 
appropriations which was received as a result.

11. Assets Transferred

Higher than anticipated income due to the Public Art Commission Project commencing.

12. Changes in asset revaluation surplus

Year-end revaluation of artworks was higher than the previous year.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Supplies and services

Supplies and Services increased by $1.4m in 2021-22 due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate construction works, the 
development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted services for the new 
rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region 
presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

B. Accommodation

With the completion of the new Elevate project accomodation maintenance costs and security costs increased in the current year in comparison with the previous year
due to the much larger area now within the building needing to be serviced.

C. Other Expenses

These were higher than the estimates with the opening of the new rooftop bar in November 2021 and the subsequent opening of the new café and design store at the 
end of the current financial year.

6. Sponsorship

These were lower than the estimates due to the impact of COVID protocols making sponsorship harder to attract in some areas in the current year in comparison to the 
estimates.

7. Donated works of art

Donated Works of Art in the current financial year were not budgeted in the Estimates.

8. Bequest, Trust and Special Purpose Funds contributions

Higher than anticipated bequest, trust and special purpose funds contributions in 2021-22 due to the Foundation generating more revenue in that area than budgeted.

9. Other Revenue

The increase in this area was due to a larger than budgeted dividend receipt from the FMG shares together with higher than budgeted franking credits on the shares.

10. Service Appropriation

Received a larger Service Appropriation, due to increased expenses related to the Elevate Rooftop bar project and an additional  $586,000 in supplementary funding 
appropriations which was received as a result.

11. Assets Transferred

Higher than anticipated income due to the Public Art Commission Project commencing.

12. Changes in asset revaluation surplus

Year-end revaluation of artworks was higher than the previous year.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Supplies and services

Supplies and Services increased by $1.4m in 2021-22 due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate construction works, the 
development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted services for the new 
rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region 
presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

B. Accommodation

With the completion of the new Elevate project accomodation maintenance costs and security costs increased in the current year in comparison with the previous year
due to the much larger area now within the building needing to be serviced.

C. Other Expenses

8.11.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances (continued)

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income from State Government
Service appropriation          10 8,458 9,044 8,497 (586) 547
Assets transferred          11, H 550 1,075 824 (525) 251
Services received free of charge           I 449 499 46 (50) 453
Total income from State Government 9,457 10,618 9,367 (1,161) 1,251
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 1,025 (1,493) 6,809 (2,518) (8,302)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 12, J - 9,171 4,200 (9,171) 4,971
Total other comprehensive income - 9,171 4,200 (9,171) 4,971
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,025 7,678 11,009 6,653 (3,331)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1. Employee benefits expense

There were some savings in the current financial year against the estimates which were due to the resignation of the Creative Director during the year, with the position 
then remaining vacant. There were other savings due to not filling the casual position for the shop whilst it was closed and some savings for not filling a permanent 
position for the rooftop bar when it was first established (contractors were used) and some other minor savings on the salaries of employees in the Directorate.

2. Supplies and Services

Supplies and Services increased by $1.7m in 2021-22 in comparison to the estimate due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate 
construction works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted 
services for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art 
from the Pilbara region presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.  These expense projections were not available at the time the 
Estimates were developed.

3. Accommodation expenses

Higher than estimated amounts are due to increased facility maintenance costs of operating the new rooftop facility.

4. Other Expenses

Other expenses increased due to the year end revaluation decrement on the FMG shares resulting in a $2.905m revaluation loss.

5. Sales
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These were higher than the estimates with the opening of the new rooftop bar in November 2021 and the subsequent opening of the new café and design store at the 
end of the current financial year.

6. Sponsorship

These were lower than the estimates due to the impact of COVID protocols making sponsorship harder to attract in some areas in the current year in comparison to the 
estimates.

7. Donated works of art

Donated Works of Art in the current financial year were not budgeted in the Estimates.

8. Bequest, Trust and Special Purpose Funds contributions

Higher than anticipated bequest, trust and special purpose funds contributions in 2021-22 due to the Foundation generating more revenue in that area than budgeted.

9. Other Revenue

The increase in this area was due to a larger than budgeted dividend receipt from the FMG shares together with higher than budgeted franking credits on the shares.

10. Service Appropriation

Received a larger Service Appropriation, due to increased expenses related to the Elevate Rooftop bar project and an additional  $586,000 in supplementary funding 
appropriations which was received as a result.

11. Assets Transferred

Higher than anticipated income due to the Public Art Commission Project commencing.

12. Changes in asset revaluation surplus

Year-end revaluation of artworks was higher than the previous year.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Supplies and services

Supplies and Services increased by $1.4m in 2021-22 due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate construction works, the 
development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted services for the new 
rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region 
presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

B. Accommodation

With the completion of the new Elevate project accomodation maintenance costs and security costs increased in the current year in comparison with the previous year
due to the much larger area now within the building needing to be serviced.

C. Other Expenses

The other expenses increased during to current year due to the revaluation decrement on the FMG shares resulting in a $2.905m revaluation loss.

D. User charges and fees

The user charges and fees were higher than the previous year due to increased facilities hire following completion of the new rooftop bar in November 2021. 

E. Sales

These were higher than the previous year with the opening of the new rooftop bar in November 2021 and the subsequent opening of the new café and Design Store at
the end of the current financial year.

F. Bequest, Trust and special purpose funds contribution

Additional revenue was generated in the current financial year in this area in comparison to the previous financial year. 

G. Other Revenue

The year end revaluation of shares decreased this year by $2.905m and is now shown under other expenses where in the previous year it increased by $4.745m and
was shown as other revenue. 

H. Assets Transferred

This was due to an initial $225,000 (1st instalment) received for the Public Art Commission Project in the current financial year. 

I. Services received free of charge

There was an additional $450,000 in building maintenance cost services provided to the Agency in the current financial year in comparison to the previous financial 
year.  

J. Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Changes in asset revaluation surplus

The year end revaluation of artworks was higher this year than the previous year.
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8.11.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 557 499 1,377 58 (878)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents    1 23,969 28,314 27,778 (4,345) 536
Inventories 150 247 112 (97) 135
Receivables 150 205 180 (55) 25
Total Current Assets 24,826 29,265 29,447 (4,439) (182)

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                   4,200 4,226 4,206 (26) 20
Amounts receivable for services 8,520 8,520 8,454 - 66
Other non-current assets 7,000 8,765 11,670 (1,765) (2,905)
Property, plant and equipment     2,A 12,968 505 9,966 12,463 (9,461)
Works of art     3,B 330,857 342,615 332,633 (11,758) 9,982
Right-of-use assets - 17 21 (17) (4)
Total Non-Current Assets 363,545 364,648 366,950 (1,103) (2,302)
TOTAL ASSETS 388,371 393,913 396,397 (5,542) (2,484)

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 500 1256 560 (756) 696
Provisions 1,180 1,088 1,234 92 (146)
Other current liabilities 51 - 51 51 (51)
Lease liabilities 5 5 5 - -
Total Current Liabilities 1,736 2,349 1,850 (613) 499

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities - 12 17 (12) (5)
Provisions 300 138 225 162 (87)
Total Non-Current Liabilities 300 150 242 150 (92)
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,036 2,499 2,092 (463) 407
NET ASSETS 386,335 391,414 394,305 (5,079) (2,891)

8.11.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances (continued)
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Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

EQUITY
Contributed equity       4, C 56,922 46,053 56,622 10,869 (10,569)
Reserves       5, D 212,613 220,886 211,385 (8,273) 9,501
Accumulated surplus        6 116,800 124,475 126,298 (7,675) (1,823)
TOTAL EQUITY 386,335 391,414 394,305 (5,079) (2,891)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Equity contribution of $2.1m from the State Government  was not budgeted. Higher than expected dividend income and franking credit funds of $1.485m were received 
on the share investment.

2.Property, plant and equipment

The decrease is due to the transfer of the Elevate rooftop project capital expenditure costs to the building owner upon practical completion.

3.Works of Art

Higher balance is due mainly to revaluation gains of the Artworks not in budget.

4.Contributed equity

This reduced due to the transfer of the capitalised value of $13.187m of the Elevate rooftop project building additions to the Department of Local Government, Sport 
and Cultural Industries who are the owner of the building, offset by a further $2.1m in capital funding received in order to complete the Elevate rooftop project. Both
were not included in the budget estimates. 

5. Reserves

These increased in the current year due to a $9.1m increase in the revaluation of the Works of Art Collection which was not budgeted.

6. Accumulated surplus

The overall accumulated surplus was lower in the estimates in comparison to the actuals due to a lower opening balance included in the estimates at the commencement 
of the 2021-22 financial year than was reflected in the actuals statement of financial position. 

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Property, plant and equipment

8.11.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 557 499 1,377 58 (878)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents    1 23,969 28,314 27,778 (4,345) 536
Inventories 150 247 112 (97) 135
Receivables 150 205 180 (55) 25
Total Current Assets 24,826 29,265 29,447 (4,439) (182)

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                   4,200 4,226 4,206 (26) 20
Amounts receivable for services 8,520 8,520 8,454 - 66
Other non-current assets 7,000 8,765 11,670 (1,765) (2,905)
Property, plant and equipment     2,A 12,968 505 9,966 12,463 (9,461)
Works of art     3,B 330,857 342,615 332,633 (11,758) 9,982
Right-of-use assets - 17 21 (17) (4)
Total Non-Current Assets 363,545 364,648 366,950 (1,103) (2,302)
TOTAL ASSETS 388,371 393,913 396,397 (5,542) (2,484)

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 500 1256 560 (756) 696
Provisions 1,180 1,088 1,234 92 (146)
Other current liabilities 51 - 51 51 (51)
Lease liabilities 5 5 5 - -
Total Current Liabilities 1,736 2,349 1,850 (613) 499

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities - 12 17 (12) (5)
Provisions 300 138 225 162 (87)
Total Non-Current Liabilities 300 150 242 150 (92)
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,036 2,499 2,092 (463) 407
NET ASSETS 386,335 391,414 394,305 (5,079) (2,891)

8.11.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances (continued)



148

The decrease again is due to the transfer of the Elevate project capital expenditure to building owner upon practical completion after additional works were completed
in the first part of the year.

B. Works of Art

The increase is due mainly to acquistions and revaluation gains. 

C. Contributed equity

This reduction is due to the transfer of the capitalised value of $13.187m of the Elevate rooftop project building additions to The Department of Local, Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries who is the owner of the building, offset by a further $2.1m in capital funding received in order to complete the Elevate Rooftop project.

D. Reserves

These increased in the current year due to a $9.1m increase in the revaluation of the Works of Art Collection.

8.11.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Cash Flows

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

EQUITY
Contributed equity       4, C 56,922 46,053 56,622 10,869 (10,569)
Reserves       5, D 212,613 220,886 211,385 (8,273) 9,501
Accumulated surplus        6 116,800 124,475 126,298 (7,675) (1,823)
TOTAL EQUITY 386,335 391,414 394,305 (5,079) (2,891)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Equity contribution of $2.1m from the State Government  was not budgeted. Higher than expected dividend income and franking credit funds of $1.485m were received 
on the share investment.

2.Property, plant and equipment

The decrease is due to the transfer of the Elevate rooftop project capital expenditure costs to the building owner upon practical completion.

3.Works of Art

Higher balance is due mainly to revaluation gains of the Artworks not in budget.

4.Contributed equity

This reduced due to the transfer of the capitalised value of $13.187m of the Elevate rooftop project building additions to the Department of Local Government, Sport 
and Cultural Industries who are the owner of the building, offset by a further $2.1m in capital funding received in order to complete the Elevate rooftop project. Both
were not included in the budget estimates.

5. Reserves

These increased in the current year due to a $9.1m increase in the revaluation of the Works of Art Collection which was not budgeted.

6. Accumulated surplus

The overall accumulated surplus was lower in the estimates in comparison to the actuals due to a lower opening balance included in the estimates at the commencement 
of the 2021-22 financial year than was reflected in the actuals statement of financial position.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Property, plant and equipment

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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The decrease again is due to the transfer of the Elevate project capital expenditure to building owner upon practical completion after additional works were completed
in the first part of the year.

B. Works of Art

The increase is due mainly to acquistions and revaluation gains.

C. Contributed equity

This reduction is due to the transfer of the capitalised value of $13.187m of the Elevate rooftop project building additions to The Department of Local, Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries who is the owner of the building, offset by a further $2.1m in capital funding received in order to complete the Elevate Rooftop project.

D. Reserves

These increased in the current year due to a $9.1m increase in the revaluation of the Works of Art Collection.

8.11.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances

Variance Notes Estimate 2022 Actual 2022 Actual 2021

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2022 and 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 8,392 8,978 8,424 (586) 554
Capital appropriation                  1, A 518 2,618 1,718 (2,100) 900
State grants and subsidies      2,B 550 1,075 521 (525) 554
Net cash provided by State Government 9,460 12,671 10,663 (3,211) 2,008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (5,749) (5,621) (5,195) (128) (426)
Supplies and services                3, C (2,383) (4,123) (2,367) 1,740 (1,756)
Accommodation (2,483) (2,305) (2,554) (178) 249
Grants and subsidies      4 - (343) (315) 343 (28)
GST payments on purchases      5, D (487) (1,044) (1,409) 557 365
Other payments      6 (547) (360) (269) (187) (91)

Receipts 
Sale of goods and services      7, E 567 887 378 (320) 509
User charges and fees          F 210 248 92 (38) 156
Interest received       8 - 119 141 (119) (22)
GST receipts on sales 78 189 118 (111) 71
GST receipts from taxation authority      9, G 409 903 1,264 (494) (361)
Sponsorship        10 772 640 653 132 (13)
Other receipts              11,H 1,107 2,524 2,260 (1,417) 264
Net cash used in operating activities (8,506) (8,286) (7,203) (220) (1,083)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets               12,I (2,000) (4,707) (10,554) 2,707 5,847
Net cash used in investing activities (2,000) (4,707) (10,554) 2,707 5,847
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,046) (322) (7,094) (724) 6,772
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 29,632 33,361 40,455 (3,729) (7,094)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 28,586 33,039 33,361 (4,453) (322)

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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8.11.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances (continued)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1.Capital Appropriation

Additional supplementary equity contribution of $2.1m from the State Government was not in the budget.

2.State Grants and Subsidies

Additional grants and subsidies were received during the year for the Regional Touring Boast project and a first instalment was received for the Public Art Commission 
Project.  

3. Supplies and Services

Higher actual than estimated amounts of $1.7m in 2021-22 were incurred due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate construction 
works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted services 
for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art from the 
Pilbara region which was presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund. 

4.Grants and Subsidies

There was no budget allocated for grants and subsidies of which $343k was actually incurred and paid.  

5.GST payments on purchases

Increased GST on purchases due to expenditure being higher through greater activity within the roof top bar project. 

6.Other payments 

Less than budgeted due to delays in receiving invoices frome some suppliers at the end of the year.   

7.Sale of goods and services

Increase is due to higher revenues for new commercial services than budgeted.

8.Interest recieved

There was no budgeted amount for receipt of interest while $119k was actually received.

9. GST receipts from Taxation authority 

GST receipts from the Taxation authority were higher than budgeted due to there being more sales and increased expenditure during the year. 

10.Sponsorship

Slightly lower in the current year with the impact of COVID protocols making sponsorship harder to attract in some areas.

11.Other receipts

Higher than expected dividend income of $1.485m, a transfer from the Department of Local Government,Sport and Cultural Industries of $525,000 for the Public Art 
Commission Capital project and and additional $300,000 allocation for the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost project.

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022



AGWA Annual Report 2021-22 151

8.11.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances (continued)

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1.Capital Appropriation

Additional supplementary equity contribution of $2.1m from the State Government was not in the budget.

2.State Grants and Subsidies

Additional grants and subsidies were received during the year for the Regional Touring Boast project and a first instalment was received for the Public Art Commission 
Project.

3. Supplies and Services

Higher actual than estimated amounts of $1.7m in 2021-22 were incurred due to expenditure in the re-opening of AGWA following completion of the Elevate construction 
works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities involving contracted services 
for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was incurred with a major exhibition of Aboriginal art from the 
Pilbara region which was presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

4.Grants and Subsidies

There was no budget allocated for grants and subsidies of which $343k was actually incurred and paid.

5.GST payments on purchases

Increased GST on purchases due to expenditure being higher through greater activity within the roof top bar project. 

6.Other payments 

Less than budgeted due to delays in receiving invoices frome some suppliers at the end of the year.   

7.Sale of goods and services

Increase is due to higher revenues for new commercial services than budgeted.

8.Interest recieved

There was no budgeted amount for receipt of interest while $119k was actually received.

9. GST receipts from Taxation authority 

GST receipts from the Taxation authority were higher than budgeted due to there being more sales and increased expenditure during the year. 

10.Sponsorship

Slightly lower in the current year with the impact of COVID protocols making sponsorship harder to attract in some areas.

11.Other receipts

Higher than expected dividend income of $1.485m, a transfer from the Department of Local Government,Sport and Cultural Industries of $525,000 for the Public Art 
Commission Capital project and and additional $300,000 allocation for the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost project.

12.Purchase of non-current assets

Increase due to cost of additional Elevate Project works funded from additional capital supplementary funding. 

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Capital Appropriation

Due to additional capital funding of $2.1m being received in the current year for the Elevate rooftop project of the Main Gallery Building at AGWA.

B. State Grants and Subsidies

Additional grants and subsidies wre received during the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost project and a first instalment was received for the Public Art Commission 
Project.

C. Supplies and Services

Higher 2021-22 actual expenditure of $1.7m was incurred in comparison to the previous year due to expenditure incurred in the re-opening of AGWA following completion 
of the Elevate construction works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities 
involving contracted services for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was also incurred with a major 
exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region which was presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

D. GST Payments on purchases

Reduced GST on purchases due to ongoing expenditure on the Elevate rooftop project tapering off as the project reached practical completion in November 2021. 

E. Sale of goods and services

Sale of goods and services increased significantly with the opening of the new Rooftop Bar  in November 2021 and the new café and the new Design Store towards the 
end of the financial year.

F. User charges and fees

These were higher in the current year due to increases in facilities hire with the addition of the new rooftop facility with the Elevate project.

G. GST receipts from taxation authority

These were lower in the current year with the completion of the Elevate rooftop project in November 2021.

H. Other receipts

Higher dividend income and additional contribution from the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries in the provision of an additional $300,000 
allocation for the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost and $525,000 for the Public Art Commission Capital Project.

I. Purchase of non-current assets

Payments to Department of Finance for the new Rooftop build were less in the current year as most of the Elevate project work was completed in the previous year.

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022
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12.Purchase of non-current assets

Increase due to cost of additional Elevate Project works funded from additional capital supplementary funding.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Capital Appropriation

Due to additional capital funding of $2.1m being received in the current year for the Elevate rooftop project of the Main Gallery Building at AGWA.

B. State Grants and Subsidies

Additional grants and subsidies wre received during the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost project and a first instalment was received for the Public Art Commission 
Project.

C. Supplies and Services

Higher 2021-22 actual expenditure of $1.7m was incurred in comparison to the previous year due to expenditure incurred in the re-opening of AGWA following completion 
of the Elevate construction works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities 
involving contracted services for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was also incurred with a major 
exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region which was presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

D. GST Payments on purchases

Reduced GST on purchases due to ongoing expenditure on the Elevate rooftop project tapering off as the project reached practical completion in November 2021. 

E. Sale of goods and services

Sale of goods and services increased significantly with the opening of the new Rooftop Bar  in November 2021 and the new café and the new Design Store towards the 
end of the financial year.

F. User charges and fees

These were higher in the current year due to increases in facilities hire with the addition of the new rooftop facility with the Elevate project.

G. GST receipts from taxation authority

These were lower in the current year with the completion of the Elevate rooftop project in November 2021.

H. Other receipts

Higher dividend income and additional contribution from the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries in the provision of an additional $300,000 
allocation for the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost and $525,000 for the Public Art Commission Capital Project.

I. Purchase of non-current assets

Payments to Department of Finance for the new Rooftop build were less in the current year as most of the Elevate project work was completed in the previous year.

12.Purchase of non-current assets

Increase due to cost of additional Elevate Project works funded from additional capital supplementary funding.

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

A. Capital Appropriation

Due to additional capital funding of $2.1m being received in the current year for the Elevate rooftop project of the Main Gallery Building at AGWA.

B. State Grants and Subsidies

Additional grants and subsidies wre received during the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost project and a first instalment was received for the Public Art Commission 
Project.

C. Supplies and Services

Higher 2021-22 actual expenditure of $1.7m was incurred in comparison to the previous year due to expenditure incurred in the re-opening of AGWA following completion 
of the Elevate construction works, the development of a new website to accompany the exhibition program and the establishment of the new commercial activities 
involving contracted services for the new rooftop bar and venue hire, the new café and the new Design Store. Additional expenditure was also incurred with a major 
exhibition of Aboriginal art from the Pilbara region which was presented and funded through the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost fund.

D. GST Payments on purchases

Reduced GST on purchases due to ongoing expenditure on the Elevate rooftop project tapering off as the project reached practical completion in November 2021. 

E. Sale of goods and services

Sale of goods and services increased significantly with the opening of the new Rooftop Bar  in November 2021 and the new café and the new Design Store towards the 
end of the financial year.

F. User charges and fees

These were higher in the current year due to increases in facilities hire with the addition of the new rooftop facility with the Elevate project.

G. GST receipts from taxation authority

These were lower in the current year with the completion of the Elevate rooftop project in November 2021.

H. Other receipts

Higher dividend income and additional contribution from the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries in the provision of an additional $300,000 
allocation for the Regional Exhibition Touring Boost and $525,000 for the Public Art Commission Capital Project. 

I. Purchase of non-current assets

Payments to Department of Finance for the new Rooftop build were less in the current year as most of the Elevate project work was completed in the previous year. 

Next page |  Balancing Act, AGWA Installation View, 2021. Mr May (Ngarralja Tommy) Warla, Flat Country, 2021. Brass, aluminium, stone and soil, dimensions variable. 
The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Bequest of Bonice Tollafield. © Ngarralja Tommy May 2021. Photo by Bo Wong.
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Auditor’s Opinion

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 2022
To the Parliament of Western Australia
THE BOARD OF THE ART GALLERY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of The Board of The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia which comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2022, and the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended

• Notes comprising a summary of signi§cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, including administered transactions and balances.

In my opinion, the financial statements are:

• based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating 
results and cash Àows of The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia for the 
year ended 30 June 2022 and the §nancial position at the end of that period

• in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), 
the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. 
My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my report.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements

The Board is responsible for:

• keeping proper accounts

• preparation and fair presentation of the §nancial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions

• such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
§nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for:

• assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

• disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

• using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian 
Government has made policy or funding decisions a¿ecting the continued 
existence of the Board.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the 
override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description 
forms part of my auditor’s report and can be found at 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.

Report on the audit of controls
Opinion 

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and 
implementation of controls exercised by The Board of The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia. The controls exercised by The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia 
are those policies and procedures established to ensure that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring 
of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control 
objectives).

The Board’s responsibilities

The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance 
practitioner is to express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls 
to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of the controls as 
designed. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance 
Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply 
with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed.

 An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about 
the suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the 
implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, 
including an assessment of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or 
implemented as designed. My procedures included testing the implementation of 
those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the overall control objectives.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.

Limitations of controls

Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible 
that, even if the controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once 
in operation, the overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error 
or non-compliance with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected. Any 
projection of the outcome of the evaluation of the suitability of the design of controls to 
future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may become unsuitable because of 
changes in conditions.
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Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance 
indicators of The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia for the year ended 
30 June 2022. The key performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved 
key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency indicators that provide performance 
information about achieving outcomes and delivering services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of The Board of 
The Art Gallery of Western Australia are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess 
the Board’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 
30 June 2022.

The Board’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such internal control as the Board determines necessary to enable 
the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose 
in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.

Auditor General’s responsibilities

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance 
practitioner is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of 
my engagement are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance 
indicators are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance 
and whether the key performance indicators are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements 
ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 

Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 
assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves 
evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators 
against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the 
extent of outcome achievement and the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures 
selected depend on my

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key 
performance indicators. In making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding 
of internal control relevant to the engagement in order to design procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the report on financial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators

I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and the relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. 
In accordance with ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and 
Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other Assurance 
Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of 
quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance 
with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information is the 
information in the entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but not the 
financial statements, key performance indicators and my auditor’s report.
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My opinions on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements and key performance indicators, or my knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not 
receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do 
receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a material misstatement in 
this information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated 
information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue 
an amended report

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators

This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators of The Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia for the year ended 
30 June 2022 included in the annual report on The Board of The Art Gallery of 
Western Australia’s website. The Art Gallery’s management is responsible for the 
integrity of the Art Gallery’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the 
integrity of the Art Gallery’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/
from the annual report. If users of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a 
website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information contained 
in the website version.

Auditor’s Opinion

Patrick Arulsingham
Senior Director Financial Audit

Delegate of the Auditor General 
for Western Australia Perth, 
Western Australia

13 October 2022
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
for the year ended 30 June 2022

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting 
users to assess the Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia's performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 
Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

Janet Holmes à Court AC 
Chairman

Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia

29 September 2022

Michael Bohn
Member

Board of The Art Gallery of Western Australia

29 September 2022
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Key Performance Indicator Information 

The Art Gallery of Western Australia is a statutory authority within the Culture and Arts 
portfolio, and its annual budget and outcome are included in the budget statements 
under the outcome for the Department for of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries (DLGSC). 

The Gallery services contribute within the portfolio framework primarily to the 
Government Goal:

Growing Our Communities: 
Protecting our environment with thriving suburbs and regions 

The Government Desired Outcomes for the Gallery are that:

• Western Australia’s State Art Collection asset is developed, appropriately managed 
and preserved;

• Western Australia’s State Art Collection and works of art on loan are accessible.

The funds allocated to the Gallery to achieve its outcomes in the State Budget 
Statements are allocated under the services identified as:

• Cultural Heritage Management and Conservation, which provides appropriate 
management, development and care of the State’s Art Collection asset under the  
Art Gallery Act 1959; and

• Cultural Heritage Access and Community Engagement and Education, which 
provides access and interpretation of the State Art Collection and works of art on 
loan through art gallery services that encourage community engagement with the 
visual arts in accordance with the Art Gallery Act 1959. 

Key performance indicators have been developed in accordance with Treasurer’s 
Instruction 904 to evaluate the Gallery’s performance in achieving the Government 
Desired Outcome and provide an overview of the critical and material aspects of 
service provision. 
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Preservation

OUTCOME 1: WESTERN AUSTRALIA’S STATE ART COLLECTION ASSET IS DEVELOPED, APPROPRIATELY 
MANAGED AND PRESERVED 

Indicator 1: Percentage of time the collection stored to the required standard
An indicator of the level of preservation is the proportion of time that the storage and display environment is not breached.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 
Actual

2019–20 
Actual

2020–21 
Actual

2021–22 
Actual

2021–22 
Target

Proportion of time that the storage and display environment has not been breached 97% 97% 99% 98% 99%

Explanatory notes

The environment within which artworks are stored and displayed is a principal indicator of the effort being taken to preserve them for future generations. Indicators of the ‘storage 
and display environment’ are temperature and relative humidity. The Gallery uses the generally agreed international standards for temperature of 21ºC ± 2ºC and relative humidity 
of 50% ± 5% as the benchmarks. In calculating the proportion of time that the storage and display environment has not been breached, that is the proportion of time the humidity 
and temperature has been within the accepted standards, the Gallery uses a composite average of the environmental data from the six principal areas housing the State Art 
Collection: The Main Gallery Display, the Centenary Galleries Display, Centenary Galleries Storage, Main Gallery Stores including print room, the Conservation Laboratories and 
the Offsite Store. For 2021–22, the new Conservation Laboratories have been excluded for the period 1/7/21 to 1/12/21 as they were not used for sensitive works and figures for 
the offsite store are not available due to COVID related disruptions.  Averages for the included areas are calculated at 97.65%, 98.92%, 94.96%, 98.37% and 92.84% respectively 
for humidity and 99.92%, 99.77%, 96.66%, 97.62% and 99.82% for temperature. On average the Gallery maintained the storage and display environment within the standards 
for humidity for 96.55% of the time and temperature for 98.76% of the time which produces a combined average of 97.65% of operational hours when the storage and display 
environment was maintained within the standards. This year’s actual is similar to past year actuals and target figures although the 2021-22 target figure of 99% was not achieved, 
due to technical issues with the building climate control plant and data network as well as delays in upgrading the plant for the Conservation Laboratories.

Previous page |  Muscle Beach, 2021. Tim Meakins  AGWA Installation View. 3D printed PLA plastic, expanding foam, cut acrylic, automotive paint, compressed mdf, dimensions variable. © Tim Meakins. Photo by Bo Wong.
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Accessibility

OUTCOME 2: WESTERN AUSTRALIA’S STATE ART COLLECTION AND WORKS OF ART ON LOAN ARE ACCESSIBLE.

Indicator 2.1:  Number of people accessing the collection
An indicator of accessibility is the number of visitors to the Gallery and number of online visitors.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 
Actual

2019–20 
Actual

2020–21 
Actual

2021–22 
Actual

2021–22 
Target

Total number of visitors 272,236 195,350 148,301 172,769 211,000

Total number of online visitors to website 142,115 144,250 136,537 200,803 160,000

Explanatory notes

Visitors are determined by the number of attendances during opening hours and attendances at venue hire functions or functions outside of the Gallery’s standard opening hours. 
The number of Gallery visitors was 135,426, AGWA Rooftop post-5pm visitation was 28,979 and 8,364 people attended functions and events after hours, for a total of 172,769 
attendances.

Unique visits to the website totalled 200,803. 

The total number of in-person and online visitors was 373,572.

The target for 2021–22 reflected an expected re-opening date of October, which was delayed to November 2021 due to COVID-related building issues. It also anticipated an 
earlier return of tourists to WA. COVID-19 hitting Western Australia in February-March 2022 impacted on visitation levels, which began to pick up in April 2022. A mid-year review 
of visitation projected a lower figure, and the Gallery was pleased with the final visitation during a disrupted year. 
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Accessibility 

Indicator 2. 2:  Percentage of visitors satisfied with visit overall
An indicator of the effectiveness of the Gallery in providing for the enjoyment and cultural enrichment of the people of Western Australia is shown by visitor satisfaction 
with Gallery art services.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 
Actual

2019–20 
Actual

2020–21 
Actual

2021–22 
Actual

2021–22 
Target

Percentage of visitors satisfied with visit overall 95% 80% 75% 87% 93%

Explanatory notes

Visitors’ satisfaction with their overall visit is primarily measured by surveying Gallery visitors to determine how satisfied they have been with the displays and programs. 
Satisfaction is measured by a statistically valid survey. The market research consultant has advised that the sample used provides a maximum margin error of +/- 3.62% at the 95% 
confidence interval. The survey data was collected internally and analysed by Culture Counts. 

Satisfaction improved in 2021–22 once the redevelopment works were complete and the gallery spaces fully re-opened. 
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Efficiency indicators

Indicator 1: The average cost of managing the Collection per Gallery object

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 
Actual

2019–20 
Actual

2020–21 
Actual

2021–22 
Actual

2021–22 
Target

Average cost of managing the Collection per Gallery object $50.46 $52.80 $58.45 $60.90 $55.88

Explanatory notes

The average cost relates to the level of resource input to the services provided. This indicator is arrived at using the following formula: 

Total cost of Cultural Heritage Management and Conservation Service
Total number of objects

The total cost of the Cultural Heritage Management and Conservation service was $1,124,279 and the total number of objects in the Collection was 18,461.

The increase in the average cost of managing the Collection per Gallery object services in 2021–22, compared to 2020–21 is mainly due to ongoing offsite storage costs and 
higher security costs.  The actual average cost of managing the collection in 2021–22 was higher than the target for the same reasons. 
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Efficiency indicators 

Indicator 2: The average cost of Gallery services per Gallery access 

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 
Actual

2019–20 
Actual

2020–21 
Actual

2021–22 
Actual

2021–22 
Target

Average cost of Art Gallery services per Gallery access $22.81 $28.40 $35.70 $28.43 $27.44

Explanatory notes

The average cost relates to the level of resource input to the services provided. This indicator is arrived at using the following formula: 

Total cost of Cultural Heritage Access and Community Engagement Service
Total number of accesses

The total cost of the Cultural Heritage Access and Community Engagement service was $10,619,721 and the total number of Gallery accesses was 373,572. The decrease in the 
average cost of art gallery services per Gallery access in 2021–22, compared to 2020–21 was due mainly to an increase in Gallery accesses (2022: 373,572; 2021: 284,838). The 
reason for the increase in the Actual cost per Gallery access in 2021-22 compared to the Target average cost is due to the cost of services increasing. The number of accesses has 
also increased, but at a lower rate, therefore slightly increasing the average cost per access.
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Appendix A – Foundation Members 
(AT 30 JUNE 2022)

Honorary Patron

His Excellency the Honourable
Kim Beazley AC

Governor of Western Australia

Annual Giving 

$50,000 +
John and Linda Bond 

Michela and Adrian Fini OAM

Janet Holmes à Court AC

Dr Michael Martin and Elizabeth Popovski 

Simon Lee Foundation 

Graeme and Lorraine Rowley

$20,000 +
Sheryl Grimwood 

The Spinifex Trust 

Anonymous donors

$10,000 +
Bruce and Charmaine Cameron 

Cardaci Family 

Warwick Hemsley AO 

Darryl and Helen Mack 

The Ungar Family Foundation 

Anonymous donor 

$5,000 +
Humich Family 

Eric and Louise Isaachsen 

Adrienne Marshall 

Stan Perron Charitable Foundation 

Gene Tilbrook and Anne Seghezzi

$2,000 +
Zelinda Bafile

Christina Backus 

Gena Culley 

Megan and Arthur Criddle

The Hon John Day 

Beverley East 

Susanne Finn

The Michele Canci Foundation

Colleen Barbara Mortimer

Rosalind-Ruth Phelps

Bryan and Jan Rodgers

Brian Stewart

Richard Stone 

Nino Tarulli 

Andrew Varano

Wembley Gallery

$1,000 +
Susan Adler

Geoff and Dawn Anderson 

Julie Athanasoff 

Corinne Barton

Peter Bird

Elizabeth Borrello 

Helen Carroll Fairhall and Family 

Beverley Davies

Kevin Della Bosca 

Lisa Fini 

David Fleming and Emma Hanrahan 

Valerie Glover

William Goddard

John R Goodlad and family 

Dr Anne Gray 

Bob Grieve

Mack and Evelyn Hall

Lucinda Hill

Julie Hobbs

Jones Day

Jim and Freda Irenic 

Rob and Janet Kirkby 

Briony and Mark Lee
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Next Collective 

Ellen Barry

Anna-Lucinda Baxter 

Viviana Boyle

Kamilė Burinskaitė 

Nicola Coxon

James P De Leo 

Natasha Di Biase 

Sarah Dixon 

Rina Freiberg

Minali Gamage 

Francesca Gnagnarella 

Alex Hemsley 

Isaac Huggins

Edward Kimani 

Elizabeth Le Breton

Catherine Lindsay

Annabelle Lovegrove 

Phoebe Lovegrove 

Rowan Marshall 

Giulia Oliveri

K Parker

Tegan Patrucco 

Jenny Potts Barr 

Caterina Rowell

Amy Rumble 

Natalie Rumble 

Rebecca Sim

Felicity Sorensen 

Gemma Tually

T Vujic

Joshua J Walters 

Stuart S Walters 

Cornah Willis 

Anonymous donors

$1,000 + continued
Walter Ong and Graeme Marshall 

Massimo and Annelle Perotti 

Raine & Horne Commercial 

Leigh Robinson and Deborah Gellé 

Paula Rogers 

Susan and Don Russell 

Robyn and Peter Scott

Senator Dean Smith

Debbie Thornton

Colin Walker

Terri-ann White 

Marie and Geoff Wotzko 

Anonymous donor
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Bequests Patrons
Donations of $1,000,000 or more

Appendix A – Foundation Members 
(AT 30 JUNE 2022)

Corinne Barton

Peter Bird

Claire Brittain and John McKay

Marilyn Burton

Peter and Benita Dowding

Beverley East

Jennie Fitzhardinge

Bob Grieve

Gerie and Ole Hansen

Michael and Marie Hobbs

Jim and Freda Irenic

Louise and Eric Isaachsen

Mi-Jeong Kim

Adrienne Marshall

Carolyn McCleery

Dr Walter Ong and Graeme Marshall

Rosalind Ruth M. Phelps

Bryan and Jan Rodgers

P and R Scott

Roslyn Seale

Richard Stone

Philip and Margaret Thompson

Gene Tilbrook and Anne Seghezzi

Stuart Walters

IJ and J Williams

Wembley Gallery

Anonymous donors

Brigitte Braun

Margot Bunning and family

Paul Chamberlain

Estate of the late Rachel Mabel Chapman 

The Leah Jane Cohen Bequest

Brett and Angelina Davies

Estate of the late Margaret 
Campbell Dawbarn

The late David Englander

The Estate of Barbara and Margaret Evans 

Ella Fry Foundation

Sheila Ann Fuller

Barbara Harper-Nelson

Graeme A Herps

The Sir Claude Hotchin Art Foundation

The Estate of Margaret Hutchinson

Rob Kosovich

The Linton Currie Trust

Bryan Rodgers

Jan Rodgers

Roslyn Seale

Shirley Stanwix

The late Bonnie Tollafield

Sue and Dr Ian Bernadt 

BHP 

The Leah Jane Cohen Bequest 

Andrew and Nicola Forrest 

Government of Western Australia

Dr Jo Lagerberg and Dr Steve Swift 

National Australia Bank Limited

John Rodgers 

The late Dr Harold Schenberg 

Wesfarmers Limited

Vice Patrons
Donations of $500,000 to $1,000,000

Alcock Family Foundation

Brigitte Braun 

The Sir Claude Hotchin Art Foundation 

Ben and Helen Korman 

The Linton Currie Trust

John McBride

Simon Lee Foundation

The late Dr Rose Toussaint

The late Barbara and the late Albert Tucker

2022 Annual Appeal Supporters
Thank you to the following donors who have generously supported
the acquisition of The charming ladies by Helen Maudsley:
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The late Bonnie Tollafield

Lyn Williams

Benefactors
Donations of $50,000 to $100,000

Agapitos/Wilson Collection

Emily Bartlett

John Brunner

Avril Burn

Sally Burton

Bruce and Charmaine Cameron 

Cardaci Family

Wenling Chen

Helen Cook

Virginia Cuppaidge

Brett and Angelina Davies

Rosanna DeCampo and Farooq Khan

Marco D’Orsogna

Robin and Elizabeth Forbes

Georgiou Group Pty Ltd

Gerard Daniels

Sheryl Grimwood

Appendix A – Foundation Members 
(AT 30 JUNE 2022)

Governors
Donations of $100,000 to $500,000

Richard Bell

Brian Blanchflower

John and Linda Bond

Bob Brighton

Margot Bunning and family

Estate of the late Rachel

Mabel Chapman

Dr David Cooke 

Lorraine Copley

Rick and Carol Crabb

John and Elaine Cruthers

Sam Dickerson

The late James Fairfax AO

Michela and Adrian Fini OAM

Freehills

Friends of The Art Gallery of Western Australia

Sandra Galvin 

Robert and Lesley Girdwood

Gordon Darling Foundation

The late Evelyn and the late Kemp Hall

Warwick Hemsley AO

Janet Holmes à Court AC

The late Dr Tim Jeffery

Rod and Carol Jones

Patricia Juniper

Robert D Keall

Howard Knight

Otto Kunzli

Elizabeth Malone

The late May Marland

Max Pam and the late Jann Marshall 

The late James Mollison AO 

John Nixon

Stan Perron Charitable Trust

John Poynton

The late Clifton Pugh AO

Stuart Ringholt

Graeme and Lorraine Rowley

Timothy Roberts

Spirac Pty Ltd

Kerry Stokes AC

Brett and Pieta Taylor 

The late Sheila and the late Howard Taylor AM

AGWA Foundation Supporters 
(cumulative donations) 

Tony and Sally Howarth

Mandy Juniper

Dr Douglas Kagi

Evan George and Allie Kakulas

Derek Kreckler 

J. Barris and Judith Le Pley

Dr Andrew Lu AM and Dr Geoffrey Lancaster AO

Dr Michael Martin and Elizabeth 

Popovski McCusker Charitable Foundation 

Catriona and Simon Mordant AO

Graeme Morgan

Callum Morton

The Myer Foundation

Susan Norrie

Rio Tinto Limited

Erwin Rohner

Mitchiko Teshima 

Gene Tilbrook

Alan and Marisa Tribe

The Ungar Family Foundation
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Michael Abbott QC

Abdul-Rahman Abdullah

Trish Ainslie and Roger Garwood

Tony Albert

Alder & Partners - Private Wealth Management 

Dario and Susan Amara

Geoff and Dawn Anderson

AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited

Daniel Archer

Neil Archibald

Monique Atlas and Kim Hawkins

Professor Robert Baines

Hamish and Ngaire Beck

Barbara Blackman

Lin Bloomfield 

E.L. (Mick) Bolto

Sue Bolto

Eileen Bond

John and Debbie Borshoff

Craig and Katrina Burton

Busby Family

Olive, Luka and Coco Butcher

Adil Bux

The Michele Canci Foundation

Desi and Marcus Canning

Carcione Family

Tully Carmady and Danielle Davies 

Margrete and Michael Chaney AO

Caroline Christie and Sheldon Coxon 

Nic Christodoulou

Fiona Clarke (In memory of Mrs Jean Clarke)

Susan Clements 

Professor Ian Constable AO

Consulate of Italy, Perth 

The late Syd Corser and Danae Corser 

Megan and Arthur Criddle

Tim Davies Landscaping

The Hon John Day

Deutscher and Hackett

Sandra Di Bartolomeo

Alan R. Dodge

Marisa D’Orsogna

Stephen Eastaugh

Judy and Trevor Eastwood

EY Chartered Accountants

The Everist Family

Ronald Sydney Farris and Joy Elizabeth Farris 

The Feilman Foundation

Susanne Finn

Larry and Peggy Foley

Christine and Winston Foulkes-Taylor

Seva Frangos and John Catlin 

Lyn-Marie Hegarty

Zita Heine and Family

Jim and Freda Irenic

Eric and Louise lsaachsen

Kevin and Jan Jackson 

Fiona Kalaf

Katherine Kalaf

The Leederville Hotel 

Lennon Family Charitable Fund

Christine J Lewis

James Litis and Desi Litis

Darryl Mack and Helen Taylor

Sandy and Michele MacKellar

Siné MacPherson and Gary Dufour 

Robert MacPherson

Michael and Sallie Manford

Lloyd Marchesi

Diane McCusker

Ken and Merran McGregor

Jacqui McPhee

Merenda Gallery 

Dan Mossenson

Brandon and Angela Munro

Dr Fred and Mrs Georgina Nagle

Tony Nathan

Avril S. and Brian J. O’Brien 

Stephen and Corinne Onesti 

Walter Ong and Graeme Marshall

Maurice O’Riordan

Max Pam and Jann Marshall

Benita Panizza and Michael Prichard 

Louise Paramor

Julienne Penny and Family

The Peploe Family

Fellows
Donations of $15,000 to $50,000
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Rosalind-Ruth Phelps

Jamie Price and Gillian Gallagher

Simon Price and Saara Nyman

Dr Bronwyn Rasmussen

Angela Roberts

Leigh Robinson and Deborah Gellé 

Bryan and Jan Rodgers

Sam Rogers

Daniel and Natalie Romano 

Felicity and Tony Ruse

Anthony Russell

Susan and Don Russell

Dr John and Thea Saunders

Linda Savage and Dr Stephen Davis

Anna Schwartz

Jenny and Wyborn Seabrook

Roslyn Seale

Gillian Serisier 

Andrew and Judy Shearwood

Gene and Brian Sherman

The late John and Marie-Louise Simpson 

The Spinifex Trust 

Dr Amanda Stafford

Marlene and Graham Stafford

Shirley Stanwix 

Brian Stewart 

Vivienne Stewart

Richard Stone

Brian Swan

Deborah and Vic Tana

Alexandrea Thompson and Peter Smith

Peter and Jane Thompson 

Professor Philip and Margaret Thompson

Ian and Susan Trahar

Laurie Trettel, Swanline Group

Turner Galleries Art Angels 

Ray van Kempen and Ann Kosonen

Lynnette Voevodin

David Walker

Sam and Leanne Walsh

Mary Ann Wright

Anne Zahalka

Ashley Zimpel
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Susan Adler

Michael and Josephine Ahern

Robyn Ahern

Aisen Family Trust

Albion Foundation

Julian Ambrose

Julie Athanasoff

Christina Backus

Zelinda Bafile

Lisa Baker MLA, Member for Maylands

Shelley Barker

John Barrett-Lennard

Corinne Barton

Dr Bruce Bellinge

R.G. Bennett

David and Suzanne Biddles

Peter Bird

Tracy Blake

Matthew J C Blampey

Peter and Stella Blaxell

Francis L Bolzan

The late Frank and Margaret Bongers

Elizabeth Borrello

Juliet Borshoff

Michael and Rachael Borshoff

Angela Bowman

Keith Bradbury

Rinze and Jenny Brandsma

Claire Brittain and John McKay

Liesl and Alistair Brogan

Margaret Brophy

Philip Brophy

Karen Brown

Peter and Christine Buck

Janet Burchill

Marilyn Burton

Bruce Callow & Associates Pty Ltd

Fraser Campbell

Helen Carroll Fairhall and Family

Joseph Caruso

Emma and Howard Cearns

Frauke Chambers

The Hon Fred Chaney AO and

Mrs Angela Chaney

Jody and Fred Chaney

Charles Nodrum Gallery

Joe Chindarsi and Andrew Patrick

Pasquale Cianfagna and Aneka Manners

Jock Clough

Ian and Rosana Cochrane

Libby Cocks

Professor Catherine Cole

Warren and Linda Coli

Constantine Comino

Silver Crewe Cloud

Susan and the late Michael Croudace

Dr Digby and Susan Cullen

D’Alessandro Family

Dr Ben Darbyshire

Master Andrew Davies

Beverley Davies

Christina and Tim Davies

Dr and Mrs N.J. Davis

Davson+Ward

Jo Dawkins

James P De Leo

Kevin Della Bosca

Camillo and Joanne Della Maddalena

Brahma Dharmananda

The Hon Peter and Mrs Benita Dowding

Diana and Paul Downie

Hilaire Dufour

Hollis Dufour

Meredith Dufour

Sherry Duhe and James Telders

Edwin Eames

Bev East

Peter Eggleston

Dane Etheridge and Brooke Fowles

Enzo and June Evangelista

Peter Evans

Jenny and the late Bill Fairweather

Michael J. Fallon

Elaine Featherby

Evi Ferrier

Lisa Fini

Tony Fini Foundation

Fire & Emergency Services Authority

B and K Fischer 

Members
Donations of $5,000 to $15,000
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David Fleming and Emma Hanrahan

Allan and Lynette Fletcher

Annie and Brett Fogarty

Mark Fraser

Simone Furlong

A. Gaines

Minali Gamage

Leonie and David Garnett

Tarryn Gill and Pilar Mata Dupont

Claude and Claretta Giorgi

Valerie Glover

Francesca Gnagnarella

William Goddard

John R Goodlad and family

Mark Grant

Nicholas Green Greenhill Galleries

Alix and Geoffrey Grice

Karen and William Groves

Guardian Resources (Joshua Pitt)

Lloyd and Jan Guthrey

Mack and Evelyn Hall

Sean Hamilton

John Hanley AM

Dorothea Hansen-Knarhoi

Kathy Hardie

Lynne Hargreaves and Andrew Winkley

Mary Harrison Hill and the late Chris Hill

Tracey Harvey

Annie Hawkins

Ragen Haythorpe

Jane Hegarty

Alex Hemsley

Michael Hoad

Julie Hobbs

Marie and Michael Hobbs

John and Linda Hoedemaker

Anne Holt

Sandy and Peter Honey

Alice Hood

Glen Host and Jill Potter

Julie Hoy

John Hughan

Don and Joan Humphreys

Ricardo Idagi

Larry and Nicola Iffla

Di lngelse and Geoff Paull

Italian Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc

The Italian Cultural Institute of Australia

Fiona Johnson

Stewart and Gillian Johnson

lshbelle Johnstone

Angus and Louise Jones

Ashley and Nina Jones

Gunyulgup Galleries

Jones Day

Joyce Corporation Ltd

Mark and Veronica Jumeaux

Nancy Keegan and Don Voelte

Annie Keeping Hood

Jennie Kennedy

Jeff Kerley

Denis and Valerie Kermode

Mi-Jeong Kim

Edward Kimani

Greg and Nikki King

Rob and Janet Kirkby

Carmen La Cava

Lauder and Howard

Janine Lauder

Elizabeth Le Breton

Ross and Fran Ledger

Briony and Mark Lee

Jody Lennon Rebecca Lennon

Limnios & Johns Pty Ltd

Ben Lisle

Little Creatures Brewing Pty Ltd

Gianluc Lufino

Heather Lyons

Tim and Pep Mack

Michele MacKellar

Bea Maddock

Kaaren and Manisha Malcolm

Lesley Maloney

Bettina Mangan

Jan and Bill Manning

Adrienne Marshall

Rowan Marshall
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Paul and the late Jenny Martin

David and Linda Martino

The late Dr Anthony McCartney and

Jacinta McCartney

Bryant and Tedye McDiven

John McGlue and Sharon Dawson

Amanda McKenna

Kate McMillan

Ian and Jayne Middlemas

Allan Miles

Mrs Jan and Dr Stuart Miller

Geraldine Milner

The late Emeritus Professor John Milton-

Smith and Mrs Carolyn Milton-Smith

Michael and Judy Monaghan

Milton Moon

Tim and Rose Moore

The Moran Family

Charles and Caroline Morgan

Margaret Morison-Leavesley

Geoffrey and Valmae Morris

Jock and Jane Morrison

Colleen Barbara Mortimer

Joanne and Geoff Motteram

Robert and Angie Mule

Nicholas Murfett and Catherine Oliver

Neon Pare

Etsuko Nishi

Robert O'Hare

Norah Ohrt

Giulia Oliveri and Ferdinand Renouard

Lariviere

Tricia and Mike Oosterhof

Helen and Barry Osboine

Ron Packer

Mimi and Willy Packer

Angela Padley

Ian and Catriona Parker

K Parker

Susan Pass

Shane Pavlinovich

Georgina Pearce

Todd and Alisa Pearson

John and Anita Percudani

Leon and Moira Pericles

Massimo and Annelle Perotti

Ersilia Picchi

Bob Poolman

Rosemary Pratt

The Hon C. J. L. Pullin QC and

Mrs S Pullin

Mark and Ingrid Puzey

Raine & Horne Commercial

Marijana Ravlich

Howard and Lindsey Read

Ricciardi Seafood & Coldstores

Joe and Grace Ricciardo

Elizabeth Richards

Ross and Alexandra Robertson

John and Yvonne Roston

Maurice Roussel OAM and Gerry Roussel

Caterina Rowel

Jann Rowley

John Rubino

Sue and Hans Sauer

Sally and Vincenzo Savini

John and Debbie Schaffer

Scoop Publishing

Robyn and Peter Scott

Celia Searle

Annette Seeman

Asher and the late Fraida Shapiro

J & J Shervington

Daniela Simon, SODAA

Patricia Simpson

Cecily Skrudland

Darryl and Heather Smalley

Senator Dean Smith

Helen Smith

Jan Spriggs and Perry Sandow

Kathryn Stafford

Kate and Chris Stannage

Lina Stowe

Paul and Carla Sullivan 

Members - Continued
Donations of $5,000 to $15,000
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The Sullivan Family

Gloria Sutherland

Nino Tarulli

John and Antoinette Tate

Natasha and Ross Taylor

Lisa and Andrew Telford

Rodney and Sandra Thelander

Clare Thompson

Rodney and Penelope Thompson

Debbie Thornton

Jennifer Thornton

Frank Tomasi

Anthony Torresan

John Trettel, Swanline Group

Gemma Tually

Dr Simon and Mrs Alison Turner

Peter Tyndall

Dave and Patty van der Walt

Elizabeth and Max Vinnicombe

Patsy Vizents

Colin Walker

Mark Walker

Joshua James Walters

Stuart Walters

Patti Warashina

Diana and the late Bill Warnock

The late Kevin and Susan Watson

Wembley Gallery

Donna White

Terri-ann White

Ian and Jean Williams

Ron and Sandra Wise

Mark and Sally Woffenden

David Worth

Brigid Woss

Marie and Geoff Wotzko

Yacht Grot

Melvin Yeo

Simon and Gillian Youngleson

Clifford and Gillian Yudelman

Carlos Zerpa

The late Dr Dolph W. Zink AM and Mrs Zink

Anonymous donors
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(FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME STAFF, AS AT 30 JUNE 2022)

Executive
Colin Walker, Director

Clothilde Bullen, Head of Indigenous Engagement and Curator Indigenous Art

Melissa Harpley, Senior Curator, Manager Curatorial Affairs 

Natalie Hewlett, Exhibitions and Projects Manager 

Brian Stewart, Deputy Director

Penny Tassone, Director Marketing and Commercial Development 

Stephen Whitehead, Chief Financial Officer 

Executive Support
Annette Stone, Executive Officer | Board Support

Melanie Tozawa, Admin Support

Curatorial 
Robert Cook, Curator, West Australian and Australian Art post 1970

Isobel Wise, Associate Curator West Australian and Australian Art post 1970

Rachel Ciesla, Lead Creative, Simon Lee Foundation Institute of Contemporary Asian Art 

Zali Morgan, Assistant Curator, Indigenous Art Traineeship 

Bahar Sayed, Curatorial Assistant 

Conservation
Claire Canham, Conservation Assistant 

David Graves, Senior Conservator | Objects and Projects

Michael Huston, Senior Paintings Conservator

Kate Woollett, Senior Paper Conservator 

Trevor Gillies, Framer

Collections and Exhibitions 
Nicola Baker, Collection Stores and Installation Assistant

Adrian Baldsing, Installation Assistant

Emma Bitmead, Digital Asset Management Co-ordinator

James Davies, Manager of Regional Exhibitions and Touring 

Tanja Coleman, Assistant Registrar

Giovanni Di Dio, Installation Team Leader 

Aston Gibbs, Digital Asset Management Database Officer 

Dani Lye, Exhibition Designer

Daniel Mead, Installation Assistant 

Melanie Morgan, Assistant Registrar

Ako Roberts, Installation Assistant 

Judith Savage, Registrar of Collections 

Beau Spall, Installation Assistant

Peter Voak, Exhibition and Display Coordinator 
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Marketing and Commercial Development
Sharyn Beor, Marketing Manager

Lilly Blue, Head of Learning and Creativity Research

Rebecca Anderson, Events Manager 

Claire Bushby, Volunteer and Outreach Coordinator 

Tamara Blom, Shop Assistant 

Luc Felix, Website Services Developer

Sally Mauk, Database Officer

Assunta Meleca, Learning Administration Assistant

Sepsi Munalula, Assistant Events Officer 

Laura Money, Visitor Information Assistant 

Phoebe Mulcahy, Visitor Development Assistant

Ida Sorgiovanni, Retail Manager 

Steven Cummings, Acting Retail Manager

Tanya Sticca, Community Relations Coordinator

David Wingrove, Front Desk Coordinator 

Foundation
Teresa Fantoni, Foundation Manager (part-time job share)

Emma Cornwall, Acting Foundation Manager (job share)

Louella Hayes, Acting Fundraising Manager 

Giorgia Mack, Acting Partnership Manager 

Corporate Services
Michael Hewlett, Acting Gallery Facilities Coordinator 

Katherine Stewart, Human Resources Consultant

Sandra Jovanou, Human Resources Manager 

L. Wong, Financial and Management Accountant 

Belinda Wood, Information Management Officer
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Donations
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ART

Contemporary

MULLER, Alan
Wet dream, 1981
synthetic polymer paint on canvas
Gift of the artist, 2022

AUSTRALIAN ART

Contemporary

BOOTH, Peter
Untitled (No 1211), 1984
pastel and gouache on paper
Gift of John Cruthers through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program, 2022, in memory of Sir James and Lady Sheila Cruthers

BOOTH, Peter
Night, 1986
oil on canvas
Gift of John Cruthers through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program, 2022, in memory of Sir James and
Lady Sheila Cruthers

Historical

BOYD, Arthur
Head in a cup, 1944
watercolour on paper
Gift of John Cruthers through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program, 2022, in memory of Sir James and Lady Sheila Cruthers
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Donations
INTERNATIONAL

Contemporary

STEVENSON, Michael
The free exchange of ideas, 1995
mixed media on paper
Gift of Darren Knight, 2022
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Purchases
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ART

Contemporary

ABDULLAH, Abdul-Rahman
Throneroom, 2021
painted wood
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2021

BAHBAH, Sarah
Emotional, 2021
colour photographic print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

BAHBAH, Sarah
Silence, 2021
colour photographic print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

BAHBAH, Sarah
Bullshit, 2021
colour photographic print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

BELYEA, Merrick
The Bombing of Galatz, 2014
oil on board
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
Sir Claude Hotchin Art Foundation, 2022

CIRONIS, Olga 
Together we were rich, we had shoes, 2013
archival digital print and synthetic polymer paint
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

CIRONIS, Olga 
Thank you for radicalising me, 2020
woollen blankets, tapestry, velvet and cotton thread on repurposed 
domestic fabric
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

TAYLOR, Wade
that explains the sirens, 2021
oil and synthetic polymer paint on wood
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
John and Linda Bond Fund, 2022

TAYLOR, Wade
we know where u live, 2021
oil and synthetic polymer paint on wood
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
John and Linda Bond Fund, 2022

TESCHENDORFF, John
CV Tonsberg saga August 2001, 2013-2014
oil, synthetic polymer paint, graphite on paper
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

Appendix C – Acquisitions
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Purchases

Indigenous

BUTLER, Katjarra 
Ara Katjarraku, 2018
synthetic polymer paint on canvas (16 parts) 
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

MAY, Mr (Ngarralja Tommy)
Warla, Flat Country, 2021
brass, aluminium, stone and soil
Purchased through the Bonice Tollafield Bequest: The Art Gallery of 
Western Australia Foundation, 2022

PEASE, Christopher
Targets, 2020-2021
ink and polymer coating on aluminium and LED lighting
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2021

PEASE, Christopher
Targets, 2020
oil on linen
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

Appendix C – Acquisitions
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Purchases
AUSTRALIAN ART

Contemporary

CAMPBELL, Jon 
The Weight of Manhattan, 1991
synthetic polymer paint, collage on cotton
Purchased, 2022

CAMPBELL, Jon 
Your application was unsuccessful, 2022
synthetic polymer paint on linen 
Purchased, 2022

EDWARDS, Tim
Ellipse #8, 2021
blown and wheel cut glass
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
Tom Malone Prize, 2022 

HERNÁNDEZ, Nadia
Como el sol y toda su energía 
(Like the sun and all its energy), 2020
wool, cotton, linen, oil stick, synthetic polymer paint, flashe, ribbon, 
grommets and rope
Purchased, 2022

HERNÁNDEZ, Nadia
De mantequilla a temperatura ambiente /
Of butter at room temperature, 2021
oil and synthetic polymer paint on cotton 
Purchased, 2022

HERNÁNDEZ, Nadia
Entre otras cosas... es verdad que Rocky se comió 
un ganso, 2022
oil on linen
Purchased, 2022

WALLACE, Anne
In retrospect, 1994
oil on canvas
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

Historical

MAUDSLEY, Helen
The charming ladies, c1956
watercolour and gouache on paper
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation, 
2022

Appendix C – Acquisitions
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Purchases
INTERNATIONAL ART

Contemporary

AL QASIMI, Farah
Gurdwara Nanak Darbar Sahib (Kansas), 2017
archival inkjet print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

AL QASIMI, Farah
Madinat Staircase, 2019
archival inkjet print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

AL QASIMI, Farah
Marwa Braiding Marah’s Hair, 2019
archival inkjet print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

AL QASIMI, Farah
Signature Hookah Lounge, 2019
archival inkjet print
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

WALKER, Lisa
Pendant, 2011
Lego, plastic, cord
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Pussy Riot Necklace, 2013
fabric, stuffing, thread
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Len Lye Pendant, 2014
wood, lacquer, thread
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Necklace, 2018
fabric, thread, stuffing
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Necklace, 2019
fabric, stuffing, thread, paint
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Pendant, 2019
rotary dial phone, iPhone
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Bikini, 2020
fabric, thread, stuffing, paint
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Bracelet, 2020
silver
Purchased, 2021

Appendix C – Acquisitions
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Purchases
INTERNATIONAL ART

Contemporary

WALKER, Lisa
Pendant, 2020
fabric, skateboard, thread, stuffing
Purchased, 2021

WALKER, Lisa
Pendant, 2020
shoe, string
Purchased, 2021

WONG PING
Slow Sex 慢性節, 2013
single channel video animation
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2022

YU JI
Flesh in Stone-Ghost No. 1, 2018
concrete, iron 
Purchased, 2022

Appendix C – Acquisitions

Next page top | Wade Taylor that explains the sirens, 2021. Oil and synthetic polymer paint on wood, 162 x 488 cm (overall) 4 parts 162 x 122 cm (each). The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased 
through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: John and Linda Bond Fund, 2022. Next page bottom | Wade Taylor we know where u live, 2021. Oil and synthetic polymer paint on wood, 162 x 488 cm (overall) 4 parts 
162 x 122 cm (each). The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: John and Linda Bond Fund, 2022.
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Estimate Estimate
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (CONT)
Service appropriations 8,392 Receipts
Capital appropriation 518 Receipts into trust fund 0
Holding account drawdowns 0 Sale of goods and services 567
Royalties for Regions Fund 0 User charges and fees 210
Interest revenue 140 Regulatory fees and fines 0
State grants and subsidies 550 Grants and subsidies 0
Other 0 Commonwealth grants and contributions 150
Net Cash provided by State Government 9,600 Interest received 0

Sponsorship 772

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Bequest trust and special purpose funds contributions 124

Payments GST receipts 78
Payment from trust fund 0 GST receipts from taxation authority 409
Employee benefits (5,749) Other receipts 833

Supplies and services (2,383) Net cash from Operating Activities (8,506)
Accommodation (2,483)
Grants and subsidies 0 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
GST payments on purchases (487) Purchase of non-current assets (2,000)

GST payments to tax authority 0 Net Cash from investing activities (2,000)
Finance and interest costs 0
Other payments (547) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings and leases 0
Net Cash from financing activities 0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD (906)

Cash assets at the beginning of the reporting period 29,632

Cash assets at the end of the reporting period 28,726

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR PERIOD ENDING 30 JUNE 2022

Appendix D – Section 40 Estimates for 2022–23
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Front Cover Inside Front Cover

Christopher Pease Targets, 2020-2021 (detail). Ink and polymer 
coating on aluminium and LED lighting, fifty six panels: 483 x 3471 
cm. The State Art Gallery, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. 
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2021. © Christopher Pease, represented by 
Gallerysmith. (Foreground) Henry Moore Bildgießerei Hermann 
Reclining figure, 1956. Bronze, 97 x 245 x 102.3 cm. The State Art 
Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased 1963. 
© Henry Moore. Licensed by Copyright Agency.

Katjarra Butler Ara Katjarraku, 2018 (detail). Synthetic 
polymer paint on canvas sixteen parts: 121.9 x 91.4 cm 
(each). The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western 
Australia Foundation: TomorrowFund, 2022. © Katjarra 
Butler.

Page 52 Page 100

Frederick Garling  Swan River - View from Fraser's Point, 1827. 
Watercolour and pencil on paper, 23.5 x 33 cm (sheet).The State Art 
Collection, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. Purchased, 1957.

Christopher Pease Targets, 2020-2021 (detail). Ink and polymer 
coating on aluminium and LED lighting, fifty six panels: 483 x 3471 
cm. The State Art Gallery, The Art Gallery of Western Australia. 
Purchased through The Art Gallery of Western Australia Foundation: 
TomorrowFund, 2021. © Christopher Pease, represented by 
Gallerysmith.

Ms N. Yunupingu Yolngu Retjangura (People in the Jungle), 
2014. Felt tip pen, earth pigment, PVA glue on discarded 
print proofs. 304 x 1120 cm (overall) 76 x 56 cm (each, 80 
individual pieces). The State Art Collection, The Art Gallery 
of Western Australia. Purchased through The Art Gallery of 
Western Australia Foundation TomorrowFund with funds 
donated by: Susan Adler, Elizabeth Borrello, Helen Carroll 
Fairhall, Susan Cullen, Susanne Finn, Kathleen Hardie, Anne 
Holt, Christina Langoulant, Linda Savage, Clare Thompson, 
Gillian Yudelman. © Mrs N. Yunupingu.

All artworks © the artists

Appendix E – Credits and Captions




